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CORPORATE PROFILE
AT

ABOUT RADIANCE AR &HE :

Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited (stock code: 9993.HK) is a  &HEZERR (EE) BRAE BREMRE : 9993.HK) B— K Z2E
reputable large property developer with national presence, regional focus and ~ fifg - B R E T ELESE 252 R M ERE S
leading positions in select cities, and we focus on providing quality residential HARABNBEEAEANESHBERERMEBENGEE
properties to first-time homebuyers and first-time upgraders. With over 27 ¥ ¥ o BEB2/EME SR RPACBEEFEEEZETE/\ KX
years' experience, we have expanded our operations into eight regions with K HEZEREABEARYNELT  SEE=ZA - BHE - FE &
strong growth potential in China, namely, the Yangtze River Delta, the Bohai ~ Ej~#ER~FEH AR &AL

Economic Rim, Shenzhen/Huizhou, Southeastern China, Eastern China, Central

China, Southwestern China and Northwestern China.

In terms of comprehensive strengths, we were ranked as one of “China’s Top R4S B 5t HFABE2014FREEZ10FEETREHE W
50 Real Estate Developers’ ("HH B B2 3 2 (b 247 5 B15058") by the ChinaReal &Kk ELEZEERMEMERTEREMERNFTH LTS H
Estate Association (FEIEMEHE) and the China Real Estate Appraisal BEEMEREL4ESHS0R] ; LEE2023EME FHAT
Center of Shanghai E-house China Research Institute (E/8ZBEEMEN SEEI5235815858

ZEhE) for ten consecutive years since 2014 and was named “2023 Top 23

Comprehensive Strength of Real Estate Listed Companies”.

COMPANY MISSION EEE
Build properties with craftsmanship and make homes better. BALBEE BREEI-
CORPORATE VALUES O EER

Customer-first, the pursuit of excellence, win-win cooperation, pragmaticand ZBAE— BREM \FEEFR BEEE - BHHE
responsible, positive-thinking and integrity

CORPORATE VISION TEES

We endeavour to pursue better products and services and aim to become a  BRBIFMER&KIRT > A EENREEST L
trusted partner in quality benchmarking
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Ting Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Yu

Mr. Huang Junquan

Mr. Xu Xiaodong
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Mr. Zhang Huagiao
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
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Mr. Zhang Huagiao
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Huagiao (Chairman)
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CORPQRATE INFORMATION
AEEM,

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

42/F, Radiance Plaza
Qiyang Road
Wangjing
Chaoyang District
Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 6709, 67/F

The Center

99 Queen'’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Third Floor, Century Yard,

Cricket Square P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman

KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Agricultural Bank of China

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Bank of China

China Construction Bank

China Minsheng Bank

China Merchants Bank

China Everbright Bank

China Guangfa Bank

Industrial Bank

WEBSITE

http://www.radiance.com.cn

STOCK CODE

9993
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MAJOR EVENTS OF RADIANCE

MAJOR EVENTS OF RADIANCE
February 2023

On 24 February, Radiance Group was recognized as one of the Top 100 Hong
Kong Listed Companies for its excellence in five metrics, including revenue,
capitalization, net profit after tax, return on equity and total return, in the
Hong Kong Listed Companies Development Summit Forum 2022 cum the
10th Top 100 Hong Kong Listed Companies Award Ceremony held at the
Island Shangri-La Hotel. Radiance Group was also awarded the Most Powerful
Growth Award for New Stocks in the Top 100 Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

March 2023

On 16 March, the 2023 China Top 100 Real Estate Developer Research Results
Conference cum the 20th China's Top 100 Real Estate Entrepreneurs’ Summit
made its mark in Beijing.

With its outstanding performance for the year, Radiance Holdings (Group)
Company Limited ranked 37th in the China Top 100 Real Estate Enterprises
2023 and was named as one of the Top 10 Real Estate Companies in Excellent
Delivery 2023, becoming a double real estate enterprise.

On 23 March, Radiance Holdings ranked among the Top 50 for 12 years in a
row and was named one of the Top 10 Real Estate Companies in Operating
Performance 2023 in the Top 500 Real Estate Development Enterprises —
Comprehensive Strength 2023 co-sponsored by China Real Estate Association
and Shanghai E-House China Research Institute.

May 2023

On 20 May, Radiance Group's community IP "Spectrum Community" made
its debut. Taking growth, parent-child, elderly, neighborhood, love, sports,
and public welfare as the seven metrics of community and family life, it not
only provides a link to connect community and family, but also a multi-
dimensional lifestyle and content production platform stemming from more
than 20 years of research in contemporary family and population. With its
commitment to make more fascinating things possible, Radiance Group thus
since opened up a more diversified "spectrum"” for the community.

On 30 May, Radiance Holdings (9993.HK) was named as one of the Top 23 Real
Estate Listed Companies in Comprehensive Strength in the 2023 China Top
70 Overall Strength of Real Estate Listed Companies jointly released by the
China Real Estate Association and Shanghai E-House China Research Institute
by virtue of its high-quality and steady development, as one of the central
powers of China's listed real estate enterprises.

EHEKRET

EEAET

2023%F2H

28248 (B BB HAIFEE) 2025 B LHATHRE
BlEHEEE+E ERI00%R B EINEEEEREN
KEERERT SBERRES ¥ EHE REEF
H P EERGERECBERLEHE FRBES ER
ITHERE AEE+E AR 10038158 > I B TR AL B B 1
E#AE o

202343H
38168 203FEHERMET R ERERBEHEBEE
HETERMETROERIE ST RIER BT

TEEBRRNERASGHEFTEEIRE BT 2023
FEHERRERE > FrRHE37(l RET 2023 T HBEFEE
T8 A ERE !

3238 HPEEMEERE  LESEEMEMT R
B EHHH2023E MM EMBEXEFESE NS00 B HT > ©HE
NGBS+ — FEMERATOPS0 > M T 20235 i 2 B 8% b 48
EAETOP10 ] ©

20234F5H

SH208 > SIBEE LM T EELBIP LEHE BAE -
BT BE BB AT BH AREAHBRRELE
M7 AMBEREE CRES—EBETBRENDS
FE—EER R EERRERAREAMENSE
HEES NSNS RN RENYESEL 2T
B S IBEM I RS AR BT S R= o

SA30E FEEMEEXRE  LEZEEMEMT B

BEMI0B3TPEAEME LHARGEENE » SIBIER
(9993.HK) BREESEHENERERE KE 2023 EHFME

EHRABGEENSE23% RATR LELTELCPFRNE-
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MAJOR EVENTS OF RADIANCE
EIEXRREC

June 2023

On 7 June, Radiance Holdings was recognized again as a High Quality
Enterprise with Comprehensive Robust Development at the 20th (2023) Blue
Chip Annual Meeting sponsored by the Economic Observer.com.cn held in
Beijing, by virtue of its high-quality and stable development.

July 2023

Radiance Group created an architectural-friendly design and went out for
diversified property development with its insights into customer needs, both
from the perspective of the city and owners, bringing buyers with better
homes, the Radiance way. Issued the declaration of "Ideal Home" to promote
urban advancement and better life.

September 2023

Since 2023, our brand name as a real estate powerhouse has been far-
reaching. From implementation of R&D, design, construction, community
space to delivery procedures across the entire development chain, our
strategy has brought to life our brand with its unique quality of product,
delivery and services.

On 21 September, Radiance Group ranked among the TOP29 Real Estate
Development Enterprise — Brand Value 2023 in the Research and Evaluation
on Brand Value of Real Estate Enterprises 2023 conducted with the guidance
of China Real Estate Association and hosted by Shanghai E-House China
Research Institute. Results of the evaluation on the value of human capital
jointly completed by China Real Estate Association and the Human Capital
Value Evaluation Center of Cricchina.com were officially released. Radiance
Group ranked the 17th among the TOP50 Human Capital Value of Chinese
Real Estate Enterprises 2023. In addition, Radiance Group was awarded the
China Real Estate Enterprises 30 Best Employers 2023 five years in a row due
to the provision of development platform for employees.

On 25 September, Radiance Group was named as an Annual Valuable Real
Estate Listed Company at the 13th China Value Real Estate Annual Meeting in
2023 sponsored by National Business News. Upholding the stable and high-
quality development concept, we continued to create quality and value from
the dual dimensions of capital market and consumer products.

December 2023

In December 2023, Radiance Group was named among the TOP 30 in the list
of TOP100 Chinese Real Estate Companies in Product Strength unveiled by
Yi Han Zhi Ku. The evaluation benchmark of this product power list lies not
only within the traditional product design level, but also around the industrial
low-carbon, product system, market branding and beyond. Radiance Group
stands out with the excellent quality of its product, a reflection of the trust
and recognition of its refined pieces of product that go far beyond the
expectations of home buyers.

2023 F 3R

2023568

6A7H  HSEERB) FWNIE _+EQO)EEFT
HERBRERT cEEIREESEHSBRYE  FESD
o BEIGREEREEEEDE B

2023%F7H

SHBEBARERRER UNTRALTIEERA 8L
FRARE STUEER SReBREFR - BHE
BRSSO ABETESEEREE.

202349H

0BELR BHELHRBHKTERE -SBEERNS
B N EHARR BERT AR RS
PEREHE BERN IO -REAEARBHES
jjo

IRVIH HTERMEXRTIELE . LEZERMEMRE
FRERFHEN2023EMECEREEERTMERMES
SEREBMBES2023F EMER R X REEETOP29 A
BEEMEEGE - TmmANERBEYFHLEELRE
SERMANBARBEDTIRREREE M 20230 EEME
TEANEABETOPSH SIEERSEH 171l BF
STHREBERBRIBAETRERETES  2E2023FmEEH
ErERERI0-LNER ESEEREERLFEERH
hEEMELCERERIE RE-

9B25sATER(ERLEHE) EMEN2023F + =BT HREBE
MWEEG L SEEBRRE203 EEBEMELH AT
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mEHE FETEREEE.

20235128
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B BEELETOP 30- EMERNIEETEEE R~k
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TEREES TIEBEE SREAUAEEREHRE
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2023 Notes”
M2023Z )

2024 AGM"
MOAFREBFEARG
"2024 Notes”
1202484

"ABS”

B EKIRE S
"Articles”

FEF2 48

"ASP”
EZSELT

“Board”

==

“BVI”
REEYES]

“China”" or "PRC"
TFRE

“Company” or “our Company” or
“Radiance” or “Radiance Holdings”

TERB R BT

"

“Controlling Shareholder(s)

MR AR R

"CG Code”
rbzEBFAD

“Deed of Non-competition”
IR HF 2T

“Directors”

g%

GLOSSARY AND DEFINITION
ARk ER

the 8.8% senior notes due September 2023 in the aggregate principal amount of US$250 million
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and issued by Radiance Capital
EIBE AR EEITH 2023998 I #A A & A8 2E 43250,000,0003% T B8 8% 18 St =45 » W HH7 N3
BARXBARAB LT

the annual general meeting of the Company to be convened and held on 31 May 2024

KABR2024F B3 HERERITHRERAFEAY

the 7.8% senior notes due March 2024 in the aggregate principal amount of US$300 million
listed on the Stock Exchange and issued by the Company

ANA B EEITH202453 B B HA AN £ 48 28 45300,000,00055 75 H97.8% B ST T 4% » W0 OB R PR b
Izl

asset-backed securities

BEERPES

the second amended and restated articles of association of the Company adopted on 18 May
2023
RABR2023F5F18ARMAIE —HRETMERM A S SR AR

average selling price

TIEE

the board of Directors
59

the British Virgin Islands
B ) kel

the People’s Republic of China
FREARHEM

Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited (&M (55E) BRAR), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability

TBER (K@) ARAR —HERSESEMMINEREEIRAR

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and, unless the context requires
otherwise, collectively refers to Mr. Lam, Ms. Lam, Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine
BELTRAUBTZANEE RIEXESEME SARAMELE ML SEERE
1% LA R B I B9 472 78

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules in force during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (i.e. the new Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules with effect from 31
December 2023)

EWRAIR2023F 12831 B EFEMAEMNM SR+ (BN E2023F 12831 BEMH £
MARAIMERC1) P& R EEATRI

the deed of non-competition dated 13 October 2020 entered into by the Controlling
Shareholders with and in favor of the Company, further information of which is set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”in the Prospectus
ERRREARRNBMILEUAAT AZm A HEIZA2020F108 138 B R 55 F 2%
FIEENIERERETEIER KRR G —E

director(s) of the Company

FABESR
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GLOSSARY AND DEFINITION

Ll g £

"GFA"
MR RERA

“Glowing Shine”

TERHE

“Group,”"our Group,"“we,"“our” or “us”

SR Al

"Hong Kong dollars” or "HKS"
7Tl

"

“Independent Third Party(ies)

“Listing”
=l
“Listing Date”
rEm B

“Listing Rules”
FEm#RR

“Model Code”

“Mr. Lam”

TSR 4

“Ms. Lam”

7 ol

"Over-allotment Option”

MEBRARCAR 1)

“Prospectus”

MARER)

SIRHERG (M) BIRAT  2023FF$K

gross floor area

BEREE

Glowing Shine Limited (Ei¥&AEBRAE]), a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability, which is wholly owned by Radiance Group Holdings, and is one of the Controlling
Shareholders

BIEERAE —HAEBRELHSEMMUINERAT AeBERZEREEHRS
WRIERBER L —

the Company and its subsidiaries

FABRENBAT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEERETEEAET

an individual(s) or company(ies) who or which is/are to the best of our Director’s knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, is/are not our connected persons
as defined under the Listing Rules

BEELMFH UG ETHEMEN BEREG WIFERMNEEAL (EER L™
FHA)WALTHAR

the listing of the Shares on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 29 October 2020
BB 1220208108298 TRk 2 PR =R £ 7

29 October 2020, the date on which dealings in the Shares on the Stock Exchange first
commence

20205108298 R B XRNREFMEEEH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

ERMOGRZARAREF TR

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules in force during the year ended 31 December 2023 (i.e. the new Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules with effect from 31 December 2023)

LEHRER2023F 12831 B EFEMNAEMNMNE 1 (BPE2023F 12831 BERN £H
RAUMTERC3) PTEAY E BT ABE B ETHE S XS NIEEFR

Mr. Lam Ting Keung (#RTE3®), an executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders
MEREL BREMNATESRERRKRZ—

Ms. Lam Fung Ying (#k[BLZ%) , the spouse of Mr. Lam and one of the Controlling Shareholders
MBEZ L AMEENEBRERKRRSZ —

the option which had been exercised on 25 November 2020 by the Joint Global Coordinators
(for themselves on behalf of the International Underwriters) in respect of an aggregate
of 45,227,000 Over-allotment Shares, under the International Underwriting Agreement as
described in Prospectus

BE2KBEAAN (BEAIRARBRCHED) REBRERMANEKRSH B ER
2020511825 H i & +£45,227,0008% EB EB FC B2 BR 19 1T B AV B RS A2

the prospectus of the Company dated 16 October 2020 being issued in connection with the
Listing
AT LT & H A A20208 108 16H B R ERZ



“Radiance Capital”

I EIEE AR

“Radiance Group”

g5 M)

“Radiance Group Holdings'

M HE 5 AR

“Register of Members”

TRG R $4 )

“Renminbi” or "RMB"
TAER

"SFO”
58 5 R B G156

“Share(s)”
TR

“Share Option Scheme”
TR RESTEI)

“Shareholder(s)"
TREER]

"squm”
T 5K
“Stock Exchange”
TB# 3T PAT

USSTUSD" or *S”
S

"

GLOSSARY AND DEFINITION
AEKRER

Radiance Capital Investments Limited (E1E&EAKEBRAE), a company incorporated in
the BVI and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
TIREAKREERAR —HAEABERRHERNUNAE UARATZEEELE
W 8 A B)

Radiance Group Co, Ltd. (BEEBERHBBERAE), a company incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China and an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
TIREERDERAD —HAEFPERINERAD  UARABZEZEFEL2EWE LR
S|

Radiance Group Holdings Limited (18 EIERARAE), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability which is owned as to 64.97% by
Mr. Lam and 35.03% by Ms. Lam, and one of the Controlling Shareholders
TREEZERERAR —HETHEHEAMALNEREERAT > DRHMEER
ML T B 64.97%K35.03% > 1t B TR 2 —

the register of members of the Company

FABBRRELM

the lawful currency of the PRC
REDEE S

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BREOENERS MBEESG

ordinary share(s) in the capital of the Company with the nominal value of HK$0.01 each

RABRAFEGRE(EOETAEER

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 5 October 2020
AR THR20205F 1085 B RNV BB RS RE 5T 21

holder(s) of the Shares
[SELEST=DN

square meter(s)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMEXZFMARAE

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EEDEER®ET

Annual Report 2023 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREBE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

| am pleased to present to all Shareholders the annual results and business
review for the year ended 31 December 2023 as well as the prospects for 2024
of the Company.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's revenue was RMB34,248.7
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 3.0% as compared to
the corresponding period of last year. Gross profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to RMB2,528.7 million, representing a year-on-
year decrease of approximately 51.2% as compared to 2022. Loss attributable
to the owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB581.2 million.

MARKET AND POLICY REVIEW

In 2023, the real estate market in China showed a year-on-year downward
trend in terms of investment and sales. In 2023, the investment in real estate
development across China was RMB1.11 billion, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 9.6%, of which the investment in residential properties was
RMB840 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 9.3%. The floor area
sold of commodity properties nationwide was 1.12 billion sq.m., representing
a year-on-year decrease of 8.5%, of which the floor area sold of residential
properties decreased by 8.2% year-on-year. The sales of commodity properties
nationwide were RMB11.7 trillion, down by 6.5% year-on-year, of which the
sales of residential properties fell 6.0% year-on-year.

With the current market environment, in order to cope with changes in supply
and demand, the central government of the PRC continued to relax its control
policies on the real estate market. Second-and third-tier cities and below
gradually moved towards a full lifting of purchase restriction policies while
first-tier cities also partially relaxed their corresponding policies. Meanwhile,
mortgage policies were also adjusted to support people’s’ reasonable needs
for self-occupancy and reduce home purchase costs, including lowering
mortgage interest rates and increasing loan limits of the provident fund.

In 2023, the central government of the PRC proposed the “Three Major
Projects” for the first time, making important arrangements for affordable
housing, urban village renovation and infrastructure construction. This policy
trend not only emphasized the essential position of the real estate market in
the national economy but also increased the capital investment by diverting
social capital into the sector, thereby forming a diversified investment pattern.

In general, in the face of the prevailing real estate market, the central
government adopted active and effective response measures, which not only
stabilized market expectations but also promoted the transformation and
upgrading of the market. The implementation of these measures provided a
strong guarantee for the stable and healthy development of the real estate
market.

2023 F 3R

SHNEMRR :

RAMAASAURRIEE SEEREE2023F1283181E
FEZ2FEG EHBOIEE04FRE

EEXER

HE2023F12B31HEFE AEBEXERAARKE
34248 7E BT BEAER R TH3.0%; EFBARKE
25287E B BREAFR B TEAS1.2%; B E20234F
NANBLEFEARTHRBEAELEEAARES12BE

T ©

T 15 B B 3R [B]

023 FE2HRMETBERE HESEHFEAHEREELL
TRENEBE 20235 2EBEMERZERE N IET B
TB%9.6% > HREERESAMEIT BILETFE.3%  2E /M G
EHEEmBII2ET A K B THESs% HhEEHER
BRI TR 2% -2EEmEHEREN 7B {E T BIL TR
6.5% > E A HE R LT [%6.0% ©

FEAMNTHRERET AT R HREAEREENE(E $
REBRREHEDTSHEZEER  _ZB AU THHTER
iﬁr‘]%@iﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’—,\?iﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂjfﬁ%ﬁﬁ
BRE-FAR FERRNBITHEE BEEXFERGER
TR BEEREEMRA ’T%MTR%QT@UI\?EE”F%
BEMBEES-

203F  RRERIZALRE) ’%ﬁ'—ﬁﬁ’lﬁi%\iﬁiqﬂﬁ&
B ERREER=ZTEMEEE —BERERT
T%%ﬁa%l?%ﬂﬂél"ﬁ%?‘!%%ﬁﬂqﬂﬂ’]%gﬂﬂﬁ’IEB%DW(
TEERASIEHEELABEAR  ERSTENRE
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Committed to Building Perfect Home for Satisfactory
Delivery

In 2023, the Company completed the delivery of more than 40,000 units in
72 batches in 27 cities across the country, bringing owners the long-awaited
new homes. Since the establishment of the delivery mechanism featuring the
“Standardization System for Assessing the Home’, the Company’s stringent
standards have been implemented throughout the entire process of project
sales-construction-delivery and deeply planted in the development cycle of
homes, serving as the most essential guideline for project execution, quality
control and service capabilities. All these aimed at creating beautiful future
homes that can be “standardised and assessed” by customers.

Forge Ahead by Overcoming Difficulties

Given the current market environment, the Group pursued a strategy of
steady progress by strictly adhering to its financial discipline, maintaining
reasonable liquidity, lowering leverage levels and optimizing the capital
structure. As of 31 December 2023, the Group's outstanding debts was
RMB29,428.4 million, representing a decrease of 22.2% from RMB37,815.8
million as of 31 December 2022. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the weighted average cost of debts of the Group was 5.99%, slightly lower
than that of 6.22% for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Prospects for 2024

Looking forward to the development of the real estate market in 2024, in
terms of financial policies, given the implementation of the white list system
and the introduction of the “three no less than” assessment indicators, it
reflects the central bank and major banks' positive attitude of strengthening
the financial support for the real estate market, which will help Increase
market liquidity, reduce financing costs for real estate companies and
stimulate demand from individual home buyers. In terms of regulatory
policies, first-tier cities and second-tier cities with promising potential still
have certain room for optimization, namely household registration policies
and life spans of social security.

However, it should be noted that although the policy environment is
conducive to the stable development of the real estate market in general,
certain challenges and risks are still threatening the market. The Group
will continue to maintain a steady development strategy, take ‘guaranteed
delivery” as its bottom line, fulfill its corporate responsibilities, achieve high-
quality development and provide a better living environment for home
buyers.

All'in all, as the policy signal for the real estate sector turns more positive,
we believe that the sector is expected to become stabilized gradually, thus
realizing its role as a key industry capable of stabilizing the momentum
for investment growth and ushering in promising prospects for business
development in the future.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
FERS

Appreciation

On behalf of members of the Board, | would like to express the most sincere
appreciation to all the Shareholders, investors, business partners and
customers of the Group for their supports to, and trust in, the Company, and
all members of the management team and all employees for their dedication
and hard work in the preceding year. In the future, the Group will continue
to maintain a stable, balanced and high-quality corporate development
prospects, and adhere to the philosophy of “Building Properties with
Craftsmanship and Make Better Homes" to facilitate urban development, help
people live a better life, bring better products and services to the industry and
users and create higher value for shareholders and investors.

Lam Ting Keung
Chairman

12 &m@ER EE) BRAS  2023F458R

g

F AANEAREZTERC RAEERERR -RE
EBEBHREREARBANIENEE 2REER
BHeREETEBE—FNEHMHEAZ > REHE
R o R AEBMBEERSRE - TH SENDLHE
R UTAORER BREXFIES BIEHTHE
BBHDARERFER RTENBRHRELFNEMM
RS AR EEREEFREME-.

Eg
MER



PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
REME

As of 31 December
#H#=E128318

Highlights of financial information

Recognised revenue (RMB'000)

Gross profit (RMB'000)

(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of
the Company

Gross profit margin (%)

Net profit margin (%)

(Loss)/earnings per Share (basic and diluted)
(RMB cents)

Total assets (RMB'000)

Total indebtedness (RMB'000) @

Net indebtedness (RMB'000) @

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
company (RMB'000)

Current ratio (times) @

Weighted average cost of indebtedness (%) @

Net gearing ratio (%) ©

Liability asset ratio after excluding receipts in
advance (%) ©

MBEREE

2EBRA ARETD

EF (ARETT

EABER ARG (58 /FH

EFE%)

(%)

S8k (B18) /B BEEREH)
ON=E-50)

BEHRE ARETT)

BB E (ARET T

FEEREAREBTT)

BABHEAE ANELERZ ARETT)

TELE ()
PR S5 AR A 06)
BEEER

ZIFRTRURIR R BV E E B R E %)

34,248,685
2,528,708

(581,248)
7.38%
-1.27%

(14)
129,777,988
29,428,437
22,355,517

23,952,919
1.3

5.99%
62.19%

60.98%
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35,318,003
5,179,484

1,705,026
14.70%
5.90%

42
161,675,553
37,815,752
25,496,222

24,534,167
13

6.22%
71.70%

65.20%
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
REMWME

Notes:

1. Total indebtedness represents total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, proceeds from asset-backed securities, corporate banks and
senior notes.

2. Net indebtedness is calculated by total borrowings (including current and
long-term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, current and long-
term proceeds from asset-backed securities, current and long-term senior
notes as well as current and long-term corporate bonds) minus cash and bank
balances (including restricted cash, pledged deposits as well as cash and cash
equivalents).

3. Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total
current liabilities as of the respective dates.

4. Weighted average cost of indebtedness represents the weighted average of
interest costs of all outstanding indebtedness.

5. Net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings (including current
and long-term interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, current and long-
term proceeds from asset-backed securities, current and long-term senior
notes as well as current and long-term corporate bonds) minus cash and bank
balances (including restricted cash, pledged deposits as well as cash and cash
equivalents) by total equity.

6. Liability asset ratio after excluding receipts in advance is calculated by

dividing total liabilities minus contract liabilities by total assets minus
contract liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND SALES

We focus on suitable locations in selected cities in eight major regions
of Yangtze River Delta, the Bohai Economic Rim, Southeastern China,
Eastern China, Central China, Southwestern China, Northwestern China and
Shenzhen/Huizhou. The table below sets forth our revenue generated from
each region, total GFA delivered in each region and the respective recognised
ASP per sq.m. for each region for the periods indicated:

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI

MERBERIHE

RABEEINR=A -RHE N ER -EDP AR AL
BRRBNREHEEMTHEEME - FRET PR
BEMEEENWRA SHEERVERERBEUREHE
ZENENCHEIESTHRKNTHER:

Year ended 31 December

HE12AHIEEE

2023 2022

2023 20224
GFA Recognised GFA  Recognised
Revenue Delivered ASP Revenue Delivered ASP
BRft B BRAT BHER
WA EEERE THERE WA BEEE THEE
RMB'000 sq.m. RMB/sq.m. RMB'000 % sgm.  RMB/sqm
AE¥T/ ARER/
AEBTR AR THR NS % EHAK THR
Yangtze River Delta £E=A 9,094,232 26.9 481,558 18,885 8,408,202 24.1 439914 19,113
Northwestern China [ipln 5,767,467 17.0 368,772 15,640 5,560,144 15.9 361,056 15,400
Southwestern China (i 2,059,481 6.1 200,496 10,272 4,266,348 12.3 296,578 14,385
Southeastern China =1=) 3,052,760 9.0 271,310 11,252 4,163,374 11.9 363,311 11,460
Central China FEh 1,667,332 4.9 185,006 9,012 3,892,016 1.1 383,073 10,160
Eastern China £ 6,477,204 19.2 632,905 10,234 3,522,967 10.1 354,541 9,937
Bohai Economic Rim BiE 5,124,246 15.2 472,789 10,838 3,022,301 8.7 267,190 11,311
Shenzhen/Huizhou RE 571,552 1.7 45,212 12,642 2,071,352 59 120,241 17,227
Total st 33,814,274 100 2,658,048 12,721 34,906,704 100 2,585,904 13,499

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 27 investment properties with a total
GFA of approximately 1,361,422 sq.m., and one investment property held for
future development with a total GFA of 69,530 sg.m.

PROJECTS UNDER CONSTRUCTION

As of 31 December 2023, the total planned GFA of the Group's projects under
construction was 12,141,245 sq.m., representing a decrease of approximately
24.6% compared to the total planned GFA of 16,104,002 sg.m. as at 31
December 2022.

REME

R2023F 12831 B AEBERFBEREY X BEEERA
NAE13614202FF K UHRE —BFERKBAENREY
O LEHRREERES69,530F H K

TEIEE

HE203F 123 H A&EETRBEENHSREEER
712,141,245 3K B E2022F 12831 HRU 2R 2 EA
& 2516,104,0025F 75 K BV £924.6% ©
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MANA;G_EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIRE N K

LAND BANK

wRi

As of 31 December 2023, the Group's land bank GFA and total land bank GFA
attributable to the Group were approximately 21,618,967 sg.m. and 17,386,668

sg.m., respectively.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of the total land bank of the
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate companies of the Group as at 31

December 2023:

T

HE2023F 1283 HIE AEBETMFEFREREMBAKRE
BEEEEBD P A21,618967F K K%17,386,668F F

}Ko

TRETIR2023F12H3BAEBRB AT
MENB TR R BB T R 0IRE4E :

aERER

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BIR /FBst Tt FEE
e BH HETERAAE BIEH Gt E R ERAH FEfG1E S
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHRK) (F75XK) (%)
Properties developed by the Group and its subsidiaries
TEERENBARRENYE
Chongqing Company
EBAT
Chongging Tianchen Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 52,683 14,191 49.00%
EE AREE e/ BE
Chongging Jiangshan Elite's Mansion/Lanyin World ~ Residential/commercial 2024 69,489 170,073 57.60%
EE TLEE /ERXH T/ BE
Chongging Zhongyang King's Garden Residential/commercial 2019-2022 157925 96,589 96.00%
EE RREE e/ BE
Chongging Yujiang House Residential/commercial 2020 77,342 16,700 96.00%
EE DN} T/ BE
Chongging Boshe Residential/commercial 2020 52,086 17,596 96.00%
EE HE e/ BE
Chongging Changjiang King's Garden Residential/commercial 2020 59,031 16,648 96.00%
EF RI#HE T/ HE
Chongging Jinhui City Phase IV Residential/commercial 2018 135,452 76,780 96.00%
EF F IR e/ BE
Chongging Jinhui City Phase V Office building/commercial 2026 9932 71,235 96.00%
EF EEHRA_R YN Y
Chongging Binjiang Complex Commercial 2024 12,738 18,522 96.00%
EE BiliRa HES
Chongging Jinhui Plaza Commercial 2015 28,229 123,801 96.00%
EE SEES SHES
Chongging Jinhui Elite’s Mansion Residential 2022 25,896 14,840 96.00%
EE DHRER *E
Chongging Caihu Yunjing Residential 2024 44,496 41,415 96.00%
EE FHMER *E
Chongging Tanzikou Residential 2024 25,006 78,614 96.00%
EF #¥0 *E
Chongging Hushan Elite’s Mansion Phase | Residential/commercial 2024 105,693 45,248 48.00%
EE WUEE—H e/ BE
Chongging Hushan Elite’s Mansion Phase Il Residential/commercial 2024 67,358 150,713 48.00%
EE MUEE"H e/ BE
Chengdu Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2021 41,112 7,598 96.00%
% SEESTER T/ HE
Chengdu Fenggi Yunjing Residential 2024 46,094 88,890 96.00%
% BEZER *E
Subtotal of Chongging Company 1,049,453
- YNSIl
Subtotal of interests in Chongging Company 841,430

BEREED/)E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T fEE FEEG
& EE EEIERAAR i T 13 G E R HmREE FE(h i
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Wuhuan Company
HEAR
Wuhan Jinhui City Residential/commercial 2026 188,736 601,832 96.0%
HE TIEH s/ HE
Wuhan Jiangyue Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2024 128,280 317,270 38.4%
HE IMEE s/ HE
Wuhan Jiangshan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2027 151,926 835,794 62.4%
HE TWEE s/ HE
Wuhan New Block Lakeside Residential/commercial 2020 69,985 26,313 96.0%
HE BT s/ HE
Xiangyang Xiangyang New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2025 172,060 418,690 72.0%
Z5 ERESERN s/ HE
Changsha Hongtao Jade Bay Phase | Residential 2018 22,771 3,249 96.0%
=8 BEERE—H (e
Changsha Hongtao Jade Bay Phase I Residential/commercial 2025 37,374 16,413 96.0%
=8 BEERETH s/ HE
Changsha Xingyu Academy Residential/commercial 2024 105,625 209,736 96.0%
=8 EREMN s/ HE
Changsha Xingyue Yundi Residential/commercial 2026 115,142 232,294 96.0%
=8 EWELR s/ HE
Hefei Land parcel 06, Hefei New Station Residential/commercial 2024 61,928 174,119 96.0%
aie S IE#IL06 1R s/ HE
Hefei New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2021 100,289 3,977 67.2%
aie BT ER s/ HE
Hefei Cloudworld Garden Residential 2020 16,262 6,391 96.0%
aie ERTERE (e
Hefei Xin'an Garden Residential/commercial 2021 34,505 3,299 96.0%
aie MR s/ HE
Hefei Xin'an Yayuan Residential/commercial 2023 64,532 24,237 96.0%
aie ML s/ HE
Hefei Xizi Garden Residential 2021 104,760 2,955 22.1%
AR EFIEE e
Hefei Yunman Xijing Residential/commercial 2024 60,128 152,074 96.0%
aie TERR s/ HE
Subtotal of Wuhuan Company 3,028,643
ECERRNE
Subtotal of interests in Wuhuan Company 2,340,108

HERB /)G
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MANA;G_EIViENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE SRR D
Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEst i FEBE
& HE ERXERAAE BITER G ER mRast FEfL 2
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (AR (%)
Beijing Company
BRAF
Beijing Chaoyang Port No.1 Block Office building 2022 73,891 175,469 96.0%
IR AGOF 5 YN
Beijing Radiance Plaza Office building/commercial 2016 11,423 106,212 96.0%
IR EEAE YN Y
Tianjin Xueshi Garden Residential/commercial 2023 80,124 3,300 96.0%
PN S4TEE T/ BE
Tianjin Yungi Garden Residential/commercial 2024 40,442 28,971 96.0%
PN ERtE T/ BE
Tianjin Yunhui Garden Residential/commercial 2026 36,586 91,460 96.0%
PN ERTtE T/ BE
Tianjin Yunque Garden Residential/commercial 2022 42,078 487 96.0%
PN EREE T/ BE
Tianjin Hu'an Garden Residential/commercial 2021 98,930 5,602 96.0%
PN WEEE T/ BE
Tianjin Yuncui Gardan Residential/commercial 2021 25,236 2,825 96.0%
PN EETE T/ BE
Tianjin Mingzhu Garden Residential/commercial 2025 81,437 219,441 96.0%
PN HETLE T/ BE
Langfang New Block Riverside Garden Residential/commercial 2026 167,549 307,963 96.0%
[ERLh BYKETER T/ BE
Shijiazhuang New Block Star Residential/commercial 2023 39,389 7,435 96.0%
ARHE BYER T/ BE
Shijiazhuang Jinhui Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 65,052 14,815 52.8%
ARHE SEEE T/ BE
Shijiazhuang New Block (Pinyuan) Residential 2020 48378 6,996 32.6%
ARHE B (RE) *=
Shijiazhuang West District of New Block Shangfu Residential/commercial 2023 52,543 5,989 96.0%
ARHE BrEMAR T/ BE
Shijiazhuang East District of New Block Shangfu Residential 2024 35,286 88,456 96.0%
ARHE BYEMRE *=
Shijiazhuang Kaiyuan House Residential/commercial 2022 54,619 5823 96.0%
ARHE b o T/ BE
Shijiazhuang New Block Yayuan Residential/commercial 2025 45,729 46,467 76.8%
ARHE By KE T/ BE
Shenyang Jiangshan Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 127,325 17,711 96.0%
& TWEE T/ BE
Shenyang Land parcel 88-1, Shenyang Yuhong Residential/commercial
New Town 2026 55,258 150,522 96.0%
&b B IR AR I e8- 11 1R /B
Subtotal of Beijing Company 1,285,944
ILRAB NG
Subtotal of interests in Beijing Company 1,214,752

bR B it
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T fEE FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Shanghai Company
LBRA
Hangzhou Jiushang Elite’s Mansion Residential 2020 64,505 20,659 96.0%
N AHEE (e
Hangzhou Ziya Elite’'s Mansion Residential 2020 11,349 16,065 96.0%
N KHRER (e
Shaoxing New Block Guanlan Garden Residential/commercial 2022 70,150 33,240 96.0%
B L ERL e/
Shaoxing Shaoxing Mirror Lake Residential/commercial 2022 48,883 21,731 96.0%
B BE e/
Shaoxing Peninsula Elite's Mansion Residential 2022 57,812 10,063 96.0%
B +EBEERN (e
Shaoxing Jingyue Elite’s Mansion Residential 2023 63,210 94,702 96.0%
B BHEERN (e
Shaoxing Huiyi Elite’s Yunting Residential/commercial 2024 29,366 89,150 96.0%
B 1BiRERE e/
Suzhou Sea Breeze Garden Residential/commercial 2020 18,866 8,491 96.0%
B B FRETEE e/
Suzhou New Block Four Seasons Garden Phase | Residential 2021 25,934 8,074 96.0%
B &4 METEE—H (e
Suzhou New Block Four Seasons Garden Phase Il Residential 2022 28,102 10,817 96.0%
B &4 METEE 1 (e
Suzhou Qianwan Commercial Center Commercial 2019 39,428 45567 96.0%
B BEEERL [EES
Suzhou Runyuan Mansion Yayuan Residential 2021 43611 9,645 96.0%
B BrhERD (e
Suzhou New Block Jiang Lai Residential/commercial 2027 85,305 136,095 96.0%
B &1k e/
Suzhou Taicang Block No.17 Commercial 2025 35,504 72,999 96.0%
B KE175E IR [EES
Suzhou Riverside Yunjing Garden Residential/commercial 2023 41,941 22,550 67.2%
B BAERTER e/
Suzhou Runyuan King's Garden Residential 2019 80,669 18,771 96.0%
B BrTLETE (e
Nantong Jinhui Elite’s Mansion Residential 2024 38,049 68,328 96.0%
Ep] 1BEE Ik (e
Wuxi Xidong King's Garden Residential 2024 128,379 202,868 96.0%
=5 EREREREE (e
Shanghai Jinhui Tiancui Garden Residential 2019 32,142 7,869 96.0%
& EBRERD (e
Shanghai Jingang Commercial Plaza Commercial 2017 31,438 46,484 96.0%
& ERHEES [EES
Shanghai Shanghai Jiulong Hotel Commercial/hotel 2023 1,943 31,750 96.0%
& FEhEEER GEYEELS
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MANA;G_EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

—Fu R
BB NG RO
Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
. B st T FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (AR (%)
Shanghai Company (Continued)
LBAT (8
Ningbo Huiyi Yunting Residential/commercial 2022 26,477 1395 96.0%
=) BRES e/ ¥
Ningbo Jiangyue Waterflow Residential/commercial 2024 122,292 25432 57.6%
B L83 RK e/ ¥
Ningbo Zilin Yuntin Residential/commercial 2025 48,012 123,720 96.0%
B EMERE e/
Ningbo Chengyang Yunfu Residential/commercial 2024 25,091 65,127 96.0%
B FRER e/
Ningbo Yuyao Meishan Road Project Residential/commercial 2025 54,476 135,375 96.0%
B RIKGWEHIER e/
Huai'an Jinhui City Phase Il Residential/commercial 2023 108,819 824 97.4%
ER TEHR=H e/
Huai'an Jinhui City Square Residential/commercial/ 2025 93,398 272,971 57.6%
) office building
EZ SBETES FE/EE/ MRE
Huai’an Jinhui City Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 86,833 3,018 96.0%
EZ T8 e/ B
Huai’an Jinhui Swan Bay Phase | Residential/commercial 2016 66,440 6,716 96.0%
EZ SEXEE—HR e/ B
Huai’an Jinhui Swan Bay Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 63,426 16,541 96.0%
EZ SEXEEZHR e/ B
Huai’an Jinhui Four Seasons Community Phase Il Residential/commercial 2021 72,902 23,055 96.0%
EZ MEEERE "B e/ B
Huai’an Jinhui Four Seasons Community Phase | Residential/commercial 2024 70,750 62,506 96.0%
EZ MEgExE—H e/ B
Huai’an New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2023 28,600 70,684 96.0%
EZ BIIERE e/ B
Huai’an New Block Dongjun Residential/commercial 2024 56,712 66,784 96.0%
EZ BT RE e/ B
Huai’an New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2024 29312 80,822 96.0%
EZ BIER e/ B
Huai’an New Block Academy 2 Residential/commercial 2026 52,215 168,323 96.0%
EZ B EM e/ B
Huai’an New Block Academy 3 Residential 2026 56,833 183,403 96.0%
EZ BEEM3 £
Huai’an New Block Academy 4 Residential 2025 56,913 184,843 96.0%
EZ B EM £
Huai’an World City Phase 5 Residential/commercial 2027 20,136 65,538 96.0%
EZ HREAH e/ B
Huai’an Southern Plot of City Plaza Residential 2026 47,869 155,161 57.6%
EZ ¥5i T B 5 R o R £
Huai’an Northern Plot of City Plaza Residential 2026 46,677 151,284 57.6%
EZ I B35 10 R £
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R HEst TitiEeE FEBFE
& HE ERXERAAE BITER G ER mRast FEfL 2
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (TFHXK) (%)
Shanghai Company (Continued)
LERT (&)
Lianyungang Jinhui Four Seasons Residential/commercial 2019 223,045 57,859 96.0%
ELH NELE e/ BE
Lianyungang Jinhui Four Seasons Guanlan Residential 2021 49,756 11,310 96.0%
ELH mEERE *=
Lianyungang Yunting Riverside Residential 2023 97,508 109,638 96.0%
ELHE EEKF *=
Lianyungang Parcel LTC2020-19 Residential 2023 34,819 95,962 48.0%
BEEE LTC2020-195% 3t 52 (i
Lianyungang Yundi Residential/commercial 2025 165,929 516,476 96.0%
ELHE B T/ BE
Lianyungang Peninsula Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2025 61,705 129,485 96.0%
ELHE FEEZR T/ BE
Lianyungang Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2026 93,032 267,947 96.0%
ELHE BE T/ BE
Lianyungang Yunxie Residential 2026 59,397 175,488 96.0%
ELHE i *=
Lianyungang Outlets Commercial 2025 108,623 148,258 96.0%
ELH BASRE EES
Yancheng Jinhui City Residential/commercial 2027 76,441 111,834 96.0%
B EHEM T/ BE
Yancheng Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2021 31,180 15,126 96.0%
B EEESESR T/ BE
Yancheng Jinhui Tongyin Yunshang Residential/commercial 2024 46,650 98,972 52.8%
B EREBRE N T/ BE
Yancheng Junhefu Residential/commercial 2026 72,422 200,643 49.0%
B B T/ BE
Xuzhou Xinbu Lanting Residential/commercial 2023 55,982 0 96.0%
=M EYRE T/ BE
Zhenjiang Jinhui Four Seasons Guanlan Residential/commercial/
hotel 2026 37,422 122,850 96.0%
L mELERE T/ BE/BE
Zhenjiang New Block Xinyuan Residential 2027 76,715 176,878 96.0%
L BYED T
Zhenjiang Yundu Shangyuan Residential 2024 50,041 59,964 96.0%
L =T T
Yangzhou New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2024 128,052 70,673 96.0%
# BYKE T/ BE
Yangzhou Eden Garden Residential/commercial 2021 52,581 4,640 32.0%
Rl 2 T/ BE
Yangzhou Qihu Cloud Atrium Residential/commercial 2024 93,813 171,403 96.0%
# BHMERE T/ BE
Yangzhou Yuedu Cloud Atrium Residential/commercial 2023 43,528 56,312 47.0%
# REEE T/ BE
Subtotal of Shanghai Company 5,441,158
N -UNSIl
Subtotal of interests in Shanghai Company 4771027
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MANA;G_EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

—Fu R
BB NG RO
Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
. B st T FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (AR (%)
Xi'an Company
ALEAT
Xi'an Ji_nghe Town Residential/commercial 2028 697,823 2,001,614 96.0%
[ ESEINIS = e/ ¥
Xi'an Academy Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 46,649 11,558 96.0%
[ ENFF e/ ¥
Xi'an New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2027 189,256 812,326 96.0%
iy B KE e/
Xi'an Jinhui World City Upper East Side Phase | Residential/commercial 2018 43,653 15,236 96.0%
[ SRR FRE—H e/
Xi'an Jinhui World City Upper East Side Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 22,884 0 96.0%
[ SRR FRE ZH e/
Xi'an Gaoxin Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 37,326 1,139 96.0%
[ EMmER e/
Xi'an Jinhui Chang'an Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2023 53,859 219,831 96.0%
[ TRBRZER e/
Xi'an Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2020 39,412 2,378 96.0%
[ cRBESTER e/
Xi'an Jinhui East King's Garden Residential/commercial/
hotel ) 2023 127,015 166,932 96.0%
g SRS FE/EE/ BIE
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase A1-2 Residential/commercial 2016 60,300 15,674 96.0%
ik B REA -2 s/ B
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase A3 Residential/commercial 2019 40,774 28,235 96.0%
g TIE R IMAHA e/ B
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase B3 Residential/commercial 2021 26,000 3,964 96.0%
g Bt FIB3HA e/ B
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase C1 Residential/commercial 2019 48,700 927 96.0%
g TR RMCIH e/ B
Xi'an Jinhui World City Phase C2 Residential/commercial 2021 38,780 32,514 96.0%
g TRt RIMCH e/ B
Xi'an Jinhui World City Block D Residential/commercial 2022 126,133 23 96.0%
g S RIFOM I e/ B
Xi'an Jinhui World City Block G Residential/commercial 2020 28,399 35,781 96.0%
g S RIMCH IR e/ B
Xi'an Jinhui G\Qba\ Plaza Phase | Office building/commercial 2017 14,402 83,482 96.0%
g TRIRKES—H LN Y- E

22 &iER EE) ARAS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T fEE FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Xi'an Company (Continued)
FBRAF (B)
Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza Phase Il Office building/commercial 2020 32,247 262,741 96.0%
[ SIRIRIKES 8 N =Y ES
Xi'an Jinhui World City Block I/) Residential/commercial 2028 115,320 581,335 96.0%
[ SIEH R/ IR e/ ¥
Xi'an Jinhui Building (International Plaza) Office building/commercial 2015 15,908 48,685 96.0%
[ SBRE ERER) N =Y ES
Xi'an Chuangzhi Building Office building/commercial 2019 6,035 20,497 96.0%
[ BIEKE N =Y ES
Xi'an Xi'an Jinhui Plaza Commercial 2029 35,237 280,827 96.0%
[ AREEES [EES
Xi'an Xi'an Jinhui Fengxi Elite’'s Mansion Residential/commercial 2024 38,775 41,888 96.0%
[ ARTEREEE e/
Zhengzhou Jinhui New Block Garden Residential 2023 48,549 3,197 96.0%
=) cRBES TR (e
Zhengzhou Jinhui New Block Garden Residential 2024 47,062 154,535 96.0%
=) TRESHE (e
Zhengzhou Jinhui Youbu Lanting Residential 2026 33,704 109,965 96.0%
=) TRESEE (e
Subtotal of Xi'an Company 4,935,284
AL AN
Subtotal of interests in Xi'an Company 4,737,873

B AE /) at
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MANA;G_EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB NG RO
Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
B st T fEE FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Fujian Company
e YN
Quanzhou Shishi Jinhui City Phase | Residential/commercial 2022 38,866 13,121 81.6%
EM BhiEEN—H e/ ¥
Quanzhou Shishi Jinhui City Phase Il Residential/commercial 2025 183,643 442,954 81.6%
EM BREER e/ ¥
Quanzhou Jinhui New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2023 30,865 27,199 96.0%
EM SRBESEN e/
Quanzhou Parcel No. 11 at Luojiang Residential/commercial 2023 64,921 116,168 25.0%
M AR Sl e/
Quanzhou Land parcel J-05-01 at Anxi Residential/commercial 2023 20,267 5,729 86.4%
EM 2% )-05-013137 e/
Quanzhou Shishi Heming Residential/commercial 2023 31,959 0 49.0%
EM AEAIRIER e/
Quanzhou Parcel 52021-13 in Shishi Residential/commercial 2025 21,879 78,230 81.6%
S AHiS2021-1350 38 T/ BE
Quanzhou Parcel 52021-14 in Shishi Residential/commercial 2025 19,646 71,115 81.6%
EM FHIS2021-145k 4138 e/
Fuzhou Jinhui New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2021 19,891 7,894 96.0%
&M cRBESTER e/
Fuzhou Jinhui Lanlinxuan Residential/commercial 2021 63,518 15,400 96.0%
&M SERME e/
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase | Residential/commercial 2014 266,962 3,488 57.6%
&M EZ—H e/
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase Il Residential/commercial 2020 357,309 17,739 57.6%
&M EZZH e/
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase Il Residential 2025 360,992 82,945 57.6%
&M EZ=H (e
Fuzhou Huai'an Phase V Residential 2016 56,373 8,373 57.6%
&M EZHH (e
Fuzhou Radiance Plaza Commercial 1999 1,141 16,760 96.0%
&M EBAE [EES
Fuzhou Jinhui New Block Mansion Residential/commercial 2023 22,088 54,459 96.0%
&M SBES AE e/
Shangrao Shangrao Tongluowan Residential/commercial 2027 232917 595,788 49.0%
s RS e/
Fuging New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2022 43,071 3,359 96.0%
'A B KE e/
Fuging Jiangshan Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 49,504 8,454 37.4%
'A TWEE e/
Fuging Guanlan Elite’s Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 49,440 759 96.0%
'A BREEE e/
Fuging New Block Academy Residential/commercial 2020 53,168 4,083 34.6%
'A BEE® e/
Fuging New Block Garden Residential/commercial 2022 45,138 475 49.0%
'A BHEE e/
Fuging East Elite’s Mansion Residential 2022 16,330 1,720 49.0%
'A RPEE (e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T fEE FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Fujian Company (Continued)
BEAR (@)
Fuging Zhongyang King's Garden Residential/commercial 2022 65,225 2,921 67.2%
'A RREEE s/ HE
Fuging Land Parcel No.2021 Lot-13 Residential/commercial 2025 91,256 199,094 57.6%
BA 202118-13%% 4038 e/ BE
Foshan New Block Avenue Residential/commercial 2021 43523 12,403 96.0%
L B KE s/ HE
Foshan Lingnan Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2021 17,165 17,818 96.0%
L BEEE s/ HE
Foshan New Block Academy Residential 2020 23,275 10,635 48.0%
L BT ER (e
Foshan Yunjing Garden Residential/commercial 2023 44207 158,255 96.0%
L ERTEE s/ HE
Foshan Yunzhu Garden Residential/commercial 2023 66,439 224,112 96.0%
L FHEE s/ HE
Huizhou Dongdi Huayuan Residential/commercial 2020 19,231 14,257 96.0%
B RIZER s/ HE
Huizhou Jinhui Elegant Pavilion Residential/commercial 2021-2022 49915 30,770 96.0%
B SRR s/ HE
Huizhou New Block Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 12,415 9,372 96.0%
B (LE/N) s/ HE
Huizhou Gaoling Phase Il Residential/commercial 2023 67,841 317,080 57.6%
B =81 s/ HE
Huizhou Land parcel at Kaoling Township, Residential/commercial
Qiuchang Street, Huiyang District 2024 39,344 174,545 96.0%
B ERENREESEN IR e/ B
Huizhou Land parcel at Jiangjun Road, Qiuchang  Residential/commercial
Street, Huiyang District 2024 43,506 148,330 96.0%
B EREMREERERMIE s/ HE
Huizhou North of Baiyun district, 67,000 sq.m Residential/commercial 2026 72,128 223,999 96.0%
B REL678A s/ HE
Subtotal of Fujian Company 3,119,803
BREAB/NG
Subtotal of interests in Fujian Company 2,410,389
BRABMER NG
Subtotal of land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 18,860,285
FERREME AR L&
Subtotal of interests in the land bank developed by the Group and its subsidiaries 16,315,578

FEEREMBARREN D EEER
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MANA;G_EIViENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE SRR D
Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEst TitiEeE FEBE
& HE ERXERAAE BITER G ER b Ek=h FEfL 2
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(AR (TFHXK) (%)
Properties developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associates
FEERELERMEATBENYE
Chongqing Company
£ YN
Chongging Luming House Residential/commercial 2021 157,427 40,772 32.6%
EE B T/ BE
Chongging Jinke Jinhui Meiyuan Residential/commercial 2018-2021 177,239 27,462 47.0%
EE EREBER T/ BE
Chongging Jinke Jinhui Bocui Mountain Residential/commercial 2018-2021 188,419 17,959 47.0%
EE ERTEERL T/ BE
Chongging Liyue Jiangshan Residential/commercial 2019-2023 61,919 25,944 19.2%
BB BRI T/ BE
Chengdu Midea Jinhui Town Residential 2022 41,940 1,443 48.0%
% 8 - 2ER T
Chengdu Peninsula Elite’s Mansion Community Residential/commercial
Phase | 2019 39,038 15,842 48.0%
% FEEENE—H T/ BE
Chengdu Peninsula Elite’s Mansion Community Residential/commercial
Phase Il 2019 71472 22479 48.0%
% FEEENRZH T/ BE
Subtotal of Chongging Company 151,901
BEABNE
Subtotal of interests in Chongging Company 58,742
BEATER/ G
Wuhuan Company
HERT
Hefei Duhui City Residential/commercial 2022-2023 109,852 28,908 24.0%
& HELH T/ BE
Changsha Jinhui Weichu Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 60,331 10,225 48.0%
=30 TRERTER T/ BE
Jingzhou Chuyue Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 51,187 31,720 48.0%
HiM RHEE T/ BE
Subtotal of Wuhuan Company 70,853
HERB)/ G
Subtotal of interests in Wuhuan Company 27,072
HERB /) E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T fEE FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR i T 13 G E R HREE FE(h i
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Beijing Company
ERAT
Tianjin Yonghe Yayuan Residential 2027 45,437 90,126 384%
K#E EMAESE (e
Tianjin Yunzhu Garden Residential/commercial 2027 62,024 107,526 57.6%
K#E EETR s/ HE
Shijiazhuang Jinke Tianyu Community Residential 2026 56,946 161,604 33.6%
axiH ERXENE (e
Shenyang Jimei Wanxiang Residential/commercial 2020 78,517 17,651 31.7%
B EXER s/ HE
Beijing Daxing Huang Village Project Residential/commercial 2025 108,244 393,784 24.0%
IR KESNIER T/ HE
Subtotal of Beijing Company 770,691
IERABNE
Subtotal of interests in Beijing Company 250,946
IERAE /NG
Shanghai Company
LBRA
Hangzhou Zizhangtai Apartment Residential 2020 68,263 96,492 49.0%
N KBEEAB FE
Hangzhou Huiyi Elite's Mansion Residential 2020 59,668 48,852 47.0%
N BiREE FE
Shaoxing Guanlan Yunting Residential 2024 117,391 300,012 48.0%
BE BREE FE
Ningbo Jinhui & Powerlong Plaza Residential/commercial 2023 86,528 283,991 47.0%
B SEERERTES s/ HE
Suzhou Lanxi Bay Yuyuan Residential 2019 66,738 10,496 30.7%
B HEEEE FE
Suzhou Shanghu King's Garden Residential 2019 46,004 20,348 31.7%
B FHRETR FE
Suzhou Sea Time Garden Residential 2020 69,206 40,066 15.4%
B B EREIERE FE
Suzhou Huaman Seasons Garden Residential 2020 32,044 345 49.0%
B TtBmETER FE
Suzhou Jiangnan Elite's Mansion Garden Phase | Residential 2020 24,583 15,504 47 0%
B IEEETEE—H FE
Suzhou Jiangnan Elite's Mansion Garden Phase Il Residential 2021 30,760 16,700 47 0%
B ImEETEECZH FE
Suzhou Jiangnan Elite's Mansion Garden Phase Il Commercial/office 2023 7,239 53,459 47.0%
B ImEETEE=# GEYE VN
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MANA;G_EIViENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE AR R
Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
'R FEst TitiEeE FEBE
& HE ERXERAAE BITER G ER mRast FEfL 2
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FAHRK) (TFHXK) (%)
Shanghai Company (Continued)
LERT (&)
Lianyungang New Block Academy Residential 2020 51452 23,245 49.0%
ELH BY BT *=
Lianyungang Gaoxin Elite's Mansion Residential 2023 79,720 17,273 48.0%
ELH BMER *=
Lianyungang New Block Garden Phase | Residential/commercial 2023 122,205 28,641 8.7%
ELHE BYIEE—H T/ BE
Lianyungang New Block Garden Phase I Residential/commercial 2022 124,566 7,365 8.7%
ELH BYIEE_H T/ BE
Lianyungang New Block Garden Phase Ill Residential/commercial 2024 131,888 207,743 8.7%
ELH BYIEE=H T/ BE
Nanjing Time Mansion Residential/commercial 2022 131,964 5,454 47.0%
s B eI T T/ BE
Nanjing Mansion Yayuan Residential/commercial 2019 28,257 2,144 57.6%
[ BERD T/ BE
Yangzhou Tang Yuan Residential/commercial 2020 72,660 4109 48.0%
# £ T/ BE
Xuzhou Jiangshan Yunjing Community Residential/commercial 2024 25,157 80,801 48.0%
RN ITUERNE T/ BE
Xuzhou Jiangshan Yunjing Community Residential 2024 24,514 83,246 48.0%
RN TLERNE *=
Xuzhou New Block Riverside Residential/commercial 2021 50,212 14,541 48.0%
RN BYKE T/ BE
Xuzhou Jiangshan Yunjing Community Residential/commercial 2025 26,358 87,181 48.0%
oAl TUERNE T/ BE
Subtotal of Shanghai Company 1,448,008
LBABNE
Subtotal of interests in Shanghai Company 578,224
LBAT /G
Xi'an Company
FBRAT
Xi'an Jinhui Mansion Residential/commercial 2017 64,269 21,086 96.0%
ik ERIRFT T/ BE
Zhengzhou Binhe Elite's Mansion Residential/commercial 2023 88,578 26,804 49.0%
ZB SRBARESR T/ BmE
Subtotal of Xi'an Company 47,890
AEABNE
Subtotal of interests in Xi'an Company 33,366

BR AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFA®RD

Actual/
Estimated Attributable
Main Planned Usage of Completion Gross Land Bank  Interests Held
Region Project Projects Year Site Area Area by the Group
BTt T fEE FEEME
& EE EEIERAAR BTEH EtER mESE FEfL1ER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FHK) (FAK (%)
Fujian Company
e YN
Fuzhou Lexin Garden Residential/commercial 2022 125,737 40,199 31.7%
&M SETEE s/ HE
Fuzhou Yuzhou Jinhui Zhongyang Garden Residential/commercial/
office building 2020 45,134 14,834 32.6%
B BNEEHRIEE FE/EE/ MRE
Fuzhou Jinhui Longyue Garden District 1 Residential 2022 86,558 48,123 57.6%
&M TREETE—&E £
Fuzhou Jinhui Longyue Garden District 2 Residential/commercial 2019 19,163 3,183 57.6%
&M CRBRRZTE_R e/ B
Fuzhou Guanlan Mansion Residential/commercial 2026 19,515 59,439 47.0%
&M BRAE e/ B
Fuqging Bright Binjiang Residential/commercial 2021 99,992 12,323 47.0%
N} BIRET e/ B
Fuqging Bright Tianjing Residential/commercial 2021 26,133 12 47.0%
N} BIRKIE e/ B
Fuqging Bright Tianyue Residential/commercial 2021 36,757 6,951 15.0%
N} BEXIR e/ B
Fuqging City Plaza Residential/commercial 2021 75,854 17,505 48.0%
N} i E 5 e/ B
Fuging Boyue Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 41,675 1,836 32.0%
N} RN e/ B
Foshan Elite’s Mansion Mingyuan Residential/commercial 2021 39,844 64,090 49.0%
L EEAR e/ B
Huizhou Baoliyue Mansion Residential/commercial 2020 27,990 844 32.0%
B RERALE e/ B
Subtotal of Fujian Company 269,339
BERFNE
Subtotal of interests in Fujian Company 122,572
BERABER /NG
Subtotal of land bank developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associates 2,758,682
FEEGECERBMEQTRBEMN LR
Subtotal of interests in the land bank developed by the Group’s joint ventures and associates 1,071,089
FEEGECERBMEATRBEN LM FEBEED /DT
Total 21,618,967
Mgt
Total interests 17,386,667
st
Note: F5E -

The GFA of the Group's land bank includes (i) GFA available for sale and total rentable
GFA of completed projects; (ii) total GFA for properties under development; and (iii)
total GFA for properties held for future development. In respect of the non-wholly
owned projects, the GFA will be adjusted according to the equity interests of the Group
in relevant projects.

FERIDMERNEEEEREENERIYETHHEERER
BRATHBERERER (IAEPYENBRREBERGNFER
REEMENBEEREAE -MIIF2EERNBEEMS  BREEE
RIERAEBERFREPHREETRE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB34,248.7 million, representing a decrease of 3.0% as
compared to RMB35,318.0 million of the corresponding period last year.
Our revenue mainly derived from the development and sales of the Group's
residential properties and commercial properties, we also derived revenue
from leasing of commercial properties, and provision of management
consulting services for the overall operation of property projects to our joint
ventures and associates.

The table below sets forth the information related to our revenue for the
periods indicated:

fiA %5 [o] B8

WA

HE2023F12831HIEFE AEBWRALNARKE34,2487
BT BREFRPAAARE3S53180BE TR 3.0%0
WA BEETEREAEENTEMERBEYENRE K
HE AEBNTIREHEREMEREYEBEENERS
ERaErtENME A RESELARBMESFTRA

TR EERBWARNER

Year ended 31 December

HZE1283101LEEE

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000 %

AREETT ARHFTT %

Property development and sales YR RIHE 33,814,274 98.7 34,906,704 98.8

Residential (e 33,098,817 96.6 33,746,782 95.6

Commercial EES 715,457 2.1 1,159,922 32

Property leasing MEMRE 416,878 1.2 390,410 1.1

Management consulting services BIRE RS 17,533 0.1 20,889 0.1

Total st 34,248,685 100 35,318,003 100

Revenue from Property Development and Sales

As of 31 December 2023, the revenue from property development and sales
was approximately RMB33,814.3 million, representing a decrease of 3.1% as
compared to approximately RMB34,906.7 million of the corresponding period
last year. The decrease in the Group's revenue from property development and
sales was primarily attributable to a decrease in the total GFA delivered by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Rental Income

Revenue from property leasing consists of recurring rental revenue from
leasing our commercial properties, such as office buildings, shopping malls
and shopping streets. Our rental income increased by approximately 6.8%
to RMB416.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB390.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2023 F 3R

MIERZERIBHENKRA

REZE2023F 1283181 MERERBEEEENRAYN
BARME3Z8143BE T REFRBPAR ARTE3490678
B3 1% REBMREE2023F 12831 L EEY ¥R
BRHERARLDHEIFEFANAEEERGEEEME
BDFTE o

HEWA

MEHREKRASRELRARAE BYESERENESERHE
MENKEUHRESWA - BEWARHEE20228412831H
IEFEENARKE304E8 BT MAN6.8%EE E2023F128
JIHIEFENARE41698E T



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Management Consulting Services

The Group provides management consulting services to its joint ventures
and associates, such services mainly include management consultation
services provided to these entities in connection with the construction,
sales and marketing of properties, and overall project management during
the development and sales of properties. Our revenue from management
consulting services decreased by approximately 16.3% to RMB17.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB20.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due the decrease in scale of
projects developed by our joint ventures and associates to which we provided
management consulting services.

Cost of Sales

Cost of property development and sales mainly consists of construction costs,
land acquisition costs and capitalized interest. During the year ended 31
December 2023, our cost of sales amounted to approximately RMB31,720.0
million, representing an increase of 5.2% as compared to that of RMB30,138.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to
increase in the Group's provision for impairment of inventories during the year
ended 31 December 2023, resulting in an increase in cost of sales.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's gross profit decreased to RMB2,528.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 from RMB5,179.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Group's gross profit margin decreased to 7.4% for the year ended 31
December 2023 from 14.7% for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Finance Income

The Group's finance income primarily consists of interest income from
bank deposits, interest income from funds the Group advanced to our joint
ventures and associates and interest received from third parties. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's finance cost was approximately
RMB51.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately 43.5% as compared
to RMB91.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly
due to the decrease in average bank deposits of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

BEREw RO

EEE AR
rEEBEGECELRBE AT IRHEELHR  HER
BEEOERNYEREREEARTOZEERMESR
MEBEREH UM EREEEEREEEDBHARK S
BAMIRBFIEWABREZE202E12A31HLEEEMNAR
20 9B BT L A163%EE E2023FE 12831 HIEEEMN
AR SEET TEE2HNAMFMIRESELHREN
EECERMENTRENEERIEEED -

HERA

MERBRHEERATEGIERERMA T UBE R A K&
BEAREHE - EHE2023FE 1283 HIEEE  HERENAE A
R#531,72008 80 WEZE2022F12831HIEEEA AR
H530,138 5B BT NNS 2% TEE AN AER2023E128
JBIEFENGHREFEREEFIL I ERHE MG
e

EMREF=H
AEBNEMNHEZ2002F12831BEEENARE
51795B B TR/ EHE2023FE12831BLEEEN AR
25287B BT

REBNENEREE2022F12831HIEFEEMN147% T~ [F
FEHE2023F12831HIEEERT 4%

B WA

FEENHHEBRATEQRIBTEREENFERA B
FEBNEGECERBEATRNLESMEENNBIRA
UEBE=AWERNFIE B E2023F12831HIEFE &
ERNTHEBRANBARKES 688 Tt REZE 20226128
BSTHIEFEEAARBINIEE TR LDH435% FEEZHN
HE2023F 12831 HIEFEAEBFHRITERUR DB
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE AR

Other Income and Gains

The Group's other income and gains decreased to RMB23.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB60.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the absence of one-off gain on
disposal of associate in the corresponding period in 2023.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i) promotion
and advertising expenses, which primarily represent costs incurred in
connection with advertisement in media and promotional events; (ii)
employee benefit expenses, which primarily represent salaries paid to our
Group's selling and marketing personnel; (iii) office and property management
expenses, which primarily represent the expenses incurred in daily operation
and management of the Group's sales offices; (iv) sales expenses, which
primarily represent commissions paid to third-party sales agencies; (v)
depreciation and amortization, which primarily represent the depreciation
and amortization of equipment and devices used by the Group's selling and
marketing personnel; (vi) travelling and entertainment expenses; and (vii)
after-sales service expenses, which primarily represent expenses incurred
during the provision of our Group's after-sales services to our customers.

The Group's selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
10.6% to RMB1,030.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
RMB931.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly
due to the carry-forward of projects pre-sold in 2023 in the current period,
and the contract assets carried forward as sales agency fees in accordance
with the carry-forward ratio of projects increased during the year ended 31
December 2023 as compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consist of (i) employee benefit expenses,
which primarily represent salaries paid to our Group's administrative
personnel; (i) tax and surcharges, which primarily represent stamp duties
in relation to sales contracts the Group entered into and property tax in
relation to properties our Groups leased; (iii) depreciation and amortization,
which primarily represent the depreciation and amortization of the Group's
offices and office equipment; (iv) office expenses, which primarily represent
the expenses incurred by our Group's administrative personnel in the daily
operations of our Group's offices; (v) professional consulting expenses,
which primarily represent the expenses for the consulting services the
Group engaged in order to increase our operational efficiency; (vi) bank
service charges, which primarily represent the expenses for miscellaneous
bank services; (vii) travelling and entertainment expenses; and (viii) service
expenditures.

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately 19.6%
to RMB686.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB853.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was primarily
attributable to the decrease in staff salaries and office expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Cost

Our finance costs mainly consist of (i) interest on bank and other borrowings,
corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, senior notes and lease liabilities; and
(i) interest expense arising from revenue contracts, which represents interest
expenses recognised for the significant financing components included in
contract liabilities during the period from the receipt of sales proceeds to the
delivery of the underlying properties, less capitalized interest directly relating
to properties under development.

The Group's finance cost increased by approximately 25.3% to RMB295.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB236.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, which was primarily attributable to the
increase in the expensed project interest expenses of the Group in 2023.

The Group's weighted average cost of debt as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately 5.99% (31 December 2022: 6.22%).

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses decreased by approximately 20.6% to RMB152.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB191.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, which was Mainly due to the decrease
in exchange loss as a result of the decrease of Renminbi depreciation as
compared with the previous year.

Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties

Fair value gains on investment properties represent the changes in the fair
value of our investment properties. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group recorded fair value gains on investment properties of RMB359.8 million,
representing a decrease of 57.4% compared to that of RMB844.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the
higher appreciation of new property in 2022.

Share of Profits and losses of Joint Ventures

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded share of losses of
joint ventures of RMB99.4 million, while we recorded share of profits of joint
ventures of RMB732.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such
change was mainly attributable to the provision for impairment losses of the
property projects held by the Group's joint ventures during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Share of Profits of Associates

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's recorded share of profits of
associates of RMBO.1 million, while we recorded share of profits of associates
of RMB491.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was
primarily attributable to the decrease in GFA of property projects delivered
held by the Group's associates for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE AR

Profit before Tax

The Group's profit before tax decreased by approximately 81.2% to RMB697.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from RMB3,706.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December
2023 included the provision made for PRC enterprise Income tax and
land appreciation tax. The Group's income tax expenses decreased by
approximately 30.3% to RMB1,131.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 from RMB1,623.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which
was primarily attributable to the decrease in income tax expenses for the
current year.

(Loss)/Profit for the Year

As a result of the change in the Group’s financial data mentioned above,
the Group recorded a net loss of RMB433.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, as compared to profit after tax of 2,083.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, decreased by approximately 120.8%.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net Current Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's net current assets was RMB23,233.3
million (2022: RMB33,858.4 million). In particular, the Group's total current
assets decreased by approximately 24.7% to RMB99,234.8 million as at
31 December 2023 from RMB131,789.1 million as at 31 December 2022.
The Group's total current liabilities decreased by approximately 22.4% to
RMB76,001.6 million as at 31 December 2023 from RMB97,930.8 million as at
31 December 2022. The decrease of the Group's net current assets was mainly
attributable to (i) the decrease in properties under development as a result of
our completion and delivery of properties; and (i) the decrease in cash and
bank balances during the year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease in
net current assets was partly offset by the decrease in contracted liabilities as
a result of decrease in sales of properties during the year ended 31 December
2023.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances was RMB7,072.9
million (2022: RMB12,319.5 million).
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Indebtedness

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's outstanding borrowings amounted
to RMB29,428.4 million (2022: RMB37,815.8 million), of which RMB15,994.1
million (2022: RMB19,109.5 million) carried interests at fixed rate. Save for the
RMB2,142.8 million senior notes which were denominated in US dollars, all
other borrowings of the Group were denominated in Renminbi.

The table below sets forth the components of the Group's borrowings as at

the dates indicated:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(EEE

ERESmRAN

F2023E 128310 AEBHNREEETERA AR
29428 4B B 7T (20226 ¢ AR¥E378158E &) » HFAR
#515,994. 1B B 70 (20224F : ARH£19,10958 8 7T) #HEEF)
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As of 31 December

#=E128318
2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT
Current ENHA

Other loans - secured HmER—FIKE = 1,190,000
Current portion of long term bank loans — secured EHIRITERBBNEAEE 5 — B K 11,141,143 8,520,513
Current portion of other loans — secured HEREIEAE D — B iK1 593,260 1,226,840
Corporate bonds NEMES 15,707 667,743
Senior notes BRER 2,142,841 440,607
Proceeds from asset-backed securities B ERFESRERE 47,606 70,696
Total current BNHR4EEE 13,940,557 12,116,399

Non-current JEBDHR
Bank loans — secured RITER—BIKE 10,268,920 14,718,167
Bank loans — unsecured RITER—EIKIE = 50,000
Other loans - secured HthBH—HiEHE 767,800 839,300
Corporate bonds UNCIEEE =S 2,778,304 2,797,578
Senior notes BREE - 2,075,827
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BERFBESMEMNIE 1,672,856 5,218,481
Total non-current JEBNHA4EEE 15,487,880 25,699,353
Total borrowings fEmRAR%E 29,428,437 37,815,752
Secured BigE 27,285,596 31,713,301
Unsecured IR 2,142,841 6,102,451
Total borrowings fETRABEE 29,428,437 37,815,752
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MANAG_EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEE FNam RO

The following table sets out the maturity of the Group's total borrowings and N R&F| A EBERIEE R AEEMUETE I ZSHFH B
the extent of the Group's total borrowings subject to fixed or floating interest AU FRARZBFY P B HARIZIERIB R ¢

rates as at the dates indicated:

As of 31 December

#Z=12H31H
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTFT
Bank loans repayable: BEERITER
Within one year —FR 11,141,143 8,520,513
Between one and two years —FEEWME 4,475,407 12,584,529
Between two and five years MEESF 1,740,387 1,629,823
More than five years RELE 4,053,126 553,815
21,410,063 23,288,680
Other borrowings repayable: BEEREMER
Within one year —ER 593,260 2,416,840
Between one and two years —FEEWME 599,800 839,300
Between two and five years M E E5FE 168,000 =
1,361,060 3,256,140
Other senior notes, corporate bonds and proceeds BEENEAER REESFK
from asset-backed securities repayable BEIRBESEMIE
Within one year — &R 2,206,154 1,179,046
Between one and four years —FEF4FENRN 2,850,026 5,072,690
Over four years HE £ 1,601,134 5,019,196
6,657,314 11,270,932
Total st 29,428,437 37,815,752
By fixed or floating interest rates HREE XK FHFEE 2
Fixed interest rate & EF) ZE 15,994,087 19,109,501
Floating interest rate EEIEIES 13,434,350 18,706,251
Total Indebtedness B AEEE 29,428,437 37,815,752
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledged Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's borrowings was secured by the Group’s
assets that amounted to RMB44,992.8 million (2022: RMB55,954.2 million),
such assets included (i) property, plant and equipment; (i) land use rights;
(i) investment properties; (iv) properties under development; (v) completed
properties held for sale; and (vi) pledged deposits.

Financial Risk

The Group's businesses exposed us to various financial risks, including
interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. In order
to minimize such risk exposures of the Group, we do not use any derivatives
and other instruments for hedging. The Group does not hold or issue financial
derivatives for trading purpose.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to changes in market interest rate relates primarily to
the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group does not
use financial derivatives to hedge interest rate risk, and uses variable rate bank
borrowings and other borrowings to manage its interest cost.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates its business in China, and substantial of its revenue
and expenses are denominated in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2023, among
the Group's cash and bank balances, RMB1.3 million and RMB14.9 million was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively, such amounts
were subject to the exchange rate fluctuation. The Group does not have any
policy to hedge against foreign exchange risk. However, the Group will closely
monitor its foreign exchange exposure, and strive to maintain the value of the
Group's cash.

Credit Risk

The Group divides financial instruments on basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, such as instrument type and credit risk ratings for the
purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and calculation
of impairment. To manage risk arising from trade receivables, the Group has
policies in place to ensure that credit terms are made only to counterparties
with an appropriate credit history and management performs ongoing
credit evaluations of the Group’s counterparties. The credit quality of these
customers is assessed after taking into account their financial position,
past experience and other factors. The Group also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
receivables. In addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of trade receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk, with credit risk spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE AR

Liquidity Risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between sustainability and
flexibility of funding through the use of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The Group reviews its liquidity position on an ongoing basis.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has arrangements with various banks for the provision of mortgage
financing and, where required, provides our customers with guarantees as
security for mortgage loans. The terms of such guarantees typically last until
the issuance of the real estate ownership certificate upon the completion of
guarantee registration or satisfaction of mortgage loan by the purchaser. As
a guarantor, if the purchaser defaults in payment, the Group is obligated to
repay all outstanding amounts owed by the purchaser to the mortgagee bank
under the loan and have the right to claim such amount from the defaulting
purchaser. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not incur any material
losses in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted
to purchasers of the Group's completed properties held for sale. The Directors
considered that the likelihood of default in payments by purchasers is minimal
and therefore the financial guarantees measured at fair value was immaterial.
As such, no provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has provided guarantee to the banks
amounting to RMB27,106.0 million (2022: RMB35,685.8 million) in total for
the financing granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties. As at 31
December 2023, the Group has provided guarantee to the banks and other
institutions amounting to RMB1,341.7 million (2022: RMB1,044.1 million)
in total for the financing granted to the Group's related companies. As at
31 December 2023, the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital,
bank overdrafts and acceptance liabilities or other similar indebtedness,
debentures, mortgages, charges or loans, or acceptance credits or hire
purchase commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities
or any covenant. The Directors have confirmed that there had not been any
material change in the indebtedness, capital commitments and contingent
liabilities of the Group up to the latest practicable date for the purpose of the
indebtedness statement.

Legal Contingents

The Group may be involved in lawsuits and other proceedings from time
to time during the ordinary course of business. The Group believes that the
liabilities resulting from these proceedings will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

Commitment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitment of RMB18,430.8
million (2022: RMB24,893.2 million) in respect of properties under
development, merger and acquisition of equity interest and capital injection
for investment in joint ventures and associates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Off-Balance Sheet Commitment and Arrangements

Save for the contingent liabilities disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023,
the Group did not have any outstanding loan capital issued or agreed to be
issued, bank overdrafts, loans, loan securities, borrowings or other similar
indebtedness, acceptance liabilities (save for normal commercial notes),
acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages, charges, finance lease or hire
purchase commitments, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has no other
significant investments held or material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Future Plan for Significant Investment
The Group did not have any other immediate plans for material investments
and capital assets as of 31 December 2023.

Employees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a total of 1,367 employees (2022:
2,257 employees), with most of them were based in China. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, staff costs (including Directors) was approximately
RMB325.6 million (2022: approximately RMB435.1 million). The Group
determined the salary based on the qualifications, position and experience of
each employee. The Group has established a regular assessment mechanism
to assess the performance of our employees, the assessment results are used
as the basis for determining salary increment, bonuses and promotions.

Due to an inadvertent clerical error, the total number of employees of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 was stated as 1,432 in the annual results
announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024. Save for such figure,
which has been restated in this annual report, all other information in the
annual results announcement remains unchanged.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, as disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 20 March 2024, the Group did not pay principal of
US$300,000,000 for certain senior notes due in March 2024 (the “2024 Notes”).
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15 April 2024, the
Company has deposited all necessary funds into the designated bank account
of the trustee for redemption of the 2024 Notes at their principal amount
together with interest accrued. Save as disclosed, subsequent to 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, there is no other event that may
have a material impact on the Group's operating and financial performance
that needs to be disclosed.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTOR AND COMPANY SECRETARY

EERATDWEBE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Ting Keung (#E3&), aged 57, founded our Group in September
1996. Mr. Lam was appointed as our Director on 17 October 2019 and was re-
designated as our executive Director on 16 March 2020. Mr. Lam is currently
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group as well.
He is primarily responsible for the leadership, overall strategic planning, major
investment and decision making of our Group. Mr. Lam also has over 29 years
of experience in the PRC real estate industry.

Currently, Mr. Lam is a member of the National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (ZBIBUAIR B S E2HEER)
since March 2013, a standing member of All-China Federation of Returned
Overseas Chinese (FREZEHEHEBHSE) since July 2009, a vice
president of the Overseas Chinese Charity Foundation of China (FEIZEFA
HEE D) since December 2015, a vice president of the Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs Association (FEIfEFE S ®) since December 2010. He is
also a permanent honorary chairman of Hong Kong-Fujian Association (&%
BELEE), Hong Kong Federation Overseas Chinese Association (&7
BELEEE) and Hong Kong-Fuzhou Shiyi Fellow Association (& B4EM
+EB4E) since May 2008, December 2018 and July 2002, respectively. Mr.
Lam obtained the Enthusiastic Overseas Chinese Outstanding Contribution
Award (BACVEINEH A THEEEREEE) granted by Overseas Chinese
Affairs Office of the State Council (BIF5PEEFEMAZE) in December 2017
and the 2018 Annual Overseas Chinese Charity StarQO18EEBELEEZ
£) granted by Overseas Chinese Charity Foundation of China (IEIZEEA
WEEE) in December 2018.

Mr. Lam is the father of Mr. Lam Yu, our executive Director.

Mr. Lam is the sole director of Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine,
both of which have interests in the Shares that are discloseable under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lam Yu (#F), aged 33, was appointed as our Director on 17 October
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 16 March 2020. Mr.
Lam Yu is also an executive president of our Group and is primarily responsible
for the management of Marketing Investment Management Centre of our
Group. He joined our Group in March 2011 as a director of Yancheng Jinhui
Juye and had been a director of our various subsidiaries.

Mr. Lam Yu participated in the Advanced Seminar for Chief Executive Officers
on Real Estate Development and Investment and Finance at Tsinghua
University (BEASZEMEREHALMERTSRIFEH) from May
2010 to March 2011.

Mr. Lam Yu is the son of Mr. Lam, our executive Director.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTOR AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Huang Junquan (Ef85R), aged 51, was appointed as our Director on
17 October 2019 and was redesignated as our executive Director on 16 March
2020. Mr. Huang joined our Group in January 2009 as the vice president and
director of Radiance Group, and was responsible for the Group's architectural
design, project operations, brand marketing and cost control of our Group.
He was redesignated as the General Manager of our Fujian company and
is primarily responsible for the operation and management of our Fujian
company in August 2023.

From September 1995 to December 2005, Mr. Huang served in Xiamen
Zhongjian Northeast Architectural Design & Research Institute Co., Ltd. (& P9
2R IER PR A RAF)) with his last position as the director in a branch
office, where he was primarily responsible for the design management of the
Fuzhou branch. From January 2006 to December 2008, he served as a director
in the Fuzhou branch of Beijing Zhonghuajian Planning and Design Institute
Co., Ltd. (ERHERRAZFARRERABEBEN 28], where he
was primarily responsible for the design business and overall operation of
such company.

Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree in architecture from Tianjin University
(K7#EAE) in the PRC in July 1995. He obtained qualifications for Class
1 Registered Architect (—#RsEfEELEN) granted by MOHURD, Ministry
of Human Resource and Social Security of the People’s Republic of China
(PEAREMNEAANERMAEERIES) formerly known as Ministry
of Personnel of the People’s Republic of China (F%E A R HFE A E26)
and Fujian Provincial Department of Human Resource and Social Security
in April 2001. He obtained the qualification of Senior Architect (S4REHR
BM) granted by BRI IEERFTHAZERE (China Construction Northeast
Architectural Design & Research Institute) in September 2002. He is the vice
president of Fuzhou Real Estate Association (f@ N = ithE 217 D).

Mr. Xu Xiaodong (#&/\%), aged 41, was appointed as our executive
Director on 25 March 2022. Mr. Xu joined the Group in December 2016 and
was promoted as assistant executive president of the Group in November
2020. In September 2021, Mr. Xu was appointed and is currently serving as
a director of Radiance Group, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.Mr. Xu is primarily responsible for the financial and treasury
management of the Group.

Mr. Xu has over 17 years of experience in financial management, treasury
management, capital market financing, risk management and internal control
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xu worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP, Deloitte & Touche LLP (Singapore),
China Resources Land Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1109), Sincere Holding Group Co., Ltd., Hopson
Development Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 754).

Mr. Xu is a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (CICPA), a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants (CIMA) and a member of China Certified Tax Agents
Association (CCTAA). Mr. Xu is also a qualified practitioner under the Securities
Association of China (SAC) and Asset Management Association of China
(AMACQ).

Mr. Xu holds a bachelor’s degree in science and management from Nanjing
University, a master's degree in professional accounting and a master's degree
in economics from Peking University and an MBA degree from Tsinghua
University. He is currently pursuing a doctorate degree at Emlyon business
school.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Huaqgiao (3R15#8), aged 60, was appointed as the independent
director of Radiance Group in June 2016. Mr. Zhang's appointment was solely
to enable him to serve as an independent director of Radiance Group upon
its listing on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the application for which was
still pending at the time of his appointment. As such listing has not taken
place, he has not taken part in the day-to-day operations and management
of Radiance Group or of the Group. Mr. Zhang was further appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 5 October 2020. Mr. Zhang is
primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group.

Mr. Zhang is also currently an independent non-executive director of Fosun
International Limited (B 2BERAERAF)) (stock code: 0656), Logan Group
Company Limited (BEJC#hEERBRAF) (stock code: 3380), Zhong An
Group Limited (RZEBBRAE) (stock code: 0672), and Luye Pharma
Group Ltd. (AFERIZEEBERAT) (stock code 02186), all of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

From July 1994 to July 1995, Mr. Zhang worked as analyst in Equity Capital
Markets Department of Swiss Bank Corporation Warburg. From June
1999 to April 2006, he worked in the equities department of Union Bank
of Switzerland (Hong Kong branch) (3% £ #R%7), a Swiss multinational
investment bank and financial services company, with the last position as
the co-head of the China research team. From May 2006 to September 2008,
he served in Shenzhen Investment Limited GRIINIZEZBRAE) (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0604) with his last position as chief
operation officer and executive director, a real estate development company.
From September 2008 to June 2011, he was employed by UBS AG with the
last capacity as a deputy head of UBS China IBD with the corporate rank of
managing director in the Investment Banking Department. From September
2011 to April 2012, he served as an executive director and chief executive
officer of Man Sang International Limited (R&£BIMBRAF]) (isted on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0938), a real estate development company.

Mr. Zhang was also a non-executive director of Boer Power Holdings Limited
(BEBHIEZERABRAT) (isted on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1685),
an independent non-executive director of China Huirong Financial Holdings
Limited (FEIERRERIIZARAMRATE) (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1290), an independent non-executive director of China Rapid Finance
Limited (listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock code: XRF), a non-
executive director, executive director and chairman of China Smartpay Group
Holdings Limited (FPEIZ(TBEBZERABRAT) (isted on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8325), and an independent non-executive director of
Haitong International Securities Group Limited (BEEIEESFERBR
AT (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0665, and was delisted in
January 2024).
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Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in financial and banking from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (F R R ASBUAARZ) (formerly
known as Hubei Financial and Banking Institute GHICBA4EEARR)) in July
1983. He also obtained a master’s degree in economics from both the
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (FRE A R E47HT3E 4 2F)
in the PRC in July 1986 and Australian National University in Australia in April
1991, respectively.

Mr. Tse Yat Hong (381 BEE), aged 54, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on October 5, 2020. Mr. Tse is primarily responsible
for providing independent advice on the operations and management to our
Board.

From January 1994 to May 2000, Mr. Tse worked as an audit manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers, an accounting firm. From June 2000 to May
2019, Mr. Tse worked as the chief financial officer in Shenzhen International
Holdings Limited CRINBIFRIZERBIRAF]), a company engages in the
investment, construction and operation of logistics infrastructure facilities,
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0152), where he
was primarily responsible for the overall financial management and capital
market operation of such company. From August 2000 to March 2008, Mr. Tse
also worked as the company secretary of Shenzhen International Holdings
Limited. From September 2004 to September 2007, Mr. Tse worked as a joint
company secretary of Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited GRYIEERA

BRMNABRAE).

Mr. Tse is currently an independent non-executive director of China Bohai
Bank Co. Ltd. GE/BIRTTRRIPBRAT]), the H shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9668), an independent non-executive
director of China Huirong Financial Holdings Limited ([ B& R < fR 22
B EBR/AT]), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1290) and an independent non-executive director of E-Star Commercial
Management Company Limited (28 E=EIERMKBBRAE), the shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6668). Mr. Tse served
as a non-executive director of Shenzhen Expressway Company Limited GF
NS RABREBKRMERAE) from January 2009 to December 2017, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0548) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600548), and served as an independent
non-executive director of Sky Light Holdings Limited (K¥IZRERAE)
from December 2017 to November 2022, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3882).

Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Monash University in
Australia in April 1992. He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA) and a FCPA of CPA Australia.
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Mr. Chung Chong Sun ($28I#1), aged 48, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on October 5, 2020. Mr. Chung is
primarily responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group.

From July 1997 to May 2000, Mr. Chung worked as an associate of the
investment bank department in Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) as
his last position, where he was primarily responsible for the projects of initial
public offering, corporate finance and financial advice. From May 2000 to July
2001, Mr. Chung worked as a senior executive in Deloitte & Touche Corporate
Finance Limited, where he was primarily responsible for the projects of
initial public offering, corporate finance and financial advice. From August
2001 to August 2003, Mr. Chung worked as an associate director of merger
and acquisition department in Cooperative Rabobank U.A. Hong Kong
Branch, a Dutch multinational banking and financial services company. From
August 2003 to December 2005, Mr. Chung worked as an investor support
officer in InvestHK of the government of Hong Kong. From December 2005
to September 2018, Mr. Chung worked as senior vice president of Issuer
Services, Market Development Department in Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited. From September 2018 to July 2019, Mr. Chung worked as
a chief financial officer in Xiaoi Robot Technology (H.K.) Limited, where he
was primarily responsible for financial functions, risk management, fund
raising, capital market operation and investor relations. He has been the
director of Resourceful Minds Limited CERBRARE) since September
2019, a consulting company, where he has been primarily responsible for the
development strategies and daily operation of such company.

Mr. Chung is currently an independent non-executive director of Strawbear
Entertainment Group (FEARIBRLLLEM), the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2125) and an independent non-executive
director of Zhong An Intelligent Living Service Limited (R Z %5 Z 45 RFE
BIRAT]), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2271).

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong in May 1997. He is also a CPA
of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a CPA of Washington
State Board of Accountancy and a CFA of CFA Institute. Mr. Chung has
been appointed as a member of the Advisory committee of IT Innovation
Lab in Secondary School Initiative of Hong Kong secondary schools by the
government of Hong Kong since September 2020.

Company Secretary

Ms. Kwok Yan Ting Jennis (38R3) is the Company Secretary, the
Authorised Representative and the Process Agent of the Company. Ms.
Kwok joined the Group as Assistant Company Secretary in February 2020.
Prior to joining the Group, she worked in various companies listed on the
Stock Exchange and professional services providers, with over 10 years of
experience in corporate governance, company secretarial and compliance
fields. Ms. Kwok is currently a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the
United Kingdom.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lam Ting Keung (Chairman), Mr. Lam Yu, Mr. Huang Junquan and
Mr. Xu Xiaodong and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhang Huagiao, Mr. Tse Yat Hong, and Mr. Chung Chong Sun.

Mr. Lam Ting Keung is the father of Mr. Lam Yu, an executive Director.
Other than that, there are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among the members of the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has at all times met
the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with
at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The three independent non-executive Directors represent more
than one-third of the Board, complying with the requirement under Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive directors of a
listed issuer must represent at least one-third of the board. The Board believes
there is sufficient independence element in the Board to safeguard the
interest of Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board performed the following
corporate governance duties:

1. reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate

governance;

2. reviewed the compliance with Model Code for Directors;

3. reviewed the training and continuous professional development of
Directors;

4. reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management system and internal

control system; and

5. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.
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TtEERRS

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees all major matters of the Company, including the formulation and
approval of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk
management systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives.
All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with the standards of applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times. As at 31 December
2023, the Board comprised seven Directors, including four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. Their names and biographical
details are set out in the “Biographies of Director” and Company Secretary
section of this report. Liability insurance for Directors of the Company is
maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their duties.

The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board, including providing the Directors with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and shall seek, at the Company’s expense,
independent professional advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary.
The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-
executive Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that
there is always a strong element of independence on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgment. All the Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors, are given equal opportunity and
channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group in order
to make informed decisions. The chairman of the Board will hold meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the involvement of
other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues and concerns. Any
Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather
than by written resolutions. Such Director will be required to declare his/
her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and not counted
towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors who, and whose associates, have no interest in the matter should
attend the Board meeting. The Board has reviewed and considered that the
mechanisms are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are
provided to the Board during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with other senior
executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing the strategy
and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and conducting the
day-to-day management and operations of the Group. Executive Directors and
senior executives meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses
of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and
operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers
of management including circumstances where management should report
back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also
acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

As stipulated in the announcement dated 20 March 2024, the Company did
not repay a principal of US$300,000,000 for certain senior notes due in March
2024. This condition along with other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group
's ability to continue as a going concern as at 28 March 2024.

For details, please refer to the section headed “THE BOARD'S VIEW AND PLANS
TO ADDRESS THE MODIFIED OPINION" in this annual report.

However, the Board wishes to inform the Shareholders that as disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 15 April 2024, the Company has
deposited all necessary funds into the designated bank account of the trustee
for redemption of the 2024 Notes at their principal amount together with
interest accrued.

Accordingly, the Board considers that barring any unforeseeable
circumstances, the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ending 31 December 2024 will be prepared on a going concern basis.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
by virtue of their independent judgment and their views carry significant
weight in the Board’s decision. The functions of independent non-executive
Directors include bringing an impartial view and judgement on issues of
the Company's strategies, performance and control; and scrutinising the
Company'’s performance and monitoring performance reporting.

All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management experience and have
made positive contributions to the development of the Company through
providing their professional advice to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three
years.

Confirmation of independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has been
assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual written
confirmation of independence to the Company for the purpose of Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the
Company'’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills and experience,
including commercial property operation, overall business management,
finance and investment. They obtained degrees in various majors including
business administration, electrical engineering and automation, real estate,
computerized accounting. The Company has three independent non-
executive Directors who have different industry backgrounds, representing
over one-third of our Board members. Furthermore, the Board has a wide
range of age, ranging from 33 years old to 60 years old. We have taken
and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels
of our Company, including but without limitation at our Board and senior
management levels. Taking into account our business model and specific
needs, we consider that the composition of the Board satisfies our board
diversity policy.
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With regard to gender diversity on the Board, all Board members are male
and the Company is aware that a single gender Board will not be considered
as having achieved gender diversity. The board diversity policy further
provides that the Board shall take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making recommendations
on suitable candidates for Board appointments. The Board would ensure
that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best
practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing our Board to gender parity, and
with at least one female board representation by 31 December 2024. Going
forward and with a view to developing a pipeline of potential successors to
the Board that may meet the targeted gender diversity ratio set out below,
we will (i) continue to make appointments based on merits with reference
to board diversity as a whole; (ii) take steps to promote gender diversity at
all levels of the Group by recruiting staff of different gender; (iii) consider the
possibility of nominating female management staff who has the necessary
skills and experience to the Board; and (iv) provide career development
opportunities and more resources in training female staff with the aim of
promoting them to the senior management or board of the Company so
that we will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to our Board in a few years'time.

The Nomination Committee will use its best efforts to identify and
recommend female candidates to the Board for consideration for
appointment as Directors with an ultimate aim to achieve at least 20% female
representation in the Board within five years of Listing, subject to there being
suitable candidates and the Directors being satisfied with the qualification
and experience of the relevant candidates after a reasonable review process
based on selection criteria designed with the best interests of the Company's
business in mind. The Directors will exercise fiduciary duties in the process,
acting in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole
when making the relevant appointments.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring diversity of the Board
members and will use its best efforts to identify and recommend suitable
candidates, including female candidates, for the Board's consideration. We also
welcome candidates of different gender to apply for our mid to senior level
positions. The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merits
and the contribution which the selected candidates could bring to our Board
and management team. The Board believes that such merit-based selection
criteria will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years.
Such term is subject to his retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association. Pursuant to the Article 16.2 of the Articles, the Board shall have
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so
appointed shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting.

Pursuant to the Article 16.17 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but
not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director required to
stand for re-election pursuant to Article 16.2 shall not be taken into account
in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are to retire by
rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at
which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at
any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the vacated
office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Pursuant to the Article 16.5 of the Articles, the members of the Company
may by ordinary resolution at any time remove any Director (including a
Managing Director or other executive Director) before the expiration of his
term of office notwithstanding anything in these Articles or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary resolution
elect another person in his stead. Any person so elected shall hold office
during such time only as the Director in whose place he is elected would have
held the same if he had not been removed. Nothing in this Article should be
taken as depriving a Director removed under any provision of this Article of
compensation or damages payable to him in respect of the termination of
his appointment as Director or of any other appointment or office as a result
of the termination of his appointment as Director or as derogatory from any
power to remove a Director which may exist apart from the provision of this
Article.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On the first occasion of each Director's appointment, the Company would
arrange a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction session on his/her
appointment to ensure he/she would have a proper understanding of the
Company'’s businesses and operations as well as his/her responsibilities under
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations as a director of a listed company.

As part of continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company also provides briefings and other trainings to develop and refresh
the Director’s knowledge and skills. and continuously update Directors on
the latest developments regarding the Group'’s business, the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all the Directors namely, Mr.
Lam Ting Keung, Mr. Lam Yu, Mr. Huang Junquan, Mr. Xu Xiaodong, Mr.
Zhang Huagiao, Mr. Tse Yat Hong and Mr. Chung Chong Sun, have complied
with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of communications.

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should meet
regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times a year.
In addition to regular Board meetings, the Directors also participate in
deliberation and approval of routine and operational matters of the Company
by way of written resolutions with supporting explanatory materials,
supplemented by additional written information from the management when
required. Additional Board meetings would be held whenever warranted.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held four Board
meetings and one general meeting. Apart from that, the chairman also held a

meeting solely with the independent non-executive Directors.

The attendance record of each Director is set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held for the year ended
31 December 2023
#E2023F12A31HLEE
HEEERY RTEERY

Name of Directors Board General meeting
EEH4 BEg BRXE
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Lam Ting Keung MIE SR E 4/4 1
Mr. Lam Yu MFHRE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Huang Jinquan HEREE 4/4 11
Mr. Xu Xiaodong wmNERE 4/4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIEBITES

Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBEE 4/4 11
Mr. Tse Yat Hong HBRELE 4/4 11
Mr. Chung Chong Sun Al At 4/4 11
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for the
Directors’ dealings in the securities of the Company. Upon specific enquiries
of all the Directors, each of them has confirmed that he had complied with
all applicable code provisions under the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2023.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the Company
are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them to deal in securities
of the Company at any time when he/she possesses inside information of the
Group. No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
officers and employees was noted by the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our
Directors, depending on our results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any other
factors which our Directors may consider relevant. Dividends may be paid
only out of our distributable profits as permitted under the relevant laws.
Any final dividend distribution shall also be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders in a Shareholders’ meeting. There was no arrangement under
which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal procedures
of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company is
committed to the view that the Board should include a balanced composition
of executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgment. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Company has applied the principles of good corporate governance and
complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code except
for the deviation from CG Code provision C.2.1 for reasons set out below.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Lam Ting Keung is the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam has
been taking up day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing the
Group since its establishment, the Board believes that it is in the best interest
of the Group to have Mr. Lam Ting Keung taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. Therefore, the Directors consider
that the deviation from CG Code provision CS.2.1 is appropriate in such
circumstance.

Notwithstanding the above, the Board views that such management structure
is effective for the Group's operations and sufficient checks and balances are
in place.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees with specific written terms of
reference to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. All the Board
committees are empowered by the Board under their own terms of reference
which have been posted on Stock Exchange's website and/or the Company’s
website.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code on 5 October 2020. The primary duties of our Audit Committee are
to assist our Board by providing an independent view of the effectiveness of
our Group's financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system, to monitor the scope, effectiveness and results of internal audit
functions, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review our policies
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by our Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,

namely Mr. Chung Chong Sun (being the chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Zhang Huagiao and Mr. Tse Yat Hong.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held three
meetings with the senior executive and independent auditor of the Company
to consider the independence and audit scope of independent auditor, and
to review and discuss the risk management and internal control systems,
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function, interim and
annual financial statements of the Company and the opinion and report of
independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board for their
approval.

The attendance of each member is as follows:

Name of members
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Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

for the year ended

31 December 2023
HZE20235

128318 LFE
HEEERE 2TEERK

Audit Committee

A= BEZEEY
Mr. Chung Chong Sun (Audit Committee Chairman) S8RV E (BEREE S T /E) 3/3
Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBRE 3/3
Mr. Tse Yat Hong HBEREEE 3/3

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules on 5 October
2020. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include to establish
and review the policy and structure of the remuneration for our Directors
and senior management, to make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangement and to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, two of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Zhang
Huagiao (being the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tse Yat
Hong and Mr. Lam Yu.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee & ZE2023F12831RLEFE  HFNEESHBITRMR TS
held two meetings to review the remuneration structure of the Directors and ~ UIRFEZE R AEBE SR EEABWHMNZE  UATHH
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the ~ {TEEE2023FENFMEEAESTIREES -

executive Directors for 2023.

The attendance of each member is as follows: EMENEFELRHUWT
Number of meetings
attended/Number of
meetings held
for the year ended
31 December 2023
# 20235
128318 LLFE
HEEERY ETEERY
Name of members Remuneration Committee
REHH HNEE S
Mr. Zhang Huagiao (Remuneration Committee RIEBLEE FHEZE 8L /E) 2/2

Chairman)
Mr. Tse Yat Hong BHEHBESE 2/2
Mr. Lam Yu MFERE 2/2
Nomination Committee RLEEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee with written terms of ~ ZARABBI2020FE1085HER X EATRINIIEREES
reference in compliance with the CG Code on 5 October 2020. The primary & WU ZEIBHBESEE RLZETHNTERSE
duties of our Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the MEREEERNENESSIREES-

Board on the appointment of members of the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, two of whom are REZZEBOE=-24ME EPMLABIUIERNTES-
independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Lam (being =& MEAMELE RELEZETERE) RICBLEERER
the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Zhang Huagiao and Mr.  ¥ffcsE e

Chung Chong Sun.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held
two meetings to review the structure and composition of the Board and its
committees, made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment
of Directors and assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The attendance of each member is as follows:
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Name of members Nomination Committee
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Mr. Lam Ting Keung MERBRSE GEHEZEELE) 2/2
(Nomination Committee Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBARE 2/2

Mr. Chung Chong Sun Al E 2/2

Nomination policy

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for identifying
candidates for directorship, including recommendations from Board members,
management, and professional search firms. In addition, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates for directorship properly submitted
by the Shareholders. The evaluation of candidates for directorship by the
Nomination Committee may include, without limitation, review of resume
and job history, personal interviews, verification of professional and personal
references and performance of background checks. The Board will consider
the recommendations of the Nomination Committee and is responsible
for designating the candidates for directorship to be considered by the
Shareholders for their election at the general meeting of the Company, or
appointing the suitable candidate to act as Director to fill the Board vacancies
or as an additional to the Board members, subject to compliance of the
constitutional documents of the Company. All appointments of Director
should be confirmed by letter of appointment and/or service contract setting
out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of Directors.
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The Nomination Committee should consider the following qualifications as a
minimum to be required for a candidate in recommending to the Board to be
a potential new Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

- the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

- proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the
ability to exercise sound business judgment;

- skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

- the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success;

- an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required for
a member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy
necessary to diligently carry out those responsibilities;

- independence: the candidates for independent non-executive
directorship should meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in conformity
with the provisions of the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING SYSTEM, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Financial reporting system

The Board, supported by the finance department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The directors prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis,
International Financial Reporting Standards have been adopted and the
appropriate accounting policies have been consistently used and applied.
The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment of the Group's
performance in the annual and interim reports to the Shareholders, and make
appropriate disclosure and announcements in a timely manner. Pursuant
to code provision D.1.1 of the Code, management would provide such
explanation and information to the Board as will enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.

The work scope and reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the

Company'’s external auditor, are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 79 to 86 of this report.

2023 F 3R

RELZECTHENESEURBEETNESNEGEEA > HREE
RAEEFEBIHR BEEUTREERER !

- EERENEANBEBEERRT;
- WRVMATHESEERGFHNMEKRES  LHEE
NEH RIFBIREHIE ;

- HREAEZEEMATAIRAE;

— AENIBBERXFEREEIHAATMNAIELE
RER ;

- THREREFENEMBAENZSSETRDDE
TZEEEMBRANKBRIET ;

- WU BUFRTEFNEREABT S LEHRA
FIREN BN FEEEEgNEEMEREG L
HRABIRE ©

MBERAR AREERAIEH RS

MBERRR

EESEEEMBHFNEE TRERRABAATERN
BRE -EFCHEAFECEEERUEMBRER -F5E
ERMERMBREEN T EMEARERBEEN TR
R-BFEHNENBREFERTHREFARREZINE X
EENRBEHBM FETE TERFHBEENRE
BRAG - BETFUNTIHRED G EEERRESE
REEEEBREN WEEFGENBNRIZUHESS
BEHRNMHFREMERMER NSNS

KRB B ZHEIZ K Gt EFAN TFEERERS
EHER AR S E7IEEN B ZBANRS )



Risk management and internal control system

The Board has established a comprehensive risk management and internal
control system, which consist of an organization framework, as well as
policies, procedures and risk management methods that the Board considers
to be appropriate for our business operations. The system is designed to
allow us to identify, report and address those risk and incidents that may
significantly affect our performance or otherwise expose us to significant
losses, liability or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The risk management system comprises the formulation and implantation
of a set of policies and procedures relating to relevant risk areas, including
compliance with laws and regulations, construction quality, work safety and
environmental matters. We are constantly monitoring the effectiveness of our
risk management system. The Board oversees the implementation of the risk
management and internal control measures and is responsible with reviewing
the effectiveness of such system. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The Board is responsible for approving our business and investment
plans, adjusting the risk management plans and strategies in response to
risks identified in our business operations. The internal control system covers
various aspects of the operations, including information system control,
procurement and accounts payable control, cash management, compensation
management and financial reporting control. The Company has an internal
audit function which has also been carried out under the leadership of the
Board and the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has implemented
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In particular, the Group:

- has conducted its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission in June 2012;

- has established its own disclosure obligation procedures, which set
out the procedures and controls for the assessment of potential inside
information and the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The procedures have been communicated to the senior management
and staff of the Company, and their implementation was monitored by
the Company; and

- has made broad, non-exclusive disclosure of information to the public
through channels such as financial reports, public announcements and
its website.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed
on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and the executive Directors,
and will be further reviewed and assessed at least once each year by the
Board. During the year ended 31 December 2023, these systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
were reviewed and considered effective and adequate.
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The Company also maintains strict anti-corruption policies to recognize
and deal with bribery and corruption and to handle corporate donation
and sponsorship activities of the Group, which applies to all employees and
related third parties who deal with the Group. The Company has a whistle-
blowing policy that serves the purpose of establishing whistle-blowing
procedures for employees and other relevant external parties of our Company,
in order to report and escalate any suspicious misconducts. In accordance
with the policy, we protect all whistle-blowers from any kind of retaliation. All
the information provided by the whistle-blowers will be strictly confidential.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid or payable to
Ernst and Young in respect of its audit services and non-audit services was
approximately RMB5.7 million and HK$68,000, respectively. The non-audit
services in 2023 consisted of taxation consulting services.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted full disclosure of remunerations of Directors
with disclosure in note 8 to the financial statements. The remuneration of
the Directors is determined with reference to salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and
performance of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has no member of senior
management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 29 September 2023,
Ms. Kwok Yan Ting Jennis was appointed as the Company Secretary, the
Authorised Representative and the Process Agent of the Company with effect
from 30 September 2023 following the resignation of the then Company
Secretary, Authorised Representative and the Process Agent of the Company,
Mr. Chiu Ngam.

Ms. Kwok possesses professional qualification and extensive experience in
discharging her duties as the Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Kwok is
an employee of the Company and directly reports to the Chairman. Ms. Kwok
is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters, new director’s
induction and professional developments of Directors as well as ensuring
good information flow between the Board members and compliance of the
policy and procedures of the Board.

Ms. Kwok has confirmed that she has received relevant professional training of

no less than 15 hours in compliance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules to
update her skills and knowledge during the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles, one or more Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the above paragraph heading “Convening an extraordinary general
meeting”.

Shareholders’ communication policy

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholder is
essential to enhance investor relations and to keep investors informed of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company has established
various and a wide range of communication channels with Shareholders,
including general meeting, annual results and interim results, annual and
interim reports, announcements and circulars and performance conference.
To facilitate the communication between the Company and investors, the
Company holds meetings, briefings and roadshows with investors and
analysts from time to time. Apart from that, the Company invites investors
and business stakeholders to visit our management site every now and then,
giving them the opportunities to meet with the local management and visit
our facilities. Shareholders may make enquires with the Company through
channels mentioned above, and provide comments and recommendations
to the Directors or managements at any time. Upon receipt of written
enquiries from Shareholders, the Company will make actual responses to the
shareholders as soon as possible.

In addition, the Company updates its website from time to time to keep
the Shareholders updated of the recent development of the Company. The
Company endeavors to maintain an ongoing dialogue with shareholders. At
the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
will be available to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
In view of the above, the Company considers the implementation of the
Shareholders’ communication policy during 2023 was effective.
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Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board in writing to the
Board or its company secretary at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 6709, 67/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong
Kong or by email at irhk@radiance.com.cn or directly by raising questions at
general meetings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 30 March 2023, in order to reflect and align with the new requirements
under the amendments to the Listing Rules with effect from 1 January 2022
relating to shareholder protection standards, the Board proposed to put
forward to the Shareholders for approval a special resolution to amend the
then existing memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
The proposed amendments and adoption of an amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company were approved by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company convened
and held on 18 May 2023. Save as disclosed above, there was no other
change to the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2023.

The latest version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles is available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in property development. An analysis of the Group's
revenue and operating results for the year ended 31 December 2023 by its
principal activities is set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group on page 94 to 109 in this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in the “Chairman’s Statement” section of this report and the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group on
page 87 of this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

General

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion on the Group's future
business development during the year are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 10 to 12 and pages 15 to 39, respectively, of this report. An analysis
of the Group's performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”on pages 15
to 39 of this report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements on page 210 in
this report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces include (i) risks related to the
performance of the economic conditions in the PRC and the PRC property
markets; (i) uncertainty as to identifying desirable locations or acquiring
land use rights for future property development on favorable terms; (iii)
uncertainty as to obtaining sufficient funding for land acquisitions and future
developments and capital resources may not be available on favorable terms;
(iv) risks related to the fluctuation of profitability of property projects; (v)
risks related to the government policies and regulations regarding the PRC
property industry; and (vi) risks related to the increasing raw materials price
and labor costs.

The Group's financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Environmental policies and performance

It is the Group's corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental friendly environment, and the Group strives to minimise
its environmental impact and comply with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations. The measures it takes to ensure its compliance with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations include: (i) strictly selecting
construction contractors and supervising the process of construction; (ii)
applying for review by the relevant government authorities in a timely manner
after the project is completed; and (iii) actively adopting environmentally
friendly equipment and designs. The Group also takes voluntary actions with
respect to environmental protection and make energy conservation and
emission reduction as primary considerations when designing its property
projects. None of the Group's properties had received any material fines or
penalties associated with the breach of any environmental laws or regulations
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The 2023 Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of the Group shall be published separately.

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes high-quality employees who value its corporate culture
are essential elements to promote its sustainable growth. The Group
intends to attract and retain skilled and talented employees from reputable
universities of PRC through various initiatives, including creative trainee
programs, competitive compensation packages and effective incentive
system. To motivate, attract and retain employees, the Company has adopted
the Share Option Scheme. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the section headed “Director’s report — Share Option Scheme”.

For details regarding employees and staff costs and the emolument policy of
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Employees”.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group are set out in Note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Employee Diversity

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has achieved a 59:41 ratio of females
to males in the workforce and the Board considers that gender diversity across
the workforce has been achieved. The Company will continue to encourage
diversity at workforce level and it has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates with different age,
gender and experiences are considered. The Group has also established talent
management and training programs to provide career development guidance
and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool of skilled
and experienced employees.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group is dedicated to develop good relationship with suppliers as
long-term business partners to ensure stability of the Group’s businesses. It
reinforces business partnerships with suppliers by ongoing communication
in a proactive and effective manner. For further details regarding the Group's
major suppliers, please refer to the section headed “Directors’ Report — Major
Customers and Suppliers”.
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Relationship with Customers

Customers satisfaction with services and products has a profound effect
on the profitability. The Group’s dedicated sales team is in constant
communication with its customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed decisions.
Identification of customers’ pain points alongside grasping the market trend
are critical for the Group to timely adjust our operating strategies to fit the
market requirement. For details regarding the Group's major customers,
please refer to the sections headed “Directors’ Report — Major Customers and
Suppliers”.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with the Shares listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group's subsidiaries are
incorporated in the BVI, Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group's operations are
mainly carried out by the Group's subsidiaries in China while the Group also
has a corporate and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Its establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands, the BVI, the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in
the Cayman Islands, the BVI, the PRC and Hong Kong that have a significant
impact on the Group.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: NIL).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group's borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has 4,045,227,000 Shares in
issue.

SENIOR NOTES AND CORPORATE BONDS

Details of senior notes and corporate bonds of the Company during the year
are set out in note 33 and note 34 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

On 24 August 2023, Radiance Group has issued the first tranche of 2023
medium-term notes with a principal amount of RMB800 million at a coupon
rate of 4.00% and it is a three-year bond.

On 20 December 2023, Radiance Group has issued the second tranche of
2023 medium-term notes with a principal amount of RMB800 million at a
coupon rate of 4.28% and it is a three-year bond.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out on pages 188 and pages
211 to 212 of this report. In respect of Company, the amount of reserves
available for distribution under the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands as
at 31 December 2023 was RMB320.5 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE GROUP

2023 Notes

On 17 September 2023, Radiance Capital redeemed the 2023 Notes in full
at their outstanding principal amount together with interest accrued to
the maturity date. Upon redemption of the outstanding 2023 Notes, all the
redeemed 2023 Notes have been cancelled.

2024 Notes

On 15 April 2024, the Company has deposited all necessary funds into the
designated bank account of the trustee for redemption redeemed the 2024
Notes in full at their outstanding principal amount together with the interest
accrued. Upon redemption of the outstanding Notes, all the redeemed 2024
Notes have been cancelled.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company and its subsidiaries did not

purchase, sell or redeem any of the listed securities of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to RMB4.1 million (2022: RMB28.0 million).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state
of the Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 87 to 212 in this report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report were:
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Name of director Position EEH4 BB iz

Mr. Lam Ting Keung Executive Director MERTE HITES

Mr. Lam Yu Executive Director MFLE HITES

Mr. Huang Junquan Executive Director BRREE HiTES

Mr. Xu Xiaodong Executive Director RINE HITES

Mr. Zhang Huagjiao Independent non-executive Director RICBILE BIIEHITES
Mr. Tse Yat Hong Independent non-executive Director HBEELE BUYERITES
Mr. Chung Chong Sun Independent non-executive Director AT E BIUERITES

In accordance with Article 16.17 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director
required to stand for re-election pursuant to Article 16.2 shall not be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are
to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The
Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill
the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

The Company at the general meeting at which a Director retires may fill the
vacated office. Accordingly, Mr. Huang Junquan, Mr. Xu Xiaodong and Mr.
Chong Chung Sun shall retire from office by rotation at the 2024 AGM and
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence for purpose of Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms it considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company effective
from 29 October 2023 for a term of 3 years. None of the Directors who are
proposed for election or re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation. There is no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors nor their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or might likely compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Lam, being the executive Director and the Controlling
Shareholder, Ms. Lam, Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine, all being
the Controlling Shareholders, has confirmed to the Company that, since the
Listing Date and up to 31 December 2023 he/she/it has complied with the
Deed of Non-competition dated 13 October 2020 (the “Undertakings”) as
disclosed in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of
compliance and the confirmation provided by the Controlling Shareholders
as part of the annual review process. On the basis that: (i) the Company has
received the confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders regarding
the Undertakings; (ii) there was no competing business reported by the
Controlling Shareholders; and (iii) there was no particular situation rendering
the full compliance of the Undertakings being questionable, the independent
non-executive Directors are of the view that the Undertakings have been
complied with and been enforced by the Company in accordance with the
terms.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Share Option Scheme

1) Purpose
The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the Eligible
Participants (as defined in paragraph (2) below) had or may have
made to our Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our Company
with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimize their performance
efficiency for the benefit of our Group; and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.
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2)

3)

4)

5)

Participants

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe
for such number of new Shares as the Board may determine at an
exercise price determined in accordance with paragraph (6) below:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any directors (including independent non-executive directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

(i) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and
such other persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to our Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on
the Listing Date, and such 10% limit represents 400,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 9.89% of the total Shares in issue as at the
date of this report.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Acceptance and exercise of options

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the
grantee and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document
constituting acceptances of the options duly signed by the grantee,
together with a remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the Company on
or before the relevant acceptance date.

The exercise period of any share option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but such period must not exceed ten years from the date
of grant of the relevant share option. There is no minimum period
specified by the Share Option Scheme, for which the option must be
held before it can be exercised.
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The subscription price for a Share under the Share Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, but must be at
least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a day
on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

The duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective until 4 October
2030, i.e. for the period of ten years commencing from the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, after which no further
options shall be granted, but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the provisions of the rules of the Share Option Scheme. As at the
date of the report, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
approximately 6 years and 6 months.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
section headed “Statutory and general information — D. Share Option
scheme”in Appendix V to the Prospectus.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to the date of
this report, no option has been granted by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme. The number of options available for grant
under the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and as at 31
December 2023 remained at 400,000,000 Shares.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO which were required to be entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise
required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code, are set out below:

Interests in shares of the Company

Name of Director/Chief Executive Nature of Interest
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of Shares
or underlying Shares

BE REITHABHS EEME B 153 S 4 RA AR 19 & B BARRBE DL
Mr. Lam Interest in controlled corporations (note 1) 3,400,000,000 84.05%
ML NEELEENER (W5E)

Notes: B sE

(M Pursuant to Division 7 of Part XV of the SFO, 3,400,000,000 Shares held by Mr.
Lam are deemed corporate interests through Radiance Group Holdings and
Glowing Shine.

Interests in shares/debentures of associated corporations of
the Company

N REBEESERBERGEXVEEIDE MEEFAN
3,400,000,000 RIS W R EB T WEMIEREBERAHA
Bl o

RARBBEEBRRD M(EEENER

Approximate

Number of percentage in

shares/Amount  relevant shares/

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Nature of interest of debentures debentures

{LAERAR (R

ihiE =D RIEEELN

BEENY 1A E TR EmME BEESEH BotE

Mr. Lam Radiance Group Holdings Beneficial owner 6,172,150 Shares 64.97%
Mot TIEEEER BmBERAA 6,172,1508%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations, recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FTERRREMATHALQTRGS B AER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN B A7 B E 25 Bz 33
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2023, as recorded in  §32023F12831H * A A B Fr Al » A QA B IR IEE 5 &
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the ~ E&FIE336EBEEFNE LML U TFTAL (EER
SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the AT R HITEABRIN F RS BRI D B 5%,

Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying Shares: M EmER -
Number of Shares Approximate
directly or indirectly percentage of Shares
Name of substantial shareholder held in issue
HiEoEE HEET
TERRATE HENRGH®E R EBABT DL
Radiance Group Holdings 3,400,000,000 84.05%
EIEERTR
Glowing Shine 3,400,000,000 84.05%
5§
Note: BT -
(1) Radiance Group Holdings is owned as to 64.97% and 35.03% by Mr. Lam and Ms. (1) SBEBPZERBEMEERML T B HEE64.97%R%35.03%1#
Lam, respectively. ol

(2) Radiance Group Holdings is the beneficial owner of all the issued shares in  (2) SBERERAREBMEESETRMNERERE A Bt
Glowing Shine and, therefore, Radiance Group Holdings is deemed, or taken to MBS RBERAMES  SEEEERERARNEERR
be interested in the Shares owned by Glowing Shine for the purpose of the SFO. IEmA KRG RHEE R o

(3) Mr. Lam is the sole director of Radiance Group Holdings and Glowing Shine.  (3) MAE4XATREREREBENE —EE - BEENSIE
By virtue of their respective ownership of shares in Radiance Group Holdings, E@EERBEENRD RBSRBEBRAMS > M ERM
each of Mr. Lam and Ms. Lam is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares ZERRWEABNEERREBESNRDPEE R
owned by Glowing Shine for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not  FR_EXFRIREEZE SN 12023128310 » A T I EEF (A
been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the AL (BBHARATESITHRAERIN M ERRRD A
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying BERSFHEBE SRR BRIEZE S R BPEKRAIFH3361EEE
Shares that were recorded in the register required to be kept under section  fZFHIECMAMEZI KA

336 of the SFO.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements and the continuing connected transactions disclosed in
the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this report, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
his connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this report, during the
year ended 31 December 2023, there was no other contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor other contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue attributable to the five
largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the Group's
revenue for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases attributable to the
Group's largest supplier amounted to approximately 13.6% of the Group’s total
purchases and the Group five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 32.3% of the Group's total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders, which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued
Shares, had an interest in the share capital of any of the five largest suppliers
and customers.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Set out below are the continuing connected transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which are subject to the reporting and annual
review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

Property Management Services

On 22 December 2023, the Company entered into a Property Management
Related Services Framework Agreement with Radiance Lifestyle Holdings
Limited ("“Radiance Lifestyle Holdings"), pursuant to which we agreed to
engage Radiance Lifestyle Holdings and/or its subsidiaries to provide property
management and related services to our Group, including but not limited to
(i) management services for unsold units and unsold car parking spaces; (ii)
pre-delivery management and value-added services which primarily include
(a) planning and design consultancy; (b) inspection, cleaning and repair of
units; (c) site security; and (d) ancillary facilities management services; and (iii)
sales management services which primarily include property management of
display units, and off- and on-site sales offices, with a term commencing from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

The maximum transaction amounts under the New Property Management
Related Services Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2025 shall not exceed RMB300 million, RMB350 million and
RMB400 million, respectively. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 30 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amount of service fee
payable by the Company to Radiance Lifestyle Holdings and/or its subsidiaries
for the Property Management Related Services amounted to RMB90 million,
which is within the annual cap of RMB300 million.

Radiance Lifestyle Holdings is wholly owned by Radiance Group Holdings,
which is in turn owned as to 64.97% by Mr. Lam and 35.03% by Ms.
Lam. Radiance Lifestyle Holdings is therefore a connected person of our
Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Property Management Related Services Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for our Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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As each of the applicable percentage ratios (except for the profit ratio)
under the Listing Rules in respect of the highest annual cap in relation to
the Property Management Related Services Framework Agreement was over
0.1% but less than 5% on an annual basis, the transactions contemplated
thereunder are exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval
requirement but subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transaction has been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the relevant agreements governing the transaction on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst and Young, the
auditor of the Company, was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions and has provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing
has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing
connected transaction mentioned above (i) has not been approved by the
Board; (i) was not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and (iii) has exceeded the
annual cap.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transaction” above, certain of these transactions also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are not required to be disclosed in this
report under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Specific Performance Obligations on the Controlling
Shareholder Under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules
13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Changes in information of Directors in details since the date of approval of
the 2022 annual report of the Company, which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of Director

EERNs

Details of changes in information

BREeFE

R LHRAUTHRERERE

E%E%W%tﬁﬁ%%mwﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁi
=511

RAB W EEREMABIRE EHRBE 132008 F 132118 K
FBI3NEIB T BRBITNEESE-

EFENZEY

BARABR0FFHRAEZ L RIFE EMARAIFE13.518(1)
BREFHBENEZTENEERH HHWT :

Mr. Zhang Huagiao

Mr. Zhang has resigned as an independent non-executive Director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited

(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0665, and was delisted in January 2024) with effect on 13 March 2024.

RIEERE
WEIIIFHITES > B2024F 38 13HEEN -

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange has granted the Company a public float waiver under
Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules to accept a lower public float percentage
of the total issued share capital of 15.95%. Details of the waiver is set out in
the section headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the Listing Rules —
Waiver in relation to Public Float" of the Prospectus.

As at the date of this report, based on information that was public available
to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company
maintained the amount of public float as required under the public float
waiver.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is of the opinion that the Company had adopted, applied and
complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG
Code during the year under review. except for the deviation from CG Code
provision C.2.1 as detailed under the section headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Financial summary”on
pages 213 to 214 of this report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts,
except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which provides appropriate cover for the
Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and remained in force as at the date of this report
for the benefit of the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year and subsisted at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

2024 AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The 2024 AGM will be convened and held on Friday, 31 May 2024. A notice
convening the 2024 AGM will be published on the Company's website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and despatched to the Shareholders in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules in due course. For the
purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, speak and
vote at the 2024 AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday,
28 May 2024 to Friday, 31 May 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of the Shares will be effected. In order to determine the identity
of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024.

AUDITOR

There has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date. The consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the 2024 AGM. Ernst &
Young, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2024 AGM.
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MODIFIED OPINION

The Company’s independent auditor has issued a modified opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, details of which are set out in
the independent auditor’s report.

Basis of Modified Opinion

Material uncertainty related to going concern

As stipulated in the announcement dated 20 March 2024, the Company did
not repay a principal of US$300,000,000 for certain senior notes due in March
2024. This condition along with other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

The Board’s View and Plans to Address the Modified Opinion

In relation to the modified opinion (the “Modified Opinion”) issued by
the auditor of the Company as detailed in Note 2.1 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors agree with the view of the
Company'’s auditor and are aware of that there is a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern as at 28 March 2024.

However, as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15 April
2024, the Company has deposited all necessary funds into the designated
bank account of the trustee for redemption of the 2024 Notes at their
principal amount together with interest accrued.

Accordingly, the Board considers that barring any unforeseeable
circumstances, the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ending 31 December 2024 will be prepared on a going concern basis.

The Audit Committee’s view

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and this annual report. In particular, the Audit
Committee has critically reviewed the Modified Opinion and the redemption
of the 2024 Notes as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 15
April 2024. The Audit Committee agreed with the Board’s Position based on
the reasons above.

By order of the Board

Lam Ting Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Radiance Holdings
(Group) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the "Group”)
set out on pages 87 to 212, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the "IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

As stipulated in the announcement dated 20 March 2024, the Company did
not repay a principal of US$300,000,000 for certain senior notes due in March
2024. This condition along with other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated
in our report. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

RREZEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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REEZEER @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBRPNMAREMBEZER

Valuation of investment properties

REYFIGE

The Group owned investment properties in Chinese Mainland,
including completed investment properties and investment properties
under construction, which were measured at fair value and their
aggregate carrying amount was approximately RMB16,845,700,000 as
at 31 December 2023.
EEERFBEAMEENREY S OECRTREMERTE
REYE BATAESE R2023F 128318 HERAEELOA A
F< #616,845,700,0007T ©

The Group engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, Shenzhen Cushman & Wakefield Real Estate
Evaluation Co., Ltd. and Savills Valuation and Professional Services
(China) Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers to
perform the valuations of the aforementioned properties as at 31
December 2023. Significant judgement was required to determine
the fair values of the investment properties, which reflected market
conditions as at the end of the reporting period. The fair value of
completed commercial properties was determined using the income
approach by taking into account the rental income of the properties
derived from the existing leases and/or achievable in the existing
market with due allowance for the reversionary income potential of
the leases, which have been then capitalised to determine the fair
value at an appropriate capitalisation rate. The fair value of commercial
properties under construction was determined using the cost method,
which has taken into account the market value of land use right plus
the construction cost incurred so far and an appropriate gross margin.
Changes in these assumptions would have significant effects on the
valuation of the investment properties. Accordingly, the valuation of
the investment properties was identified as a key audit matter.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the investment properties
were included in note 2.4, note 3 and note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BREMEN G BREREEHNGEMBRERMEE24 W3R
MizE140

We have assessed and evaluated the design and operating
effectiveness of the key controls of management in the valuation of
investment properties.
EEETATEEEEETREYEGERFHNREES 2%
FIETHBE R

We have evaluated the competency, independence and objectivity of
the external valuer. We obtained an understanding of the valuation
approach and key assumptions used by the external valuers.
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We have assessed the validity of the property related data used as
inputs for the valuations and involved our internal valuation experts to
assist us in evaluating the valuation methodology and the underlying
assumptions. We have evaluated the source data used in the valuation
by benchmarking them to the relevant market information on a
sampling basis.

EEEMMEAFLEENNYEERBENEIMN L EFESE
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We have assessed the disclosures related to the valuation of
investment properties in the consolidated financial statements with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
ESE2ERTEAEINRE TGRS HFRERANBEAKE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

RREZEE

REEZEER @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBRPNMAREMBEZER

Provision for land appreciation tax

THIBER R

The Group is a property developer in Chinese Mainland focusing on
the development of residential properties and the development,
operation and management of commercial and mixed-use properties.
Land appreciation tax ("LAT") in Chinese Mainland was one of the
main components of the Group's taxation charge. LAT is levied on
the sale of properties at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
based on the appreciation of land value. As at 31 December 2023,
the management of the Group estimated the provision for LAT based
on their understanding and interpretation of the relevant tax rules
and regulations, and the estimated total sales of properties less total
deductible expenditure, which included lease charges for land use
rights, property development costs, borrowing costs and development
expenditure. Provision for LAT in Chinese Mainland was significant
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group and involved
significant management’s judgement and interpretation of the
relevant tax provisions. Accordingly, provision for LAT was identified as
a key audit matter.
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the provision for land
appreciation tax were included in note 2.4, note 3 and note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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We assessed and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of
the key controls of management in the calculation of the provision for
LAT.
EETAATEEEEEE IR ERBHER ARG 2R
STREBITHERIE

We involved our internal tax specialists to assist us to perform a
review on the LAT position, including the review of the estimates and
assumptions used by the Group and the evaluation of tax exposure
based on communications with the relevant tax authorities by
applying our knowledge and experience. We also recalculated the
tax computation and compared our calculations with the amounts
recorded by the Group.
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We assessed the disclosures related to the provision for LAT in the
consolidated financial statements with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERBRPNMAREMBEZER

Provision for impairment of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

BRPYERIFIEL EE T YER B ERE

The Group had properties under development and completed
properties for sale of RMB62,580,103,000 and RMB15,408,278,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2023, which represented 48% and
12% of the Group's total assets, respectively. The carrying amounts of
properties under development and completed properties for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

R2023F 128318 REENZERTPVMERSIFHENEDI A
AR #62,580,103,0007T &2 A K #615,408,278,0007T » 73 Al 48 E 5L 4<
EEREEBWKI2% - BRAMERIHEEZ B TYETLZ
AR SR REREEFTH

The determination of net realisable value (the “NRV") of the properties
under development and completed properties for sale involved critical
accounting estimates on the selling price, costs to make the sale and,
for properties under development, the costs to completion. Given the
significant balance of properties under development and completed
properties for sale and the involvement of critical accounting
estimates, the assessment of the net realisable value of properties
under development and completed properties for sale was considered
as a key audit matter.
BMEERTPYERAEHE 2B TY = &30 3E (TAI &R
FBE) S RHHEER HERARUAIREEZRTIMEMS
2R IRANREEGsHEs - ENERPYERIIHEEZET
MENBRGERUSOS AR E St sTEERPYE kol #
HEZETYENISRFERGRAMRBETERE

The accounting policies and disclosures of the properties under
development and completed properties for sale were included in
note 2.4, note 3, note 20 and note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.
ERPYMERAEEEZBTIYENSHBRABEEHNEGS
IR RMIEE2.4~ B 513 ~ By EE20 /2 g 5221 ©

We assessed and evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of
the key controls of management in the calculation of the provision
for impairment of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale.

BT ATEEEEEAEERTYERTFHERRT
YR BB R BRI 2 SR BT AL -

In assessing the NRV of the properties under development and
completed properties held for sale, we evaluated, on a sampling
basis, the reasonableness of their forecasted selling price based on
the current market price of properties of comparable locations and
conditions, and involved our internal valuation experts to assist us
in evaluating the methodology and key assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessments.
EENTEERPYMERTHE Sk TYEMN ]S IRFER > U
WA NRBAETT M RIRGMEN SR HIHER  HEHTER
HEER 2 S EM L STE  WAEE N L 5 F R % B R FIFTE
PR ETERPTRAN G E R EERR -

For construction costs to be incurred to complete properties under
development, we obtained an understanding of management’s
process in estimating the future costs to completion for the properties
under development and assessed the reasonableness of the budgeted
construction costs, on a sampling basis, by comparing to the actual
development costs of similar projects recently completed by the
Group and by checking to construction contracts and other relevant
documents.

MERERFPYERELENEERAMS  RMUETHREEE
HEERPYEZRRETHANMGSEE  WAHES R B8
B EEERATRZEUEENERMBAEMNAETHLERZ
HERERSOREMMBRAXX G  HRFEEREAZ S EL T
flio

We assessed the disclosures related to the provision for impairment
of properties under development and completed properties held for
sale in the consolidated financial statements with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
EEE2ERTEFAEINRE TGV BRRANBHEER
YR EHER R TY X R ERENIRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
SR 3 ik S

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

2023 F 3R

TIEREHRANEMER

i

BERRESRRHAMENEE AMENSETHNER
ANER BEREEREMBRERESHZBENRE -

L

&

EEHRAMBRRNERE T REHMER  BEFTF

HZFHMENERTATZANERER-

HEeESHRAVMBRERNER ESNEEERBHEM
B FILBRET EREMENERRGEMBRERN
ESHEERBRETHR TENBERFEERNEERELUTE
TEAHBRNOBR -ENEFEATHIF NREFR
REMBHEEERBR EERERTZFE-EFN
I FAE T3R5 ©

EEMGRESMBRR]ARKENSE

BAREFASEREER G EIES S RMHOERE
BREENREBRAFANKEREREEEMA LN
FREMBRER IHHIAAEGEEMBRENERE NS
EHRRRFERERMERNERERABNARES S

FHo

EREFEVHEERRE> BRREFaEEMNE 55E
FEEENE N TEERBR T REASBEERRN
TR LUKERAFECESEHAER RF SRTESEHE
B BEEBRAUFLEE RpEAMBERNBENRT

EZZEGHY BRAEFETHERE S£EENM
BREBRRE-

BRHAMBZGESHBRRKIENTRE

EEMER EHGROMBREAEERSTAEEANREE
FERMERNERERNEEERE LTLEBREES
BEROZEMRE EFEHE2RRRFHRES > FRIEU
S ARELHEAMAR - EETERZBERENAE
MEREMALTE EHABERNE T



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B LA RS

MM BEZGSMBERRAIENTE
()
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
SR 3 ik S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ho Wai Ling.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EEnREMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
B E2023F12831HIEEE

AR#0.14)7T

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
[z AREFT AREF T
REVENUE N 5 34,248,685 35,318,003
Cost of sales THEMA (31,719,977) (30,138,519)
Gross profit EF 2,528,708 5,179,484
Other income and gains H U N\ R Wz 5 23,105 60,041
Selling and distribution expenses HENDHES (1,030,479) (931,729)
Administrative expenses TR (686,337) (853,707)
Finance income VR T PN 51,611 91,290
Finance costs YRR 7 (295,840) (236,100)
Other expenses Hih% (152,134) (191,638)
Fair value gains on investment properties KREMENAFEW T 14 359,762 844,574
Fair value losses on financial assets BAFEASANEGTNEREEN
at fair value through profit or loss NEBEREE (1,418) (14,168)
Share of profits and losses of: FE1L AR BREA B8 ¢
Joint ventures BEhE 17 (99,360) (732,632)
Associates &N T 18 139 491,020
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRg IR 6 697,757 3,706,435
Income tax expense FRiSMBx 10 (1,131,700) (1,623,285)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR Fr (B8 EF (433,943) 2,083,150
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FErRHM2EKRN, NRIRIE
YEAR, NET OF TAX = -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Fnem (BB WNRE
FOR THE YEAR (433,943) 2,083,150
Attributable to: PUF S IE RS
Owners of the parent BRABEE A (581,248) 1,705,026
Non-controlling interests AR m 147,305 378,124
(433,943) 2,083,150
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO B AT E#ERIFE AEGEER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (&518) &7F)
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREXRNEE (518) BT 12 RMB(0.14) yuan RMBO0.42 yuan

AR ¥0.427T

Annual Report 2023 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited



88 wEER (&E) BRA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBIRRR

31 December 2023
20235128318

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
12A31H 128318
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETT ARH#FTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment N NG 13 884,656 519,023
Right-of-use assets FEREESEE 15 729,667 744,232
Investment properties KREME 14 16,845,700 16,330,200
Intangible assets B EE 16 21,697 24,199
Investments in joint ventures REEENEE 17 2,581,944 2,421,726
Investments in associates R¥ERATNKRE 18 5,705,529 5,688,636
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AP EFt NIBHHSRE E 26 84,405 105,020
Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 19 2,286,927 2,650,754
Other non-current assets HidEREEE 25 1,402,644 1,402,644
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 30,543,169 29,886,434
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Properties under development FREEhY) 3 20 62,580,103 88,551,479
Completed properties held for sale BIEHENR T 21 15,408,278 12,472,551
Trade receivables B 5 ERIE 22 39,458 50,510
Contract cost assets SR EEE 23 899,672 1,205,954
Due from related parties FEE Ui A Bk 75 SR 1B 41 4,100,131 6,621,121
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets A ZIE. EthE R IE R
Hth&E 24 8,028,479 9,395,145
Tax recoverable AU eI I 1,082,370 1,168,535
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss I AFEFFNIEENTREE 26 23,408 4,294
Cash and bank balances & RIRITHER 27 7,072,920 12,319,530
Total current assets MBEEEE 99,234,819 131,789,119
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE
Trade payables B RN IE 28 11,053,574 13,106,078
Other payables and accruals HMEMSRIENESER 29 2,676,974 2,592,136
Contract liabilities EH8E 30 37,659,856 59,397,834
Due to related parties FE A< BE Bt 5 R IB 41 4,928,152 5,437,467
Tax payable FE(TIRIE 10 5,739,088 5,270,090
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings s EIRIT R EMERR 31 11,734,403 10,937,353
Proceeds from asset-backed securities HEIRIPESMEIIE 32 47,606 70,696
Senior notes BREE 33 2,142,841 440,607
Corporate bonds NEEHF 34 15,707 667,743
Lease liabilities within one year —FRNHNEEESR 15 3,354 10,747
Total current liabilities BB EERE 76,001,555 97,930,751
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FERBIRRR
31 December 2023
20235128318

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
20234 20224
128318 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AREFx AREF T
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEERE 23,233,264 33,858,368
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BELERTHER 53,776,433 63,744,802
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERgaE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings sHEIRITREMMER 31 11,036,720 15,607,467
Proceeds from asset-backed securities EEIRFEESAENIE 32 1,672,856 5,218,481
Senior notes BRER 33 = 2,075,827
Corporate bonds NEMES 34 2,778,304 2,797,578
Lease liabilities HESE 15 2,497 3,343
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEAE 19 2,336,955 2,459,068
Total non-current liabilities FERBEELREE 17,827,332 28,161,764
Net assets BEZE 35,949,101 35,583,038
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAREE ABLIES
Share capital 3% 35 35,095 35,095
Reserves B 36 23,917,824 24,499,072
23,952,919 24,534,167
Non-controlling interests FIERER 11,996,182 11,048,871
Total equity AT 35,949,101 35,583,038

Mr. Lam Ting Keung
HERFTE
Director

EF

Mr. Xu Xiaodong
mhEERE
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZEHR

Year ended 31 December 2023
B E2023F12831HIEEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRFEEAERE
Statutory Asset Non-
Share Share Capital surplus  revaluation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

HERE  BEEf
kx  RfEE  EXHE 1 e REEN @t EREE  REAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBETR ARETR ARBTn ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETr ARETR AR%TR
Note 35 Note 36(a) Note 36(b) Note 36(c) Note 36(d)
Wakss  MiEse@  MEse)  MiE3sl0  MiE3e()

As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 182022128318 &
03%F1818 35,095 679,084 (555,406) 2,844,218 5287 21,525,889 24,534,167 11,048,871 35,583,038

(Loss)/profit for the year EN (58) /88 - - - - - (581,48)  (581,248) 147,305 (433,943)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income ENEMLE B /K’A

for the year - - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EN2E (B8 /WNEE

for the year - - - - - (581,248) (581,248) 147,305 (433,943)
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserves SHEEE R - - - 186,443 - (186,443) - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BRBAR - - - - - - - (164127)  (164,127)
Capital contribution by the non-controlling  MiBABERRKEHE

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 980,800 980,800
Dividends declared to the non-controlling  ZHBARFARRRERKE

shareholders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (16,667) (16,667)
At 31 December 2023 W3ENANA 35005 679084 (5554060 3030661 5287 20758,198% 2392919 11996182 35,949,101

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 182021128318 &t
2002E1818 35095 1,204,964 (273,227) 2517580 5287 20,147,501 23,637,200 13,934,505 37,571,705

Profit for the year FEd - - - - 1,705,026 1,705,026 378124 2083150
Other comprehensive (loss)/income ENEMtLE 68 kA
for the year - - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EPILERNEE - = = - 1705026 1,705,026 378124 2083150

326,638 - (326,638)

Appropriations to statutory surplus reserves tiE 4T RERG 1 = = - _ _ _
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W IR B R - - (282,179) S = = (2821790 (273774 (3555953)

Capital contribution by the non-controlling ¥ AR FRBRERHE

shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 24,000 24,000
Dividends declared to the non-controlling I B ABEERREERRE

shareholders of subsidiaries - - - (13,984) (13,984)
Dividends and distributions RERDK & (525,880) - - - - (525,880) - (525,380)

At 31 December 2022 R202%128318 35,095 679,084* (555,406)* 2844 218* 5287 21525889% 24,534,167 11,048,871 35,583,038
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEREROEGAVERARRINGEEHEARK
RMB23,917,824,000 (2022: RMB24,499,072,000) in the consolidated statement of 23,917,824,0007T (20224F : A K #524,499,072,0007T) ©

financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘7r\ Iﬁﬁ;ﬁg

Year ended 31 December 2023
B E2023F12831HIEEE

2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 ARET ARBEF T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFEFMRBRERNE
Profit before tax PRI AR A 697,757 3,706,435
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation of items of property, ME BENRREEEINE
plant and equipment 6,13 21,993 28,406
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 6,15(a) 38,839 46,921
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEHE 6,16 4,472 3,645
Impairment losses recognised for properties B HRY) ERR IR (ERE
under development 6,20 646,628 111,632
Impairment losses recognised for completed FIEHEER I ERIEN
properties held for sale AERIE 6,21 352,141 233,966
Impairment losses recognised for financial assets &Rl & EERI R EFE 622,24 26,793 19,646
Exchange loss PE RS 18 40,826 292,534
Fair value losses from financial assets at fair value AT EFF NIBHEN SRS E
through profit or loss AT EEIE 1,418 14,168
Gain on derecognition of fair value through KRIEEEBRATES NBEN
profit or loss & 5 (108) (234)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE— F?H?ﬁ@j g 5 - (28,616)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures DMEEELE RN RER 17 99,360 732,632
Share of profits and losses of associates TMEBE N TR N EE 18 (139) (491,020)
Fair value gains on investment properties BREYEN QN FERS 14 (359,762) (844,574)
Net gain on disposal of items of property, HEME BERKEEEN
plant and equipment FWE (1,699) (29)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFHREEEN RS (853) =
Finance costs uE %N 7 295,840 236,100
Finance income RGN (51,611) (91,290)
Decrease in properties under development and HEPELFEHEBRT
completed properties held for sale LY E R 23,637,814 18,190,531
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables BT FUIB M H b fE W T IE
B 1,415,623 1,829,937
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SIR&IIRESE L, (2 5,634,463 (558,025)
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 e EIE 9,848 3,190
Decrease/(increase) in contract cost assets BHREEERL (2N 306,282 (260,759)
Increase in trade payables B 5 I FIEE M (2,050,675) (450,884)
Increase in amounts due from related parties R Lk A B 75 R I HE 0 (92,575) (762,103)
Increase in other payables and accruals HAMEA TR IE N fEST & g m 41,427 787,806
Decrease in contract liabilities aHagERD (22,244,452) (13,293,343)
Increase in amounts due to related parties JRE 1<t A Bk 75 RR B 0 39,973 30,809
Cash generated from operations KEFRBRE 8,509,623 9,487,481
Interest received BUFHIE 51,611 91,290
Tax paid BIRE (457,840) (1,231,955)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEYMERENERE 8,103,394 8,346,816
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CONSQ_LIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEHBRER
Year ended 31 December 2023
B E2023F12831HIEEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARET ARBEF T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREESHMREBRERE
Purchases of items of property, EEVME . BENKREEER
plant and equipment (169,041) (33,895)
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE 16 (1,970) (9,153)
Purchases of right-of-use assets RETREEE (24,850) (24,158)
Increase in investment properties BEYEIEM (375,738) (46,610)
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through W EBIR AT E s NEBEHH
profit or loss TREE (19,977) (18,838)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through HERAFESAEBEN
profit or loss TREE 20,168 79,466
Advances to related parties B REEE S fEH B9 B 41 (51,498) (420,003)
Receipt of advances to related parties Y BY 1 BA Bt 75 1R BV B 3R 41 2,562,477 2,435,824
Disposal of intangible assets HEEFEE 16 - 82
Disposal of items of property, plant and equipment HE&E¥3E | B MR EEE 3,114 407
Net cash flows from investing activities KREZFFERESRE3E 1,942,685 1,963,122
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ RiEESIFTRAIRSRE
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BT ESFEHRIEA 34 1,586,859 1,186,991
Repayment of proceeds from issue of BEZBTABBESMERE
corporate bonds (2,081,300) (4,370,000)
Repayment of proceeds from issue of senior notes BB HITIB AL ZIHENFAERIE (409,992) (2,198,422)
Capital contribution from non-controlling WBARFERBRERELHE
shareholders of the subsidiaries 980,800 24,000
Interest paid BAFHE (2,064,017) (3,082,240)
Advances from related parties B S IR BB R 41 203,332 1,437,701
Repayment of advances from related parties EEAB IR R 41 (752,620) (1,009,385)
Repayment of proceeds from asset-backed BEEREEIRFESMENIE
securities (3,580,944) (28,372)
Decrease in pledged deposits BIRREUR LD 27 10,000 840,000
Decrease in restricted cash Z PR &IIR & R = 315,248
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank and FEIRITT R EMERERIE
other borrowings 6,573,940 5,494,300
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and Bt BRIT R EMER
other borrowings (10,107,215) (15,045,507)
Payment of lease liabilities iER=§=NEENE 15 (7,497) (16,542)
Dividends paid BAFHE - (479,749)
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries 8 B M &~ 5 RE/MER = (207,416)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEESFBARERERE (9,648,654 ) (17,139,393)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND RERFEEB/WEM (L)
CASH EQUIVALENTS RER 397,425 (6,829,455)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023

B ZE2023F12B31HIEEFE

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

2023 2022
20234 20224F

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B 5 ARET ARBEF T

FNRENREEEY 4,410,184 11,221,917
INEEXREEFNFEE 428 17,722

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

EXRRENRREEEY 4,808,037 4,410,184

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

RERREFEMERO IR

Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 27 7,072,920 12,319,530
Less:  Restricted cash B RBREIRE 27 2,264,883 7,899,346
Pledged deposits BIRRER 27 = 10,000

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the HWEREBRMIIRENR
statement of cash flows B&EEY 4,808,037 4,410,184
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT SRR M

31 December 2023
20235128318

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RRARERER

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman KpBlA—BRHAEHEFMBRINERE AT -
Islands. The Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of the ERNBRDI2020F 10829 EEBHMERSFA
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 29 BRAE (THRFR)) R Em e AR BN MMER
October 2020. The registered office address of the Company is P.O. Box #HEAPO. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. 1104, Cayman Islands e

The Company is an investment holding company. During the vyear, KRBAKREER AT - RNFERN NERDHEY R
the Group was involved in the development and sale of properties, BRIHE MERERIRHEE LIRS -

property leasing and the provision of management consulting services.
In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the ultimate BEERA AR NERABDRREERAT AN

holding company of the Company is Radiance Group Holdings Limited, HERETMRINEEERERAERAR -
which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

REREEEH (@

BRMBATINER
KRB FEMBRABINFEHRIIWMT :

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Effective

percentage of

Nominal the controlling
value of equity interest
registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FREE
BT AT iR BREH
Gk Wizt sEfREEME EfE READE FEXH
('000)
(AT )

Directly held:

ERRFE

Jubilance Properties Limited British Virgin Islands Us$0.003 100.00%  Investment holding

EBRUEE 0.003% 7T REITk

Indirectly held:

BRERE .

Radiance Group Co, Ltd. (‘Radiance Group”) (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB1,800,000 96.00%  Property development
TREERNERAR ((£BER)) FE/ FEl AR #1,800,0007% MR

Beijing Juye Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB3,961,408 96.00%  Property development
("Beijing Juye Real Estate’) FE/ HE P AR #3,961,4087C and leasing
TREEEXERAA (AREXEE) MERERBE

Beijing Beijian Land Port International Logistics Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB124,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Beijing Beijian Land Port International’) FE/ HE P AR #124,00075 MERE
TRIEEBERDRERAT

(MERILEFEARR)

Shenyang Guangxing Properties Development Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB21,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Shenyang Guangxing Properties’) FE/ P E P AEH21,0007T MERE
BEEEEHMEREERAT

(MEREEREME)

Shijiazhuang Ronghui Properties Development Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. (‘Shijiazhuang Ronghui Properties’) I/ HHE Py AE10,0007T MR
ERHRERMEREERAH

(TRRERIEREME))

Fuzhou Ronghui Properties Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB216,000 96.00%  Property development
("Fuzhou Ronghui Properties’) /R E P AR #216,0007T MERE
BNRERMERRAS (MEMNFIEEME)

Ronggiao (FuZhou) Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China US$30,000 5760%  Property development
("Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate’) /R E P 30,000 7T MERE

BB @) BEXARAE (TR GBM) EX))
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ABKREBEBEE @

(Continued)

BB ARNER (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

AATTEHEADNEERIIMT : @)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AT LG
BT ATN iR BREH
NCELE Wizt FERRE MR AfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(AF )

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFE  (B)

Fujian Pingtan Zhujia Juye Architectural Decoration (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB500,000 96.00%  Construction
Co, Ltd. ("Fujian Pingtan Zhujia Juye /R E P AR #500,00075 decoration
Architectural’) BEEE
BEATEREEEREEHEREELT
(RRETREERZERRE)

Chongging Jinhui Changjiang Properties Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB741,701 96.00%  Property development
("Chonggqing Jinhui Changjiang’) /R E P ARH#741,7017T ek
EETERIBHERRAH
(EBSERI))

Huizhou Hengshengtai Properties Development Co, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB120,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Huizhou Hengshengtai Properties’) ]/ E P AR #120,00075 eSS
ENMERREHERERRAS
(MEMTERRENE))

Xi‘an Jinhui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB746,424 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Jinhui Properties’) /R E P ANE 74642478 MERE
AEcEREMEREFRAT
(AREBEME)

Xi‘an Jinhui Juye Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB392,157 96.00%  Property development
(‘Xi'an Jinhui Juye Properties’) T,/ E P AR¥392,1577% MERH
BeeREERMEREERAT
(AREBEEEME))

Xi'an Ronghui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
('Xi'an Ronghui Properties’) FE,/HE Py AR 1000007 B
BLmBRMEREERAT
(AZRERME)

Xi'an Qujiang Yuanshan Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB105,260 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Qujiang Yuanshan Real Estate’) ],/ E P AR #105,26075 eSS

AR IRLEXBRAF
(MAZHIRUEER)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATIKREERER @

(Continued)

BB ARNER (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

FABREZEMBATNEBERIIDT : @)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAFER
BT ATN iR BREH
ARAE Wizt FEMRREEME EfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
XF 1)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFFE  (B)

Xian Qujiang Hechuang Properties Development (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Xi'an Qujiang Hechuang Properties’) HE/ R E N AR #100,00075 L ESEES
BEIRREHEREERAT

((ARMIARIEME)

Xi'an Bolang Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Bolang Properties Development’) FE,/HRE Py AR #20,0007T MERE
AEBREMEREFRAT

((AREMENERE))

Xi'an Huiyao Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB21,050 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Huiyao Properties’) /R E P AR 21,0507z Lo
FLERE M EREERAT

((AREREHE)

Shaanxi Fenghong Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Shaanxi Fenghong Properties’) HE/ R E N AR #50,0007T eSS
PR R EREERAR

("REREE)

Suzhou Jinhui Xinyuan Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
(“Jinhui Xinyuan’) /R E P AR #20,0007T MERE
BNEENEEXERAR

32

Jurong Gonghua Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Property development
("Jurong Gonghua Properties’) HE /R E Py AE#20,0007T MERE
DBERERHEREFRAT

(ABREEME)

Huaian Jinhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
('Huaian Jinhui Real Estate’) FE /R E Py AR #100,0007T MERE
ELERBEXERAT

(FEZEREXR)
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ABKREBEBEE @

(Continued)

BB ARNER (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

AATTEHEADNEERIIMT : @)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AT LG
BT ATN iR BREH
NCELE Wizt FERRE MR AfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(UF3h)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFE  (B)

Lianyungang Ronghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
("Lianyungang Ronghui Real Estate’) /R E P AR #100,00075 MERE
EZBRMEBEEXERAS

(MEZEREBER))

Yancheng Jinhui Juye Properties Development Co., (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Yancheng Jinhui Juye Properties’) FE/ P E P AR 10000075 MERE
BReREERMEREERAT

(EREREEREME)

Zhenjiang Ronghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
("Zhenjiang Ronghui Real Estate”) I/ HE P AE#1000007T MERE
BIMBEERRAF

(EIRIBEE))

Yangzhou Rongyu Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB246,500 96.00%  Property development
("Yangzhou Rongyu Properties’) ],/ E P AR #246,50075 eSS
ENRTEHERERRAA

(MEHRFERE)

Wuhan Yaoxing Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB1,000,000 6240%  Property development
("Wuhan Yaoxing Properties’) /R E P AR #1,000,00075 MERE
HERERMEREAERETAT

(HERERME)

Zhenjiang Rongyu Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Zhenjiang Rongyu Properties Development’) FE,/RE Py AR #50,0007T MERE
RIRMTRMERERRAT

(EIRFEME)

Anhui Jinhui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development

(‘Anhui Jinhui Real Estate’) E /Rl Py AR 50,0007 IELEE

RHTEEHERLEERAR
(RHEREHE)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

REREEEH (@

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Effective

percentage of

Nominal the controlling
value of equity interest
registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AT LG
BT ATN iR BREH
YNGELE Wizt FEMRREEME EfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(UF3h)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFFE  (B)

Fujian Xinlianhui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB10,000 81.60%  Property development
("Fujian Xinlianhui Properties’) /R E P AE#10,0007T MERE
REEHERMEREERAT

(REEMERME)

Wuhan Sanjianghui Logistics Investment Co, Ltd. (2)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB500,000 3840%  Property development
(‘Wuhan Sanjianghui’) FE,/HRE Py AR 5000007 i ESE L
RESIEMRRERRAT

(TRE=TE)

Xi'an Yaowei Real Estate Limited (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB550,000 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Yaowei Real Estate’) /R E P AR #550,0007% Lo
BLRAEEERAT

((ARRRER)

Zhengzhou Jinhui Hechuang Properties (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB612,245 96.00%  Property development
Development Co, Ltd. FE/ HHE P ANE612,2457T MERE
("Zhengzhou Jinhui Hechuang’)

BNeEaeEHEREERAT
(MBHEBEEIENE))

Huizhou Shengjie Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB260,000 96.00%  Property development
("Huizhou Shengjie Properties’) FE/ PE R AR #260,00075 MERE
EMmAERHEREARAT

(MEMTHARERE)

Zhangjiagang Ronghui Properties Development Co, (1)~ PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 67.20%  Property development
Ltd. (‘Zhangjiagang Ronghui Properties’) HE /R E Py AR #50,0007T e
RRARBEMEREERAA

(MRXABMBEME)

Huai'an Huiyao Properties Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB69,497 96.00%  Property development
("Huai'an Huiyao Properties’) ],/ E P ANE#869,4977T b ESEE
EZEREHAERRAT

(MERERENE)
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REREEEN @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BB ATNER (8
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: KRB FEMBRABNFBHRINUNT | (B)

(Continued)

Effective
percentage of
Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to
Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAFER
BT ATN iR BREH
ARAE Wizt FERRE MR AfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(UF3h)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFE  (B)

Lianyungang Jinhui Properties Development Co, Ltd. (1)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Lianyungang Jinhui Properties’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
EZATBEMEREARAT

((EEELBREME)

Wuxi Yunhui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (3)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB200,000 4896%  Property development
("Wuxi Yunhui Properties’) T,/ E P AR #200,0007T WX
EHZERMEREERAT

(MEREBEME)

Fuging Jinhai Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB500,000 67.20%  Property development
(‘Fuqing Jinhai Properties’) /R E P AR #500,00075 L E R
BETERMEREERAR

((RAEBREHE)

Foshan Chanhui Properties Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
("Foshan Chanhui Properties’) HE/ P E N AE#100007T eSS
LT EEEHERRAS

(MBLTEBRENE)

Quanzhou Qihui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Quanzhou Qihui Properties’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
FMNRERHEREFRAT

TRMEBEME))

Chongging Qihui Yaocheng Properties Development (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB30,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Chongging Qihui Yaocheng’) FE,/RE Py AR 30,0007 MERE
ERRBRABMEREERA

(EEREREEME))

Yangzhou Jinghui Properties Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China US$193,705 64.32%  Property development
("Yangzhou Jinghui Properties’) HE/ P E N 193,705% 7T L E R
BNRERMEREERAR

(MBNRERHE))
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

REREEEH (@

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective

percentage of

Nominal the controlling
value of equity interest
registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AT LG
BT ATN iR BRI
YNGELE Wizt FEMRREEME EfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
AF )

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFFE  (B)

Huai'an Xianghui Properties Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Huai'an Xianghui Properties’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
EZHERMERRAT

(FERHEREME)

Huai'an Xinyao Properties Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Huai'an Xinyao Properties’) TE /P E N AR #50,0007T L e

EZEREMEBRAD (TEREREME)

Lianyungang Huiyao Real Estate Development Co., (2)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB313,200 4800%  Property development
Ltd. ("Lianyungang Huiyao Real Estate’) FE/ HE R AR 131320070 MERE
ERBEREMERERRAT

(MEERBREME)

Beijing Jinhui Beiwang Business Management Co., (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Business management
Ltd. ("Beijing Jinhui Beiwang’) HE /R E Py AR 50,0007 LHER
TREBIEHEERERAA

(MERERLE)

Tianjin Huiyao Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(“Tianjin Huiyao Real Estate”) ],/ E P AE#850,0007T b ESEE
XEBREHERERRAT

((REZEREME)

Shijiazhuang Qiyang Real Estate Development Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 76.80%  Property development
Ltd. ("Shijiazhuang Qiyang Real Estate’) HE/HEl P AR #50,0007T MERE
BRERGEHEREERAS

(ERERRERE)

Nantong Jinghui Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB51,000 96.00%  Property development

("Nantong Jinghui Real Estate’) FE/ P E P AEH51,0007T MERE

BEREEXERAR
(MEREEX)
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATIKREERER @

(Continued)

BB ARNER (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

FABREZEMBATNEBERIIDT : @)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AT LG
BT ATN iR BRI
NCELE Wizt FERRE MR AfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(UF3h)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFE  (B)

Xi‘an Jiapan Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Jiapan Real Estate’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
BEREELXERRT

((ARREEX)

Yancheng Zhaorui Real Estate Development Co, Ltd.  (3)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB46,000 4896%  Property development
("Yancheng Zhaorui Real Estate’) FE/ P E P AR #46,0007T MERE
BEKEEMEREERAT

(rERRHEHE)

Chengdu Ruihua Enterprise (Group) Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB25,000 96.00%  Property development
("Chengdu Ruihua Enterprise”) mE/ P E N AR 82500078 LESE:
MERELE (EF) BRETRA

(TH#mELE)

Xiaogan Quanzhou Hongbo Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
("Xiaogan Quanzhou Honghbo') ],/ E P AR #100,00075 eSS
ZR2NEREXERAA

(FZR2NBEEE)

Hubei Chijing Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB133,333 7200%  Property development
("Hubei Chijing Real Estate’) /R E P AE#13333378 MERE
ML REHERRAT

(MR = EE)

Zhengzhou Jinhui Rongyu Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Zhengzhou Jinhui Rongyu’) FE,/RE Py AR #50,0007 i ESEE
BNEBHFREHEREERAT

(MBHEEBRFEHE)

Changsha Rongyu Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB103,000 96.00%  Property development

(‘Changsha Rongyu Real Estate’) HE /R E Py AR #103,0007 L ESEE

ROVBFEMEERAH
((ROBMFEHE)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

REREEEH (@

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Effective

percentage of

Nominal the controlling
value of equity interest
registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAFER
BT ATN iR BREH
ARAE Wizt FEMRREEME EfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
AF)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFFE  (B)

Changsha Ronghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB103,000 96.00%  Property development
("Changsha Ronghui Real Estate’) /R E P AR #103,0007T MERE
RIOBERMERRAT

(RDBEEME)

Chongging Yuhui Jiajing Real Estate Development (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB30,000 96.00%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Chongqing Yuhui Jiajing Real Estate’) HE /R E P AR #30,0007T MR
ERABEREHEREERAD

(EERBRREME)

Anhui Lanhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Anhui Lanhui Real Estate’) E /Rl Py AR 50,0007 MERE
ZHEREXERLT (RHBEEEE))

Anhui Gaoyue Real Estate Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Anhui Gaoyue Real Estate”) FE,/RE Py AR 50,0007 B
ZHUBREXERRAA

(ZBEREX)

Chongqing Huiderui Real Estate Development Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB750,000 5760%  Property development
Ltd. ("Chongqing Huiderui Real Estate”) ],/ E AR #750,00075 eSS
ERREERMEREARRA

(EEBEERME)

Ningbo Qihui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB500,000 5760%  Property development
("Ningbo Qihui Real Estate”) HE/ HEl P AR #500,00075 MERE
ERMEEXERRE

G=¥:1:05-E))

Taicang Ronghui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB512,500 96.00%  Property development

("Taicang Ronghui Real Estate’) FE/ PE R AR #512,5007c MERE

REMERMERERRARD
((KEREEME)
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATIKREERER @

(Continued)

BB LRNER (8
FARALEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAFER
BT ATN iR BREH
ARAE Wizt FERRE MR AfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(UF3h)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFE  (B)

Yangzhou Rongyu Youbu Real Estate Development (2)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB15,500 47.04%  Property development
Co, Ltd. ("Yangzhou Rongyu Youbu Real Estate’) /R E P AEH155007T MERE
ENRTERSEHERERRAT

(MENRFESEHE))

Huai'an Qihui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB250,000 57.60%  Property development
('Huai'an Qihui Real Estate’) FE,/ R E AR 2500007 MERE
EZRMERMERRAT

(FEZEEREHE))

Ningbo Yunjing Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Ningbo Yunjing Real Estate’) FE,/RE Py AR 50,0007 MERYE
ERERELERAA

(MZREREX)

Shaoxing Yuehui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Shaoxing Yuehui Real Estate’) FE/ HE P AR 150,0007T MERE
BEBBEERRAT

(MREHEE))

Ningbo Yunhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Ningbo Yunhui Real Estate’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
ERERELXERRE

(MEREREH))

Huizhou Chijing Investment Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Investment holding
("Huizhou Chijing Investment’) HE /R E Py AR #50,0007T REZR
EMmRRERRAT

(FEMmEERE)

Foshan Xianghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB10,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Foshan Xianghui Real Estate’) I/ HE P AE#10,0007T MERE
BLUTHERHERRAS

(MBLTHEBREME)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE
31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

REREEEH (@

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Nominal
value of
registered

Effective
percentage of
the controlling
equity interest
attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
AT LG
BT ATN iR BREH
YNGELE Wizt FEMRREEME EfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
(UF3h)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFFE  (B)

Beijing Juye Real Estate Consultation Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB6,000 96.00%  Consulting
("Beijing Juye Real Estate’) /R E P AR #6,0007T i
TREXRMEZLAERAT
((HREEEME)

Tianjin Qihui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Tianjin Qihui Real Estate”) FE,/HRE Py AR 50,0007 i ESE L
REMERMEREFRAT
((REREEHE)

Tianjin Lanhui Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
(‘Tianjin Lanhui Real Estate”) FE,/RE Py AR 50,0007 B

FEBRRUEREBRAT
((REEERME))

Huaian Huisheng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 52.80%  Property development
("Huaian Huisheng Real Estate’) HE/ R E N AR #50,0007T eSS
ELRERMAERRAT
(FERBEREME)

Shijiazhuang Wanyue Real Estate Development Co.,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Shijiazhuang Wanyue Real Estate’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
BREBREHEREERAS
(EREERERE)

Shijiazhuang Chijing Real Estate Development Co, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Shijiazhuang Chijing Real Estate’) FE/ PE R AR #50,0007T MERE
BREMREHEREERAT
(MERESSERE)

Shijiazhuang Gaoyue Real Estate Development Co., (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. (‘Shijiazhuang Gaoyue Real Estate’) e/ R E Py AR 50,0007T e

AEHBHEHEREERAT
(MExREERELE)
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ABKREBEBEE @

(Continued)

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAFER
BT ATN iR BREH
ARAE Wizt FERRE MR AfE BEEAL TEEH
('000)
AF )

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BREFE  (B)

Shanghai Ronggang Real Estate Development Co,, (1) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Shanghai Ronggang Real Estate’) /R E P AR #100,00075 MERE
LEMBEXERAT ((LERMEEE)

Langfang Qihui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Langfang Qihui Real Estate’) /R E P AR #50,0007T MERE
B hEEE M EREERAS
(B HREEME)

Shijiazhuang Jinhui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1)~ PRC/ Mainland China RMB750,000 5280%  Property development
(‘Shijiazhuang Jinhui Real Estate’) FE/ P E P AR #750,0007 MERE
BRECEEMEREERAT
((AREEBEME)

Fuzhou Jinghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
(Fuzhou Jinghui Real Estate’) I/ HHE P AE#1000007T MERE
BNRERMERRAT
(BN RERHE)

Fuzhou Lanhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Fuzhou Lanhui Real Estate’) HE/ R E N AR #50,0007T eSS
BNEREMERRRAR
(MEMEBENE)

Quanzhou Zhaoming Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (3)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB200,000 4896%  Property development
("Quanzhou Zhaoming") /R E P AR #200,00075 MERE
FMNKHEXERRE
(TRMRHER)

Quanzhou Huiyao Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB200,000 86.40%  Property development
("Quanzhou Huiyao Real Estate’) FE/ P E P AR #200,00075 MERE

RNEREHEREBRARD
(TRMEREHE))
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE
31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

REREEEH (@

BB ABNER (@)
FABAEEMBARNHERIDT : (@)

Nominal
value of
registered

Effective
percentage of
the controlling
equity interest
attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAF R
S iR B
Ik Mzt FEMRERME EfE REEA FEEH
(000)
AT 3)

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BERE : (B)

Lianyungang Jinghui Real Estate Development Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB729,730 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. (‘'Lianyungang Jinghui Real Estate’) I/ HHE Py AE#729,7307T YIER %
EEERBRMEREERAT

((EEARBREME)

Chongging Jinhuixingyao Real Estate (3)  PRC/ Mainland China RMB390,800 48.10%  Property development
Development Co, Ltd. HE/ HE P AR 139080075 MERE
("Chonggqing Jinhuixingyao Real Estate’)

EETEEREHEREERAT
((EEEBEREME)

Xuzhou Jinhui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB155,000 96.00%  Property development
('Xuzhou Jinhui Real Estate’) FE,/ R E AR 15500070 ESE:

N ERMEREERAR
(MEMEBEE)

Chongging Jinhui Jinjiang Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB596,120 96.00%  Property development
("Chongqing Jinhui Jinjiang Real Estate’) I/ HHE Py AE#59,1207T YIER %
EETERIEHERRAHT

(EESBHIRME)

Chongging Ronghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB177,250 96.00%  Property development
("Chongqing Ronghui Real Estate’) HE/ HE P ANE#177,25078 MERE
EERERMERRAT

(EERERME)

Suzhou Jinhui Juye Co,, Ltd. (‘Suzhou Jinhui Juye’) (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 96.00%  Property development
BMNEEBREEERRAE FE,/ FEH AE#100,0007T MERE
(BMEBESR)

Suzhou Xinbaoyuan Enterprise Management (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB20,000 96.00%  Management
Consulting Co, Ltd. ("Suzhou Xinbaoyuan") FE/ HE P AE#20,0007T Consulting
FMNBEERMCZEEZAERAT B

(HEMEHER)
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

REREEEH (@

BB ARNER (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(Continued)

AATTEHEADNEERIIMT : @)

Effective

percentage of

Place of Nominal the controlling
incorporation/ value of equity interest
registration and registered attributable to

Names of companies Notes business share capital the Company  Principal activities
FAF R
S AR B
Gk izt EMRERME EfE REED FEEH
(000)
(AT £

Indirectly held: (Continued)

B#RE : (8)

Hangzhou Ronghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB50,000 96.00%  Property development
("Hangzhou Ronghui’) /R E P AR 150,0007T L EL
MMNREEXERAE

(MMRIEER))

Shangrao Tongluowan Commercial Operation (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB100,000 52.80%  Property management
Management Co, Ltd. ("Shangrao Tongluowan’) FE,/ R E P AR #100,00075 NEERE
LEDHEEHEEEEERRAT

(TEBmHREE)

Fuging Jinhui Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB150,000 96.00%  Property development
('Fuging Jinhui Real Estate’) HE/ HE P AR #150,00075 MERE
RETEBEMERERRAT
((RREBEME)

Wuhan Jinhui Rongyu Real Estate Development Co,, (1) PRC/ Mainland China RMB102,041 96.00%  Property development
Ltd. ("Wuhan Jinhui Rongyu Real Estate’) HE/ P E P AR 10204178 MERE
RECBUFRHEREERAT
(HESEBRFEHE)

Xi‘an Juye Construction Engineering Co, Ltd. (1) PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,100,000,000 96.00%  Property development
("Xi'an Juye Construction”) /R E R AR MR
BLEERRIRBRAT 1,100,000,0007%

(AEEEEE)

Fuzhou Yunhui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. (3)  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,100,000,000 4896%  Property development

(Fuzhou Yunhui Real Estate’) HE/HERH AR MERE

BINEREHERRAF
((BNEBEME))

1,100,000,0007T

FIERTBEMZEMARNZAXRBREERE
EERBEAIXLBBZNHEIHBEESL H
WEEHAENEFR - ULRBEZFRERB AR ZE
BEAAABEREEAF

The English names of all group companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the management of the Company
to translate their Chinese names as they do not have an official English
name. The legal form of all the principal subsidiaries disclosed above is
limited liability company.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes:

(1) These entities are subsidiaries of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of
the Company's control over them.

2) Pursuant to the articles of association, the Group has been entitled with
voting right to control and operate these entities. Thus, these entities
are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group despite of the Group
holding less than 50% of equity interests in them.

(3) These entities are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group despite of
the Group holding less than 50% of equity interests in them because the
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company hold more than 50%
equity interests in these entities to control and operate them.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

The Group disposed one insignificant subsidiary during the year which
had no material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which include
all standards and interpretations, International Accounting Standards
("IASs") and Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations)
approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

REREEEH (@

BB ARNER (@)
P -

BAERABNER2ENBRR AEREY

m  ZFR
HEEAEGI#E  ARIEREBAR -

2 REAKEREMEI ZEEZTAERTENREEUE
FIkEEZEER Rt BEAEAKHFHIR
50%M M ZEERRARIEAERANWER
o

B) BEXEERFAZFERETLNR09NKE ZEE
BRARINGAEENWBAR  RA28HER
EWBADRABSONNRENZEFHREEZEE

g0

ERINHEERAHFNEEREATEABME
EREEFBEERBINETRTNMBELAT EF
B BREAMKBARDNFBERERREBERT
«EO

FEERFAHE-—RHIFERRBLAT HH LS
PHRRUEERZE-

BETER

ZEMBRERDBEERSAERESS (BRE
STEEREES ) HENBERMBREEL (TERE
BREEQ > QEMAEKEE BERE5HER
(TEREEN) KERENZEZEETNRE)
UREBBRBGINKBERERHE - BREMEK
BATEAABRGNEHEER QA TESBIN &
EMBREDBREEERFEIRE - ZFEMBER
KUARTE TARKE) 27 (5 AREREN S
FRA TR EERERNTAH-
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

2.1

10 s\ (&EE) BERAD

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(Q) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2023 F 3R

2.1

AR SR (|)

BHEE
BEVBERREBEAQNAKRERB AR Wi L&
B BE2023F 12831 EEENMBRER -MHBELQ
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis

The Group recorded a net loss of RMB433,943,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and
bank balances (including restricted cash) of RMB7,072,920,000, short-
term borrowings of RMB13,940,557,000 including interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, proceeds from asset-backed securities,
senior notes and corporate bonds. As stipulated in the announcement
dated 20 March 2024, the Company did not repay a principal of
US$300,000,000 for certain senior notes due in March 2024. There is a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Group is using its best endeavors to resolve and strives to maintain
close communications with the noteholders, seeking out the optimal
solution to ensure that the interests of all stakeholders are safeguarded.
In view of these circumstances and the current economic environment,
the directors of the Company have given consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and its available sources of financing including
credit facilities in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The directors of the
Company also have implemented various measures to ensure that the
Group maintains adequate working capital, including:

(i) accelerating the pre-sale of properties and speeding up the
collection of sales proceeds;

(ii) closely monitoring the process of construction of its property
development projects to ensure that construction and related
payments are fulfilled and the relevant properties sold under
pre-sale arrangements are completed and delivered to the
customers on schedule, such that the Group is able to release
restricted pre-sale proceeds as planned;

(i) seeking continuously for re-financing of existing borrowings
as well as new debt financing and bank borrowings at costs
acceptable to the Group to finance the settlement of its
existing financial obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures; maintaining close communications with the
noteholders, seeking out the optimal solution to ensure that the
interests of all stakeholders are safeguarded; and

(iv)  not committing on significant capital expenditures and land
acquisitions before securing the necessary funding.

2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

2.1

2.2

N2 &@ER &R 5RAD

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

Taking into account (i) the Group's net current assets position of
RMB23,233,264,000; (i) the cash flow projection including the Group’s
ability to obtain new financing and to renew or refinance the existing
credit facilities before maturity; (iii) the availability of unpledged assets
that are immediately available for sales, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group has sufficient working capital to meet in full its
financial obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis
which assumes, inter alia, the realisation of assets and satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the values of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 12

2023 F 3R

2.1

2.2
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are applicable
to the Group are described below:

a)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in
an entity's financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general-purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Q)

N4 s¥szR EB) BRAS

Amendments to |AS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions.

The Group has applied the amendments on temporary
differences related to leases as at 1 January 2022. Upon initial
application of these amendments, the Group recognised (i)
a deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary differences
associated with lease liabilities (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available), and (i) a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences associated with right-of-use
assets at 1 January 2022, with cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the balances of retained profits and non-
controlling interests at that date. The amendments did not have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from
the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for
the affected entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar
Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar
Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group
did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the
amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that have been
issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The
Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they
become effective.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28
Venture’
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the 2020
Amendments’)’
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments’)’
Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was
removed by the IASB. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial application of IFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSS

(Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to
defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own
equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible
liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a
loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on
or before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is
required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier
finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition
reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative information
as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group'’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon
loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit
or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as
held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, properties under
development, completed properties held for sale, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Impairment of non-financial assets

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group
of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

()

(ii)

(ifi)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

2.25% to 9.50%

11.25% to 31.67%

18.00% to 32.33%

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and benefit period

Buildings

Motor vehicles

Office equipment and electronic devices
Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes
an investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-
use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” below. For a transfer from inventories
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.

Transfers to or from investment property
Transfers to or from investment property shall be made when there is a
change in use evidenced by:

(a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property;

(b) commencement of development with a view to sale, for a
transfer from investment property to inventories;

(c) end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied
property to investment property; and

(d) inception of an operating lease to another party and the
property is held for leasing, for a transfer from inventories to
investment property.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development
Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs, professional
fees and other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred
during the development period and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the statement of
financial position at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of land and
buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

Allocation of property development cost

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their respective
saleable gross floor area (“GFA") to the total saleable GFA. Construction
costs relating to units were identified and allocated specifically.
Common construction costs have been allocated according to the
saleable GFA similar to land costs.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any impairment loss
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 2 to 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.
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2023%12H31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Land use rights 40 to 50 years
Office buildings 1 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold
land held as inventories, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the
Group's policy for “properties under development” or “completed
properties held for sale”. When a right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value, in
accordance with the Group's policy for “investment properties”.

124  sER &E BRAT 203FER

24 BEEGHEE @

HE (&)

FEFEZABA

AEEHMARE (ERBHEEREEEEERER
N RENE— R R 8F E AEERIBESR
DEHEERE MERREEEEREREED
TR

@) RAFEE

FEBPRBEEME A BMEMEER (A
2B BRUEAEEE - ERREEERNAHE
ERRFITERBEBETE LM EAEN
SEHEARFHAR ERREENREE
EERINEEaESE BRENVRER
A MU ERB B2 A fEE IR & IR
BEWEINEREERE -EREEETEE
HERRH T ERFIN UBREERE) BE
BORFTIRITE W0

o st fsE BB 4 40FE 504
WAETF 1856

HRIAREREHEEENEAREEEAE
B mARRBERNITE HEAREEE
B et Pl A st B -

ERAREEAGATERANEE MR
SRR REERBBEAEMN THEHRY
3 TS EHERNE TY ) BEERRA KA
BREFEMEPZRBEAB - SLAREE
HMEaREMEZES MHEIARENE -]
BAEEREYE WER BHEHAREEY
BEMAS R BREATEE-



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of office and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It
also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS

15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”

below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e,
removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

128 ik @) BRAT 203FER

RIFERTRMEE

THREE G WER) tREENLOAFESME
EMARNNEBD) TBETIER TRIEES BIE A
EENGEBHERRRFLHR

BEZEEWIGRSRENENSER ; &

FEBEEEEREERIIRT REMNER
HEREEE ZHAE =S EERELIEN
BRTEHEXZMAMESHNREME ; RFE
MESEZEENBEAND AR KRR Z(b)
FEEBREERAREREEEAD D AR
O EEHREERIZHIE-

HEAEBEE R —HEEWRNIRS RBHNER
YT UBB2H METEREEREREERAE
B9 & B e [B1 3R LU e fR BB RO A2 2 o i 5 B S W ER Sl IR
BZEERRMORBKRLO®R  TEEEEENT
g AAEERAERARBESHEENEEEE
BREMEEBEE -FIBER T ~EE AR
MEE EEENEEREMEERTRIAER
REBNEINREENEES B

FEBRNEFREAFESHCHEEE ZCHE
EEDUZBEENRREEEAERTETES
EREAEMEZREBEETE-

EMEERE
FEBBRLIFRAFEFABGRANMAEEES T
AmRENEERR (FRREEEE) B -RHE
EBEBEDNERBRESNEMNSNREREBREKE
HEARENMERERECENEEETE WK
BARAERAMNENEXRMR - FHRTRERFE
BHEMPFRMANUERSHFERRNVEMEERT
BMFTSRIIRERE -

— R &

TARRE BB 1R 7 W 1B P& B BE 58 o L B #) YA eS8 DA 2R
FERBRIEABRIMNNEERRMS  ERLREK12
AR EELENENSHMELENEEBRIASIER
HMEERERE (1MERRREEHRE) - HETB
BRLREEARABIEMNEERRTS > B
AR ERG TEERNEENEEREIRER
B THENNER BEFEBRRBEEES -



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 =

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to
adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior notes, corporate bonds, or
payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes (collectively
called “loans and borrowings”), lease liabilities, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, and amounts due to related companies.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value,
adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability and
early redemption option (which is not closely related to the host
contract) are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early redemption
option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the senior notes is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The early
redemption option is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes are
allocated to the liability and early redemption option components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to
the early redemption option are charged to profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs relating to the debt component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period
of the senior notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

24

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

EETHER @

THERE @

M BEFESH
FERZHMBEREOSREABTEBRARER
BEBILAZGERNERIBFER MAEBRA
HERSAEAGHBEGRZSN MBEREH
nNEBRATERIAER URIFRIERIEEE
R P AR - IR E > FEBEGLUT
MEZBR2EFBYBFEREHN OREBEEHEE
B PR REE 2 RRE R B IREE  R)E
R ER) BB ZRTRASE-

BIEEE

KABIFETESEEREMBELDR EEL500 R
ZUIRR) NEARBERTREIREBIERRE
HRAEE -NETHHR aRRiEsERIEERED
RN FEFERD

RO AR (850 BB 00 B RS E 4 5 B E BRI 3k
2 8 5 P A BB 12 A EI BB IR A T3 B0 2
TEEHPBRR -

HETEERBABENIZNEREEE QA FEN
LA NEcEaERERBRIEZER D - LA
CIEER AR AR B E R - BEE
BOMEMNXIZRAFABRBONEREE > L(E
AERAMERENBRRIENARE A #HE-

RIEEITHMER
SHEERABRETERR U PRAIR

580

HERETHAGHR-—ERARTHEREEEX
WHEMEERA HIRFEENEREEXREET 8
SR ETRERLIEIREEBERERTE
R BEREENERNIBmES -

Annual Report 2023 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited

131



NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision
is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the
Group operates.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS
15.

a. Sale of properties
Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is
transferred to the customer.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.

For a property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the physical
possession, or the legal title of the completed property and the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

b. Management consulting services
Consulting services income derived from the provision of
support services in connection with development of property
projects is recognised when the relevant services are rendered,
and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the entity’'s performance as the entity
performs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

a. Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

b. Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

C Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e,, transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract cost assets
Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract cost assets are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset related. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the Company and its subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain proportion of these
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The only obligation of the
Company with respect to the central pension scheme is to make the
required contributions. No forfeited contribution under the central
pension scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
("MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong, which is a defined
contribution retirement scheme. The contributions to the MPF
Scheme are based on minimum statutory contribution requirement
of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income. No forfeited
contribution under the MPF Scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e,, assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense, finance charges and
exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
The exchange gains and losses that are adjustments to interest costs
include the interest rate differences between borrowing costs that
would be incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on foreign currency
borrowings. Such amounts are estimated based on forward currency
rates at the inception of the borrowings. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EETHHEEK @)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes more than one
accounting period, the amount of foreign exchange differences eligible
for capitalisation is determined for each annual period and is limited
to the difference between the hypothetical interest amount for the
functional currency borrowings and the actual interest incurred for
foreign currency borrowings. Foreign exchange differences that did
not meet the criteria for capitalisation in previous years should not be
capitalised in subsequent years.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial information of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency because the Group's principal
operations are carried out in the PRC. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart
from those involving estimations, management has prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption that the Group
will be able to operate as a going concern in the coming year, which
is a critical judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a
judgement by the directors, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The directors consider that the Group has the capability to continue
as a going concern and the major events or conditions, which may
give rise to business risks, that may individually or collectively cast a
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption are set out in
note 2.1 to the financial statements.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such
as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic life of
the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the
commercial property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of this property and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or
leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint venture or
an associate is based on whether the Group is determined to have
control, joint control or significant influence over the investee, which
involves judgements through the analysis of various factors, including
the Group's representation on the chief decision-making authorities of
an investee, such as the board of directors’ meetings and shareholders’
meetings, as well as other facts and circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their assets,
liabilities and transactions are included line-by-line in the Group's
consolidated financial statements, whereas the interests in joint
ventures and associates are equity accounted for as investments in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. Further details are included in note 19 to the
financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed by the parties to the contract provides
the Group with a significant benefit of financing.

Certain advance payments received from customers provide a
significant financing benefit to the Group. Although the Group
is required by the government to place all deposits and periodic
payments received from the pre-completion sales in a stakeholder
account, the Group is able to benefit from those advance payments
as it can withdraw money from that account to pay for expended
construction costs on the project. The advance payments received in
effect reduce the Group’s need to rely on other sources of financing.

The amount of the financing component is estimated at the inception
of the contract. After contract inception, the discount rate is not
updated for changes in interest rates or other circumstances, such as
a change in credit risk. The period of financing is from the time that
the payment is received until the transfer of goods to the customers is
completed.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and prepayments, other receivables and other assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and prepayments, other receivables and other assets. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type,
customer type rating and counter party)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and prepayments, other receivables and other assets
(Continued)

The expected loss rate is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product)
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the properties sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables and
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is disclosed in note 22
and note 24 to the financial statements, respectively.

Provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

The Group's properties under development and completed properties
held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Based on the Group's historical experience and the nature of the
subject properties, the Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the
costs of completion of properties under development, and the costs
to be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, the net realisable value will decrease and this may result in a
provision for properties under development and completed properties
held for sale. Such provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
the carrying value and provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each year. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As a result
of the fact that certain matters relating to the income taxes have
not been confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimate and
judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other
related policies are required in determining the provision for income
taxes to be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is based
on management’s best estimates according to the understanding of
the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon the completion of the property development projects.
The Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the
tax authorities for certain of its property development projects. The
final outcome could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT expenses and the
related provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties carried at fair value were revalued at each
reporting date based on the appraised market value provided by
independent professional valuers. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, the
Group considers information from current prices in an active market
for similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each year.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the Group's business
which includes property development, property leasing, and the
provision of management consulting services. Property leasing and
the provision of management consulting services are not significant
in revenue contribution. Thus, property development is the only
reportable operating segment of the Group, and no further operating
segment analysis thereof is presented.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group's revenue from
the external customers is derived solely from its operation in Chinese
Mainland and no non-current assets of the Group are located outside
Chinese Mainland.

Information about major customers

No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of customers
under common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group's
revenue at the end of the reporting period.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

RESEER

EEEEEAERER (BEYERE WEHEER
RUHEEFARD OKEXE-WEBERREHE
HEARFLEREMERRA BYMERERLE
ENE—AREEENE BXE27HEMEED
BB
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WA~ E U A B Uz
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2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET ARBEF T

Revenue from contracts with customers ZERPAHWRN 33,831,807 34,927,593
Revenue from other sources H RN

Property lease income YIEFRE RN 416,878 390,410

Subtotal /NET 34,248,685 35,318,003

Total “ast 34,248,685 35,318,003
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA HEMUA RIS (@)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) Disaggregated revenue information

EREHEA
@) ZIKEAEH

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
Types of goods or services EmEREES
Sale of properties YEEIHE 33,814,274 34,906,704
Management consulting services EIREH AR 17,533 20,889
Total revenue from contracts with customers B2 &4 N\ 4EZE 33,831,807 34,927,593
Timing of revenue recognition WST N i 5% B
Properties transferred at a point in time PR R RNy 2 33,814,274 34,906,704
Services transferred over time R—ER B NEEN RS 17,533 20,889
Total revenue from contracts with customers & &4\ 4838 33,831,807 34,927,593
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised TR ARESHERNKA ST (ERRSE
in the current reporting period that were included in the BRYst AN aERBAABEBITNENS
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and ETRER) :

recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous

periods:

2023 2022
20234 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT

Revenue recognised that was included in
contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Sale of properties

BEHDAATHEEN
SHETHA

ES CE 28,004,625 30,420,969
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

146  siszR (&E BRAT

Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
properties and the Group has already received the payment or
has the right to receive the payment probably.

Management consulting services

For management consulting services, the Group recognises
revenue in the amount that equals to the right to invoice
which corresponds directly with the value to the customer of
the Group’s performance to date. The Group has elected the
practical expedient not to disclose the remaining performance
obligations for these types of contracts. The majority of the
management consulting service contracts do not have a fixed
term. The term of the contracts for pre-delivery and consulting
services is generally set to expire when the counterparties notify
the Group that the services are no longer required.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December are as follows:

5.

WA~ R A R ez (48)

EREHNEA (8

(b)

BREE
BHAEERBENSENERRNT

YFEHE
BHUBEDRIMMERERT BEAEEE
W EIRRIR L P AE A U B R IR ©

E A5 RS

MEEBARBME  AERRESRENH
R BRI FERIA  MERR R EALE
BEeSsRtaERMETEBZEBEERN
E-AREBDEETTHEAE TRKEZ
FHEASHNZNGROEE - KB D BIEFESH
RFEOLEETEFH - BRUKAARB S
MNER—RRESNEOE S BENAEERT
REZERBEEMR-

RI2ANBESRERNGEOEE CREITRAE
DREIT) WX ZERETERNT :

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT

Amounts expected to be recognised TRHAME R A A £ 8

as revenue:

Within one year —FR 29,985,130 35,725,545
After one year —Ft% 4,092,005 18,551,031
Total s 34,077,135 54,276,576

2023 F 3R



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA HEMUA RIS (@)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BERESHWA (&)

(b)  Performance obligations (Continued)

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HtW A RK S 2 AT !

Other income and gains

Gain on disposal of an associate

Subsidy income

Deposit forfeiture

Investment income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Gain on disposal of items of property,

(b) BHELF (&)
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREF T
H g N Rz

HE—BEE A AB0lE = 28,616
VLT ON 5,152 7311
BURE 9,240 19,017

BAFESANBGRNEREE
SESS=TON 108 234

HEME. MERREEREE YD

plant and equipment 2,552 29
Others Hi 6,053 4,834
Total et 23,105 60,041
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PFR#REINEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): NEBMZBFERAGEF BEMNR, GEA) THEIBEE
H8R ¢
2023 2022
pLpk:2 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARET AREF T
Cost of inventories sold (excluding BEFEMREX FEEMRET
impairment losses recognised for MERFFIEHEY XS
properties under development and EOPEREYSE=)
properties held for sale) 21 30,708,935 29,777,817
Cost of services provided TEIRMARFE A 12,273 15,104
Impairment losses recognised for properties 5t B8 25 A4 £ MR PYRER 18
under development 20 646,628 111,632
Impairment losses recognised for properties 5 EH & ¥ 2 DA RE R 18
held for sale 21 352,141 233,966
Impairment of financial assets ETRIEERE 22,24 26,793 19,646
Depreciation of items of property, ME . BEMRFBEEINE
plant and equipment 13 21,993 28,406
Amortisation of intangible assets M S EE 16 4,472 3,645
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERTE 15(a) 38,839 46,921
Rental expenses HEERX 15(c) 4,492 4,969
Auditors' remuneration S GIE 10,245 9,353
Employee benefit expense (including EERANMS (BEEEXR
directors’and chief executive's BRETEASFH) :
remuneration):
Wages and salaries TERH+ 278,172 375,672
Pension scheme contributions and BARERFEHAKRAEEHN
social welfare 47,385 59,385
Total “ast 32,152,368 30,686,516
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. HBAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: B AN DT
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
Interest on loans and borrowings BERNERFE 1,997,329 2,754,540
Interest expense arising from revenue contracts SHWNEENF B 506,474 230,883
Interest on lease liabilities HEaddE 687 1,297

Total interest expense on financial liabilities not at W IFIR A FEFt NIBZN SR EE

fair value through profit or loss A E BT 4858 2,504,490 2,986,720
Less: Interest capitalised B BRI (2,208,650) (2,750,620)
Total st 295,840 236,100
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION

Directors” and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

EFERREITTHRASHM

BEERESTHRAERUTEENFHRE LHIR
AN FAR R EEAIFE383(1)(@) ~ ()~ (M OE U KA E]

RBEEFMIERD R BB T ¢

follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTT
Fees W& 810 774
Other emoluments: EL o
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYER 3,599 4,145
Pension scheme contributions and social welfare BHRESEEANRTEEF 158 159
Subtotal INE 3,757 4,304
Total st 4,567 5,078
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@ BWILIFHITES

Mr. Tse Yat Hong, Mr. Chung Chong Sun and Mr. Zhang Huagiao
were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the

Company on 5 October 2020.

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

5 B RS E ~ BRI ST A R RIEAE e A 102020
FIOASHEZERFTRENBILIFENTES-

FRXNFHIFATEENRENT !

2023 2022

2023% 20226

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTT AREF T

Mr. Tse Yat Hong HEREE 270 258
Mr. Chung Chong Sun Al A 270 258
Mr. Zhang Huagjiao RIEBARE 270 258
Total st 810 774

There was no other emolument payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil).

FAWEAEMEABIIFNTEEME (2022

£:3).
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 755 ¥ R 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFEREEITHAEHMN @

REMUNERATION (Continued)

HITESERRETHRAES
MEBREEARANBDEREREANTES - MFL
ER2019F 1081 7THEZEARNITEERAT
4EE o REAEE AR 2019FE10B17EEZES
HIOTEE - FERREENR2019F10817HEZR
EAHRTEERSRBBER -RARLER
20223825 HEE MR NERERBHESR
EANITES-

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b)
Mr. Lam Ting Keung is the chairman and an executive director
of the Company. Mr. Lam Yu was appointed as an executive
director and executive president on 17 October 2019. Mr.
Chen Chaorong was appointed as an executive director on
17 October 2019. Mr. Huang Junquan was appointed as an
executive director and the senior vice president on 17 October
2019. Mr. Chen Chaorong resigned on 25 March 2022, and Mr. Xu
Xiaodong was designated as an executive director on the same

day.
Pension
Salaries, scheme
allowances contributions
and benefits and social Total
in kind welfare remuneration
e RER RS 5 8RR
BUER Rt @Efl Fhi sz
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AE%TR AR¥TR
2023 2023
Executive directors: HTES .
~ Mr. Lam Ting Keung —-MEREE 360 14 374
- Mr. Lam Yu -MFEE 360 14 374
- Mr. Xu Xiaodong —fRNERE 1,400 65 1,465
~ Mr. Huang Junguan -B2RREEE 1,479 65 1,544
Total fast 3,599 158 3,757
2022 20224
Executive directors: HOTESE:
- Mr. Lam Ting Keung —-MEREE 360 12 372
- Mr. Lam Yu —-MFEE 360 12 372
- Mr. Chen Chaorong —BREAREE (R2022F
(resigned on: 25 March 2022) 3E2SHET) 275 15 290
— Mr. Xu Xiaodong —fRINERE 1,400 60 1,460
~ Mr. Huang Junguan —BRRELE 1,750 60 1810
Total st 4145 159 4304

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HEREHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors FREARSHEEBIEMBES (202260 . MBLE
(2022: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note B)  HFMEBEN EXMsE8 =% (2028 1 =
8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the three (2022: %) BEARAEETHERSTHRABNESHES
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief REARANFBEFBUOT

executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARHEFTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZMTEAREYER 3,284 2,958
Pension scheme contributions and social welfare BAREFTEHEHAR LT EEF 170 142
Total “ast 3,454 3,100
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid N E T EBNFEETIFRSTHEAENR
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as EEEEAZUT
follows:

Nil to HK$2,000,000 £ £),000,00078 7T 3 3
10. INCOME TAX 10. FR1GIR

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising AEBBRAERRE AR EMEKEFRERKE A
in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members of the Group EReEELENRBENMBREREERHMAAE
are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Mo-REREHENRUEREN A AR KRAERP
Cayman Islands, the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman HENEMREBELHEFMAINKWBE AT EEA
Islands and British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax. The BNERPER AEERSEZMRLNME A
Group's subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong were not liable for BIRBMMPTER  EAZERANEE2023F128
income tax as they did not have any assessable profits currently arising JNHIEEEYENREBELETAERERFIE-

in Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Chinese Mainland were subject
to PRC corporate income tax with a tax rate of 25% for the year except
for the following subsidiary:

10. FR1E# (@)

BRUUT I B 2 B Sh > 2 £ B 5 R B P9 3t A B0 Y /8
NEN AR 25%RI I B 1 B (2R PRGN

Corporate
income
Company name tax rate
ATLTE EEM/RE
Chongging Jinhui Changjiang* BEESERIEMERRAS 15%

& According to the Announcement on Further Implementation of * REEBERRFBAEFEHA RFORA B AR

Corporate Income Tax Policy for the development of the Western
Regions (2012 No.12) issued by the State Taxation Administration and
the extension of the Corporate Income Tax Policy for the development
of the Western Regions (2020 No.23) jointly issued by the Ministry of
Finance, State Taxation Administration and National Development and
Reform Commission, Chongging Jinhui Changjiang, subsidiaries of the
Group, is qualified to enjoy the preferential tax policy of western regions
enterprise income tax of 15% from 2011 to 2030.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs and
other property development expenditures. The Group has estimated,
made and included in taxation a provision for LAT according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant Chinese Mainland tax laws
and regulations. The LAT provision is subject to the final review and
approval by the local tax bureau.

BEAMOEFRMEREAENAE) (2012651258 »
UERHFBRS BRREEFRERERENRESR
EEMEEARN(ARIEET D AREE D EMRBRE
KR AEY (20205 5235%) » B2011EFE20305 » A&
EfNBAREESRREIAEREASuNAELE
TERKEBERE

T IEE R THHZ BR AT T 30% = 60%H) R AR 2 1 h
EEBEEW > T MR ERER DY EHEERSHRIER A
B ST (BL4E 3t Al 7 ~ 8 TR AR 2 e ELfth 4 2 e 3%
FI52) - AEMRBEAMPEAMIRT ERRIERSN
MEDTHIBERMGE  FHRSHERIBEE - £t
EREBERAHEMMNBHBAETREEL M E

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFx AR#F T

Current tax ENEAFRIE :
Corporate income tax TEMER 581,365 1,185,375
LAT THIIBER 308,621 305,933
Deferred tax (note 19) IEEFRIE (MI5E19) 241,714 131,977
Total tax charge for the year FNRIBL HAERE 1,131,700 1,623,285
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FR1S#R (&)

RATREKRBAM B ADEMAES E R
EMEXFEFRANGEN BB/ RMAS > UKk
BRARE BUEERE) LBEHERZOEIRMT :

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax expense at
the effective income tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate
(i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate are as follows:

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®FT AREFT

Profit before tax B inx=npakil 697,757 3,706,435

At the statutory income tax rate WEEFSMESAE 174,439 926,609
Lower tax rates for specific provinces A IS R S R X

or enacted by local authority 16,295 (7,677)

Expenses not deductible for tax AR 14,625 15,902
Profits and losses attributable to EEPENBENBEGRENREE

joint ventures and associates 24,551 60,403
Deductible temporary differences and tax losses IR ENtEERBEFEN A

utilised from previous years 2 NIERE (37,356) (54,155)
Unrecognised deductible temporary differences KRR ARG REERNRIERE

and tax losses 705,187 473,236

Adjustment of current tax for previous years B FEERNERR B 2,493 (20,483)

Provision for LAT TG EREE 308,621 305,933

Tax effect on LAT THIBERNRBETE (77,155) (76,483)

Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BAEBEERREABNRELT L 1,131,700 1,623,285

The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures
amounting to RMB46,000 (2022: RMB163,673,000) and RMB33,120,000
(2022: RMB244,211,000), respectively, is included in “Share of profits and
losses of joint ventures and associates”in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

BERB RN RERIET -

REEEDEBHELNTDREECEBERES NS
AR #46,00070 (20224 : AR#8163,673,00070) K& A
FR£33,120,0007T ( 20224F : AR #244,211,0007T) > ¥
FAGEEREREMEERARAMOLEEPER

Tax payable in the consolidated statement of financial position represents: RERBERARANECMREZINT !

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARHEFT

Tax payables: FEfIIRIA
Corporate income tax TEFREHR 1,665,418 1,162,538
LAT T HIBETR 4,073,670 4,107,552
Total tax payable e IR TEAR 28 5,739,088 5,270,090

11. BE

EEEABEIREHE2023F12831BIEEENX
BARG B (20224F : #®) o

11. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

12.

154 w@zR Em) BRAT

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount is based
on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
4,045,227,000 (2022: 4,045,227,000) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 was based on 1 share of the Company as
at 17 October 2019, 1 share of the Company issued on 6 March 2020,
and 3,399,999,998 ordinary shares of the Company issued under
the capitalisation issue occurred on 29 October 2020, as if these
additional shares issued under the capitalisation issue had been in
issue throughout the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. On 29
October 2020, the Company issued 600,000,000 new ordinary shares.
On 25 November 2020, the over-allotment option has been partially
exercised and the Company allotted and issued 45,227,000 additional
shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 in
respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary
shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts is based
on:

12.

BABEBEDFAEARLER
(B518) " EF

SREABRMSENRESQAGDZTERBZFEA
EHFEFREMNEFRAEETETERMEFT K
4,045,227,0008% (20224F : 4,045,227,0008%) 5+ & o

AU EEE2023ER2022E12831B IEEESKHRE
7 (B518) /BFINZ @RISR 2019
FI10B17B AR A RRD ~ 122020386 H A A A
BT MD RBE R 2020108298 & £ ERL
BT AT A AR T13,399,999,998% Z i@ G (M UNR
BEAMMEBITMETHZERINRDENRE 2023
FER202F 12831 HIEEE2EBE#TT) stER/H -
5220208108290 » & A B 847600,000,0008% 1 & &8
B e 522020511 8250  BERKREE R DITEAK
N B &S K 85 1745,227,0000% BB NG AR ©

HE2023FEK2022F 12831 HLIEEE  ER# Y
TSN ERER BEER) B EEEHRERE TIER
AEEREH E2023F K2022F12831H IEFEE I 8
TERAEBETEHEZER-

BREXREERAN DU TEETE

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREF T
(Loss)/earnings (&548) &F)
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity BABREERGIEA AEWL
holders of the parent (&548) & F) (581,248) 1,705,026
Number of shares
Ak 4E]
2022
20224
Shares B 19
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in FENBE BRI T 8R
issue during the year 4,045,227,000 4,045,227,000
(Loss)/earnings per share K (B8 B
Basic and diluted B i RMB(0.14) yuan RMBO0.42 yuan

AER#(0.14)7T AR #0427
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME - -BEREZRE

Office
equipment
Motor and electronic Leasehold

Buildings vehicles devices improvements Total

mamER  HENE
BF RE  BFKE e Hit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARWTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

31 December 2023: 2023128318 ¢
At 31 December 2022 and 120225128318 K
1 January 2023 2023F181H
Cost PR 648,609 138,546 87,090 74,066 948,311
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (164,569) (125,967) (68,207) (70,545) (429,288)
Net carrying amount REZE 484,040 12,579 18,883 3,521 519,023

At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated $82023&181H,

depreciation and impairment NBREHTERAE 484,040 12,579 18,883 3,521 519,023
Additions wE 383,484 516 2,897 2,144 389,041
Disposals HE (299) (682) (434) - (1,415)
Depreciation provided during the FNEREINE (o)
year (note 6) (13,058) (1,320) (5,339) (2,276) (21,993)
At 31 December 2023, net of 120235128318,
accumulated depreciation NEREHTE 854,167 11,093 16,007 3,389 884,656
At 31 December 2023; 12023F128318 ¢
Cost A 1,032,093 139,062 89,987 76,210 1,337,352
Accumulated depreciation RAMERAE
and impairment (177,926) (127,969) (73,980) (72,821) (452,696)
Net carrying amount REZE 854,167 11,093 16,007 3,389 884,656
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13. ¥ -BRERZHE @)

Office
equipment
Motor  and electronic Leasehold
Buildings vehicles devices  improvements Total
WARER HEME
BF _E ETEE £ st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTrn AR%ETx ARETR ARETR
31 December 2022: 20225128318 ¢
At 31 December 2021 and 202112831 %
1 January 2022 2022F181H
Cost 5% 622,512 141,551 88177 72218 924,458
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (150,744) (126612) (63,551) (65,377) (406,284)
Net carrying amount REZE 471,768 14,939 24,626 6,841 518,174
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated ~ F320228 1810,
depreciation and impairment NBREHTERAE 471,768 14,939 24,626 6,841 518,174
Additions wE 26,097 - 1688 1,848 29,633
Disposals HE = (161) 217) - (378)
Depreciation provided during ENEEEITE (ko)
the year (note 6) (13,825) (2,199) (7.214) (5,168) (28,4006)
At 31 December 2022, net of 12022812H831H,
accumulated depreciation MBRRTE 484,040 12,579 18,883 3,521 519,023
At 31 December 2022: 120225128318 ¢
Cost 3% 648,609 138,546 87,090 74,066 948,311
Accumulated depreciation REHMERRE
and impairment (164,569) (125,967) (68,207) (70,545) (429,288)
Net carrying amount IREFE 484,040 12,579 18,883 3,521 519,023

R2023F 128310 AEENYE - lE &R EHRE
EEHIBEEANEBERNIBTREMERIEER
(F35E32) (2022%F : AR #22,263,0007T) ©

As at 31 December 2023, there were no items of Group's property,
plant and equipment which have been pledged to secure asset-backed
securities granted to the Group (note 32) (2022: RMB22,263,000).
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

14. BEYE

Under
construction Completed Total
T2 BT “azt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®EF T AREEF T ARBTFT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 F2202241 81 H MV ERTEE 675,700 13,264,100 13,939,800
Transfer from properties under R EREEPYE (sE20)
development (note 20) 1,572,326 - 1,572,326
Transfer to owner-occupied property 3% B RY) % - (26,500) (26,500)
Net gain from a fair value adjustment ‘A F{EFAEFTEUREFEE 713,674 130,900 844,574
Carrying amount at 31 December 5220228F12831H X
2022 and 1 January 2023 20231 A1ENEREE 2,961,700 13,368,500 16,330,200
Transfer from properties under EEERAERYE (H:E20)
development (note 20) 65,478 - 65,478
Transferred B - (220,000) (220,000)
Transfer from completed properties BEEZERFEHENT T
held for sale (note 21) (M$5E21) - 310,260 310,260
Net gain from a fair value adjustment ‘A F{EFAE TR FEE 106,222 253,540 359,762
Carrying amount at F220235F12831 BERTEAE
31 December 2023 3,133,400 13,712,300 16,845,700

The Group's investment properties are situated in Chinese Mainland.
The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2023 based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, Shenzhen Cushman & Wakefield
Real Estate Evaluation Co., Ltd. and Savills Valuation and Professional
Services (China) Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers,
at RMB16,845,700,000 (2022: RMB16,330,200,000). The Group's senior
finance manager and the Group's financial controller decide, after
approval from the board of directors of the Company, to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group's senior finance manager has discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations are performed for financial reporting.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB7,132,800,000 (2022:
RMB4,290,100,000) were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 31).

AEFRNREYEURTREAM AEBNKEY
ENDERBUEXCERGHEMTPEMITEET
EREHERAB -BEETEMENG (RI) B
RRABIME—KFEES (PE) GEKEEERD
BERABMWFEMEN2023F 12831 HEGEAARE
16,845,700,0007T ( 20224F : AR #16,330,200,0007C) ©
AEENSRHBEERERMBBRELEATE
EEHAEBRACEZEII N HEMESETEEYEN
SEREE BEREREMSN# - BE - BIER
EERFEEEE - AEENSRMESEDH G
BEMFETHBERSHENGERS RMEELERE

(FEE

R2023F 12831 B AEEAKRAEANOARE
7,132,800,0007T (20224 : A R %4,290,100,0007T) B93&
EYMECER AXERERNBTREMMERE
AR (HFE31) ©
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 75 R B 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB2,938,900,000 (2022:
RMB8,396,000,000) were pledged to asset-backed securities granted to
the Group (note 32).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB3,069,600,000 (2022:
RMB1,044,200,000) were pledged to corporate bonds granted to the
Group (note 34).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group's investment properties:

Recurring fair value measurement for: AU TEEETN
REMRTEHE:

14. REME B

R2023F 1283 1B AEBERKREE AABARTE
2,938,900,0007T (20224 : A E%8,396,000,0007T) BI3&
EYMECER AXEBNEERPESFERT
£¥32) ©

R2023F 1283 B AEBEEEEmEAARE
3,069,600,0007T (20224 : A E#%51,044,200,0007T) BRI
EYECER AAEENBSHIERIF (5E34) ©

AFERR
TRAPFEBMRENENATEHEER

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 using
1202312831 BER U TRAIE
AFEHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (T )] (Level 3)
HIER EATHE EATARZR
iEHRE BAHE BAE
(E—%) (=) (B=4) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AE®TR AE®TR AE®ETR

Commercial properties BEME
under construction i - - 3,133,400 3,133,400
Completed E®T - - 13,712,300 13,712,300
Total st - - 16,845,700 16,845,700
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

14. IREYE @)
NIEE R (4E)

Fair value measurement as
at 31 December 2022 using
12022612831 B EB U T R

AFEHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIER BEXAIHRE ERFAERER
MIENRE AR BAHE
E—R (BEZR) (B=%H) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Recurring fair value measurement for: MU TEEETH
REMRTEHE

Commercial properties mENE
under construction B S = 2,961,700 2,961,700
Completed BBT = = 13,368,500 13,368,500
Total st - - 16,330,200 16,330,200

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

NAEFEE F—HREF _ R BEEAFEFEN
R NESBANESEHE=ZMR (20202F 1)

UTAREMELEMBNGERTREZEARK
BE

Range or weighted average
31 December
BEHMETS
128318

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs 2022
fE{E &K EXTARRAARRE 20224

Completed commercial properties Income approach Expected rental value (per square metre RMBO0.4-16.2 RMB0.6-16.3
BETHENE Wegs & and per day) AR#B04TE AE#O6TE
BHRREEE AR®¥16.27T AR®1637T
(BTHKRKRER)

(Capitalisation rate 3%-6% 3%-6%

BERE
Commercial properties under Asset based approach Expected selling price (per square metre) RMB3,191-4,462 RMB2,290-8,900
construction BEEMRE FHHEBR (BEHK) AR%31915E AR#22007tE
TEBENE 4,4627T AR 890070
Residual method Expected profit margin 12% N/A
FeE R NEA
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

14.

160 @R (EE) BRAS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The fair value of completed commercial properties is determined using
the income approach.

The income approach by taking into account the rental income of
the properties derived from the existing leases and/or achievable in
the existing market with due allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the leases, which have been then capitalised to determine
the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate. Where appropriate,
reference to the comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market has also been considered.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate would result in a significant decrease/increase in the
fair value of the investment properties.

The fair value of commercial properties under construction which are
at the initial construction stage is determined using the asset-based
method and residual method.

The asset-based method is to use the market comparison method to
evaluate the fair value of the land use right and consider the book
value of the construction and installation costs incurred to obtain the
fair value of the project under construction.

The residual method is based on the assumption that the property is
newly completed in accordance with the latest development proposal
in terms of property uses, respective saleable areas and construction
schedules to establish the gross development value (“GDV"). The total
development costs including construction costs, contingency costs,
professional fees, infrastructure costs, management costs, financial
costs and developer’s profit are estimated and deducted from the
established GDV. The resultant residual figure is then adjusted back
to the valuation date to arrive at the market value of the property
interest concerned. The income capitalisation method has been used in
estimating the GDV, the basis of capitalisation of estimated net income
derived from the property with consideration of the prevailing market
yields.

A significant increase/decrease in the expected profit margin would

result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the
investment properties.

2023 F 3R

14.

REME @

AT ERER (B
R THEYENATEDERWREEETE -

KWaEAERBBt AUREHERB A/ HERE
T LRI ERSBA BEEMBEENER
WABNIFEEGE TERBEENEACRES
EREUEEATE- ETEEBR T TEEESE
TS A E LRI ER S

HEESEEREBEM RO EERREYENR
FEREBIEI, LD o EARICEKRIBIE M, B E
BIREYEN A TFEKREBRL G0

ERBENENLATERERVBERBEERRE
R RIEREHERE ©

EEEWRZRER TG LBUA R G L EAEN
AFE WEEZERRZEEERNANREEN
ERERBEENATE.

REREDERZYEAREERMERESR EVER
BEMTHEEERERIE RS @) MTEK
N EReE (EREE) - @BRERE (BFER
ERAE NARE BEBER BEMA EERE
BHERERERE ) BESH WNREREL
NERBE BRRMBUNTGHFRAELDER
EEH SHAERYERENTE - WABXRIEE
BREErERBE RBZYENGSTIRA T
NEARCEE TERBRITHIHREE
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15.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office buildings. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with
lease periods of 40 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office buildings
generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Office equipment
generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually
of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

HE

REEFEREAA
FEEARAERFTHESH -BRAFH -
AR AT WA S > A R40E50F > MR
BzE I MBEENGER RASEB M ERRIE-
MAERFHNEABE S E3F - MAEREHVAL
BEANEAIUT R/ HEHNEEBREIRE —
EmE AEEATAAERNIIALTEERDHE
HEBE-

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FFEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the AEMFAFEAREENRBDERESHNT :
movements during the year are as follows:
Land use Office
rights buildings Total
T fERE AT it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBFT ARETFIT
As at 1 January 2022 720221818 762,779 15,990 778,769
Additions wnE - 12,384 12,384
Depreciation charge (note 6) EER (Hse) (31,162) (15,759) (46,921)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1420225 12H31H
1 January 2023 ’22023%F1H1H 731,617 12,615 744,232
Additions RE 24,850 4141 28,991
Disposal HeE - (4,717) (4,717)
Depreciation charge (note 6) TEER (Mate) (31,582) (7,257) (38,839)
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%12H31H 724,885 4,782 729,667

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's land use rights with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB608,167,000
(2022: RMB636,345,000) were pledged to secure bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 31).

As at 31 December 2023, there were no Group's land use rights
were pledged to asset-backed securities granted to the Group
(note 32) (2022: RMB19,197,000).

R2023F 12831 H AEBEEEEEANAR
#608,167,00070 (20224F : A R #636,345,0007T)
HNEIMEREEER  AAEEBRNETR
HAER IR IR (i5E31) ©

R2023F 128310 AEEWE T HEREDS

Bif > AXREBNEEIRFESFERS (3
32) (20224F : AEK19,197,0007T) ©
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) NEBEREEA (@
(b) Lease liabilities b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FERNHESENREERESHNT :

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARH#FTT
Carrying amount at 1 January F1A1BNEREE 14,090 16,951
New leases WmHEE 4141 12,384
Disposal HE (5,570) =
Accretion of interest recognised FENERF S IE 0
during the year (note 7) (FF5E7) 687 1,297
Payments (NN (7,497) (16,542)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12B31HMREE 5,851 14,090
Analysed into: pANiIP= I
Current portion BRHAER 7> 3,354 10,747
Non-current portion JEBPHERER 7 2,497 3,343
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 44 to HESENRE DT BN MR RW T4 0

the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) BHHEREBZAERTEENT
to leases are as follows:

2023 2022

2023%F 20228

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT AR®BT T

Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEaGHE (sx7) 687 1,297
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FEREEEINERS (Misto)

(note 6) 38,839 46,921
Expense relating to short-term leases (note 6) E5ZHATE E B RABIFE T (Fi5E6) 2,201 3317
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets SRR EBEEERERRNBES

(note 6) (F5E6) 2,291 1,652
Total amount recognised in profit or loss P18 NSRRI AR R 44,018 53,187
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) NEBEREEA (@
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows (d) HERSRHEELRANKMENHEERTREN
relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in RRBERE DA BN M FRRWEF37(0K
notes 37(c) and 44, respectively, to the financial statements. 44 0
The Group as a lessor REBEAHAA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under operating FEEREKEHELZHEHAEREY = (W&
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the 14) - HEFRR—RERALZMERZSTRER
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent RIRFH SR RHEATETERRE AEEERD
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental WERTETUA R ARE416,878,0007T (20224F @ A
income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB416,878,000 R #5390,410,0007T) » HEFEE N M B RKRMIEES 0
(2022: RMB390,410,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.
31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the R2023F 1283 1H  AEBRRHEHEBERBHEAEMRS
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its Z AP REE RS E R EIBCRAIRE ERIEN T ¢
tenants are as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSBTT AR®BTFT
Within one year —FN 580,737 525,827
After one year but within two years —FE L EEMEFUN 571,376 477,505
After two years but within three years MELEEB=FUN 419,245 472,495
After three years but within four years =F L FBIEERN 383,978 350,727
After four years but within five years WEL EBRELN 226,570 341,894
After five years EFELE 934,851 456,141
Total “ast 3,116,757 2,624,589
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 755 ¥ R 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. E.EE

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET AREF T

Software ]

Cost [N 50,631 41,569
Accumulated amortisation Kty (26,432) (22,796)
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated amortisation 5318 1B BIALZS, 0Bk B =+ 84 24,199 18,773
Additions RE 1,970 9,153
Disposals HeE - (82)
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) FENE BEE#E (Hse) (4,472) (3,645)
At 31 December 128318 21,697 24,199
Cost D% 52,601 50,631
Accumulated amortisation Rty (30,904) (26,432)
Net carrying amount BRERE 21,697 24,199
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. REECE¥NESE

2023
20234

RMB’000
AR T

Share of net assets MEEEFE 2,581,944

FA TS SRR Y 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

2022
20224
RMB'000
AREFT

2,421,726

The Group's receivable and payable balances with joint ventures are

disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements. IR RMI5E41 0

(a)

REB R A E b 2 R U FE A 7R IR 45 BRI B 1 Y

The directors of the Group consider that none of the joint (a) R2023F 128318 AEER AU BEAEGE

ventures as at 31 December 2023 were significant to the
Group and thus the individual financial information of the joint
ventures is not disclosed (31 December 2022: Nil). The following
table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the BER
Group's joint ventures that are not individually material:

2023

20235

RMB’000

AREBTT

Share of the joint ventures' loss for the year ME & & BEFENEE (99,360)

Share of the joint ventures' total NMEEELELEBEBRREE

comprehensive loss (99,360)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEERGE XL ENEKREE

investments in the joint ventures 2,581,944

TrEHAEABE WS
BRI RIFE (2022128310 @ F) o« F&RF|
RAEBTIEENBEANGECENSHH

1 AV E R R 75

2022
20224
RMB'000
AREF T
(732,632)
(732,632)

2,421,726

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
impairment of RMB836,110,000 for investments in joint ventures
is necessary as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB750,278,000).
The joint ventures have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

R2023F12B31H A AR EERAHBLE
REERELETIRAE AR836,110,0007T
(20224 : AR%8750,278,00070) c &R
ZEVBERRANEAER EAR.
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 755 ¥ R 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. RBEQRNIKE

Share of net assets

DIEEEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFT
5,705,529 5,688,636

The Group's receivable and payable balances with associates are
disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements.

(a) The directors of the Group consider that none of the associates
as at 31 December 2023 were significant to the Group and
thus the individual financial information of the associates is not
disclosed (31 December 2022: Nil). The following table illustrates
the aggregate financial information of the Group's associates
that are not individually material:

7 £ [ L B A B) IO PR UR R FE SRR IB AL BRI BB R B
IR RMI5E41 0

(@) FR2023F1N2A3H  AEBERA LB M E
NEVHAEBBE A W= A BNERMH
BRI RIFE (2022128310 @ F) o« F&RF|
TAEBETIEERBEANEEQABNE R
mER

Share of the associates' profit for the year LB & A B F
Share of the associates’ total DEHENT L

comprehensive income
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
investments in the associates

FEBRBEQNDRENBEREE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

Pt 139 491,020
ENLONCES

139 491,020

5,705,529 5,688,636

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
impairment of RMB31,345,000 for investments in associates is
necessary as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB14,590,000). The
associates have been accounted for using the equity method in
these financial statements.
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19. DEFERRED TAX

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

19. JRIEMRIR

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are RENREEREEERBENEBHWT -
as follows:
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E
Fair value
Losses  adjustments
available  arising from Expenses Unrealised
for offsetting financial ~ for offsetting revenue in
against future assets  against future Impairment contract Accrued Lease
taxable profits at FVTPL taxable profits of assets liabilities LAT liabilities Total
BRATERA
AfiEE  BRNER HHRE
ARERR BEELH  ERREH RNBEN ezt L3t
HANEGE  ATERE islib BERME ARERKE 1R HEAR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR AR®Tz ARBTn ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 20251818 174,207 785 216,958 132,830 1925,59 801,730 4812 3256918
Deferred tax credited/(charged) Rt A/ (B3 E) Ba
to profit or loss during the year EXEARIE (Fi5£10)
(note 10) 197,392 (785) 28516 59,579 (477,870) 17,725 (1,289) (176,732)
At 31 December 2022 and R02E128318 R
1 January 2023 203%1818 371,599 - 245,474 192,409 1,447,726 819,455 3,523 3,080,186
Deferred tax credited/(charged) M5t A/ (B E) BHEMN
to profit or loss during the year JESEIRIE (HiE10)
(note 10) 90,177 - 27,365 6,639 (402,979) 53,524 (668) (225,942)
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12831H 461,776 = 272,839 199,048 1,044,747 872,979 2,855 2,854,244
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NOTES,;TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7S SR WM EE
31 December 2023
20235128318

19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 19. IRIEMIE (&)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are RERRERBE EREBNESHMT | (@
as follows: (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE (R
Fair value
adjustments
Fair value arising from
adjustments Fair value business
arising from  adjustments combinations
Accrued financial  rising from and costs Depreciation
financial assetsat  investment to obtain of investment Right-of-
income FVTPL properties contracts properties use assets Total
RATE EBaH
SAREMN EEM
SRIEE REWE ATESRE
EEN EEH  RERGEH
EsHBRA ATFERE ATERE WEE REVERE FHAEEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTRn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRT
At 1 January 2022 120221818 145,695 = 1,771,4% 877,248 134,246 4570 2933255
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to £/ (5t A) /IR EBREN
profit or loss during the year RIERIE (fiEE0)
(note 10) 187,563 786 211,124 (471,114) 28,302 (1,416) (44,755)
At 31 December 2022 and 12022 12A318
1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 333,258 786 1,982,620 406,134 162,548 3,154 2,888,500
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to £/ (5t A) /I EBEH
profit or loss during the year EIERIE (EE10)
(note 10) 18,004 (249) 96,670 (136,292) 38,418 (779) 15,772
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 351,262 537 2,079,290 269,842 200,966 2375 2,904,272
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19.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position
amounting to RMB567,317,000 (2022: RMB429,432,000). The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting
purposes:

19.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

EIEMR A (48)

TEVME > £3EA ARKES567,317,0007T (20225 © A
R #429,432,0007T) WA TREREBEEEREEER
EAMBRIERNEHE UTAMMBERREND
IEIERRIBAEBR D AT -

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBEF T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the MRS BIRRRAESRHN
consolidated statement of financial position RERIBEEZFE 2,286,927 2,650,754
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the MRS BRI RAERHN
consolidated statement of financial position RIERIEE(E$58 (2,336,955) (2,459,068)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Chinese Mainland. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group’s fund will be retained in Chinese Mainland
for the expansion of the Group's operation, so it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB2,282,932,000 (2022: RMB2,165,284,000).

RIB(CPEARKENEATERERZE) THEAMAK
IR ERECERBIMNEEEEIRMNREKEU
T0%RYTEIOAR o AR E H2008E 1 B 1 HEEER L EA
52200712831 BB EEBNRF o i &0 B Py ith 2232 56
REEEMEDARBIERWHE T XRBRK
FEINME - REENBARER 0% AL KEH
BARZETEPTERME LB AR M BE2008FE181
HEEEENRBAFT IR IR B AMTEINRM -

R2023F 12A31H AR B RAEBERAEH
P B 3L BB B A B BB AN TBIN M I R BB L B A FE
BN REREAELEREBE AR EERTA
AEENESHMIEEAERNKCEMRAER
HRE > WZENB AN AERREKADTFEDIK
BRARF o B0 FE R 4R AR T8 & 18 AV A B P9 B
BRAEANKEMENEREREBEAENARK
2,282,932,0007T (20224F : AR ™82,165,284,0007T) ©
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B4 755 ¥ R 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

19. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

19. IRIEMIA (4)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the TR THIEERPIRLEREEE !

following items:

2023 2022

20234 20226

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BTFT AREFTT

Tax losses MIERT I8 6,958,127 4,518,043

Deductible temporary differences AR R = RE 751,415 510,203

7,709,542 5,028,246
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the M E BRI IEHN O] BE B 1B R R FE SR AR i A 23R »
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future A R A TR TE A 1B FE SRR IEFR TE & & © 122023
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not F12831H ZEB N E A AR 156,958,127,00075
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB1,739,532,000 (2022: (20224 © AR ¥54,518,043,00070) BYES 1B FE ST IR IE
RMB1,129,511,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately MEBEBEXNARME,739,532,0007T (20224 . ARHE
RMB6,958,127,000 (2022: RMB4,518,043,000), that can be carried 1,129,511,0007T) » Z EE518 7] T 45 & DUIE 84 R 2R fE
forward to offset against future taxable income. These tax losses will FRURA c ZERIBEREIBAE D BN & E 20245 ~ 2025
expire up to and including years 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027 and 2028. FE 20265 ~ 2027 F2028F (M EIEZEFE) Eme

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

20. BASERYE

2023 2022

20235 20226

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TFT AREFT

At the beginning of the year REH) 88,551,479 106,108,703

Additions NE 9,047,793 14,364,406

Transferred to investment properties (note 14) EEFELEYE ([H5E14) (65,478) (1,572,326)

Transferred to completed properties held for sale R ZEIFEHEN IR T Y

(note 21) (fFEE21) (34,440,590) (30,575,620)

Impairment losses (note 6) HEE R (Mis6) (646,628) (111,632)
Impairment losses transferred to completed EREHEFHENRIYERE

properties held for sale (note 21) 518 (MF5E21) 133,527 337,948

At the end of the year REX 62,580,103 88,551,479
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20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023

2023%F12831H

20. HEPYE @

The movements in provision for impairment of properties under HEPYERERENESUWT !

development are as follows:

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AEREFT
At the beginning of the year REH] (273,640) (499,956)
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BB ERBE (o) (646,628) (111,632)
Impairment losses transferred to completed EREREHENRIYE
properties held for sale (note 21) BEEE (5E21) 133,527 337,948
At the end of the year REXR (786,741) (273,640)
The Group's properties under development are situated on leasehold AEBPBEERYEMURPEAMPIEE i1 Lo
lands in Chinese Mainland.
At 31 December 2023, the Group's properties under development with R2023F 12A31H  AEBEEEDEOARE
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB32,267,551,000 32,267,551,0007T (20224 : AR #540,677,640,0007T) BY
(2022: RMB40,677,640,000) were pledged to secure bank and other HTHERIYECER AFEEERNETRAE
borrowings granted to the Group (note 31). MERIEIER (MI5E31) ©
COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 21. HEHEBEIWE
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AEREFT
At the beginning of the year K& 12,472,551 12,246,662
Transferred from properties under development EIEEREPYE (sF20)

(note 20) 34,440,590 30,575,620
Transferred to cost of inventories sold (note 6) HBEREEFER N (Mste) (30,708,935) (29,777,817)
Transferred to cost of investment property (note 14) E =R EYZE (f:E14) (310,260) =
Impairment losses transferred from properties under 2 43 B 5 2% W) A RER 1B

development (note 20) (FF5%E20) (133,527) (337,948)
Impairment losses (note 6) BEEE (Mske) (352,141) (233,966)
At the end of the year REXR 15,408,278 12,472,551

Annual Report 2023 Radiance Holdings (Group) Company Limited

171



NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2023
20235128318

21. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

(Continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of completed properties
held for sale are as follows:

21.

FIFHECETYE @

FEHEERIY R RMERFNESUT !

2023 2022

2023%F 20226

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTFT

At the beginning of the year REF]) (912,117) (805,486)

Impairment losses transferred to cost of sales IR EHEMANRERE 269,316 465,283
Impairment losses transferred from properties under 213 B B35 H ) Z R E KB

development (note 20) (¥ 5E20) (133,527) (337,948)

Impairment losses recognised BHERBEEE (352,141) (233,966)

At the end of the year REX (1,128,469) 912,117)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s completed properties held
for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB2,045,355,000 (2022: RMB1,902,643,000) were pledged to secure
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 31).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s completed properties held
for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB997,637,000 (2022: Nil) were pledged to corporate bonds granted
to the Group (note 34).

The value of completed properties held for sale was assessed at the
end of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the carrying
value exceeds its net realisable value. The net realisable value is
determined by reference to the selling price based on the prevailing
market price less applicable selling expenses.

172 &m@iEmR EE) BRAB  2023FFH

R2023F 12A31H AEBEBREESNNARE
2,045,355,00075 (20224 © AR ¥£1,902,643,0007T) BIFF
FHEEBIVECER AXEFERNETR
HAERIEIRIT (F5E31) o

R2023F 12831 H AEBBARAEINANARLE
997,637,0007T (20224 : &) WIFELEBR IYERE
i AXNEBERPABBEHIEIRIF (5E34) ©

FELEERTYENEBENSREMARTMH M
SREEBAEAZRFE ARREHE I #IRF
BEESEERNERTENHEERAERNHEER
MHEE-



22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

22. B EWRFIA

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

Trade receivables B EE R EIE 41,682 51,530
Impairment BAE (2,224) (1,020)
Total 4t 39,458 50,510

The Group's trade receivables primarily consist of receivables from its
property sales and property lease. Proceeds from property sales and
property lease are generally received in accordance with the terms
stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Trade receivables
are settled based on the progress payment schedule stipulated
in the contract. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

FEENEZRRRETEZESREAYEHER
MEBERKTIR - REMEHERYERENMR
BRIEEEREE B3R E R IR RULE B8 WK
BRBEANTANEESNRBRES ~EER
NEAREFI ARG Z BUWRIER R A EE BTN
REEERBRERME SREEANB TR
ek BN EX Pt BEARE B E Z RUGRIES K
REFAEFR TBEEREPNEERR AEHT
BEREBRREBEEHFSAEARMRIAMEHR
FHETHE - & Z EUGRIEL A 518 o

RESHRERERARRINBEREFRNESE
WCRRIBRIBRES DATIN T

2023 2022
20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AEBTT ARBFT

Within 1 year —F MR 39,042 31,132
1to0 3 years —E=fF 416 18,944
Over 3 years BE=FU L - 434
Total st 39,458 50,510
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31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. B RWRIAE (@)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade BESRWRIEREBEREEZENT !

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

2023%F 20226

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREBTFT

At beginning of year REH] 1,020 1,253

Impairment losses (note 6) BERBE (fE6) 1,204 (233)

At the end of the year REXR 2,224 1,020
An impairment analysis is performed at the end of each reporting REREEAREAREEREETRES T U2
period using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. BHEEEB - BEXDERAFTHEMUBEERELDN
The provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of various ZEZEDWABNNRRET Xt E R IAE
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects MEER -EBERERNRESBHISNERBETE
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and EE BARRRRRLEHEGTEANGIERASE

reasonable and supportable information that is available at the Hiklo

reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TRV AEBFEBEREREFTENE ZE WA
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: NEERBEEN .
As at 31 December 2023: 20235128318 :

Less than
1 year Total
—F A #aEt
Expected credit loss rate FEHEEBREX 2.7% 10.3% 100.0% 5.3%
Gross carrying amount IREAEE 40,143 464 1,075 41,682
Expected credit losses TEfEEEE 1,101 48 1,075 2,224
As at 31 December 2022: 7220225128318 ¢
Ageing
BREL
Less than Tto3 Over
1 year years 3 years Total
—F A —FE=4F —EME st
Expected credit loss rate FEHEEBREX 0.9% 3.2% 19.9% 2.0%
Gross carrying amount EREAR(E 31,416 19,572 542 51,530
Expected credit losses TEHAEERE 284 628 108 1,020
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23.

24,

CONTRACT COST ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FA TS SRR Y 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

23. AR EEE

Contract cost arising from the sale of properties

MEHEEENSORAE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
899,672 1,205,954

Management expected that the contract acquisition costs, which
represented primarily sales commission for obtaining property sale
contracts, are recoverable. The Group has deferred the amounts paid
and will charge them to profit or loss when the related revenue is
recognised. As at 31 December 2023, the amounts charged to profit or
loss were RMB719,577,000 (2022: RMB524,749,000), and there was no
impairment loss in relation to the remaining balance.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

L=y

EEEEHTENESYEHESANBEERSE
HWRBEBRAATWEIIER AEFBIELES
I&%8 B R EEN R R 2 st A5 o 1220235
12831 H st ABENEED A ARE719,577,000
70 (20224 © AR #524,749,0007T) ° BLERLAS R 1E IR
BEE518 -

24, FEMRE HBBREREMEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ANERETF T
Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights EE T MERENTENRIE 286,000 286,000
Deposits for land auction THIIRERE 10,000 10,000
Deposits related to land use rights to be jointly WME=FHERE T HERE
acquired with third parties BEANZRE 458,630 470,759
Prepaid taxes and other tax recoverables TR IE M B AT Uk [E]#3 18 1,518,140 2,196,893
Other deposits Hithiz & 653,355 625,405
Prepayments for construction cost EER A TR RIS 328,633 331,416
Due from non-controlling shareholders of the PEULIS B A B JET B AR BB T IE
subsidiaries 4,162,549 5,067,146
Other receivables H i fEU I 664,871 435,636
8,082,178 9,423,255
Impairment BAE (53,699) (28,110)
Total “ast 8,028,479 9,395,145
Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and have no HihfEWRIEA BIEIE  F 5t B BEE T ENEAR -

fixed terms of repayment.
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31 December 2023

2023128318

24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24. FAMRE-HMEBWREREMEE
OTHER ASSETS (Continued) (48)
The movements in provision for impairment of receivables are as FEWGRIERERENESHNT !
follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARHEFTT
At the beginning of the year R 28,110 8,231
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERERIRERE (fzte) 25,589 19,879
At the end of the year REX 53,699 28,110
The internal credit ratings of amounts due from non-controlling FEWMI B AT 2 IFZERBEMRIBE - FERE= A
shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from third parties and other BEREMZENAIEEATIBRERARAER K
deposits were regarded as the grade of performing. The Group has EEETEZERRIREZEEREBVRERMU
assessed that the credit risk of these receivables has not increased AL ANEIE N e ZE W FIEN AR I8 XA
significantly since initial recognition. The expected loss rate of Z041%  AREBEBTEHBEHABEBEERAKREME I
these receivables is assessed to be 0.41%. The Group has evaluated B1ERTEHEESEESERE UKk &R 2023F
the expected loss rate and gross carrying amount, measured the 2A3AMNTEREEEEA AR KS3,699,0007T (2022
impairment based on the 12-month expected credit losses, and F : ARE®28,110,0007T) ©
assessed that the expected credit losses were RMB53,699,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB28,110,000).
25. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 25. HitEREBEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETx AREBTT
Prepayments for equity investments R ETEN A 1,402,644 1,402,644

176 @R EE) ARAS

Fuzhou Jinhui Real Estate Co., Ltd. signed an agreement with &
INHERERZEESRAE ("“Quanzhou Yimin Construction
Development Co., Ltd., "Quanzhou Yimin") on 25 February 2016
with the purpose of acquiring land parcels through the purchase of
the equity interest in project companies. The total agreed purchase
price was RMB2,295,000,000. According to the agreement, the Group
has already partly made the payments to bring the balance to
RMB940,000,000 as at 31 December 2023. The equity transaction has

not been completed as at 31 December 2023.

Xi'an Jinhui Properties signed an property development cooperation
agreement with PR FE R B EBR QS (“Shaanxi Shiji
Chuntian Real Estate Co., Ltd.") on 25 January 2017 with the purpose
of acquiring land parcels through the purchase of the equity interest
in a project company, namely Xi'an Zhencui Properties Co., Ltd. ("Xi‘an
Zhencui Properties”). The total transfer price was RMB966,944,000.
According to the agreement, the Group has already partly paid the
payments to bring the balance to RMB462,643,500 as at 31 December
2023. The equity transaction has not been completed as at 31
December 2023.

2023 F 3R

BINEEBEXERABDEZNTERRREERR
N TRMER)) R2016F 282588 T— 113
NEBEBEEEATDNRERBIR - HENEE
B A AR 2,295000,0007c  iRIEZHE  ZEH
X E D RIE ) 1R2023F 12831 HREAARK
940,000,0007T © 72202312831 A IRHERZ Z 14 K5 ©

AZcEEMELAMRAHLEREMERRAT

(MrAHLEREMEFRAT) 7H2017F18258
RIIVERBESERSE LUWEBREEEEAT BIFA
ZHERMEBRAD ((AREBEERHE)) NWIRE
Uit B 1t 158 o BREE 4B (B A A R 1£966,944,0007T © 1R B 5%
HiE > AEB SO RIE > 1R2023F12831HER
B2 AR 1462,643,5007C © 1A20235E 12831 H IRER



26.

27.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

26, BATEFAEGHNEREE

2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Listed equity investments, at fair value BN EYERZ EHRERE 2,266 2,725
Other unlisted investments, at fair value BATEYRZEMIELTRE 105,547 106,589
107,813 109,314

Analysed into paRips
Current portion BOERER > 23,408 4,294
Non-current portion AERNERER > 84,405 105,020

The above equity investments at the end of the reporting period were
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments at the end of the reporting period
were wealth management products issued by financial institutions in
Chinese Mainland. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are
not solely payments of principal and interest.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

PP REARORERENDRBEAR/LAFEA
BalEREE HERSAFIFESR-

EFHEBERARNNIF LT RER DB R MR
BETHEMER REREGNEESRLIFRE
A RAMENZIRIAMBH DERHLAFETA
BaHEREE -

27. RERIRITEER

2023 2022

20235 20226

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET ARBEF T

Cash and bank balances V& MIR1T4E R 7,072,920 12,319,530
Less: Restricted cash B RIREIRE 2,264,883 7,899,346
Pledged deposits BIRIRER - 10,000

Cash and cash equivalents B MhIBEE2EEY 4,808,037 4,410,184

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in designated bank accounts for specified use. As at 31
December 2023, such restricted cash amounted to RMB1,906,620,000
(2022: RMB7,400,578,000).

BREFEPEER AEENETEMERZE QR
ERETHRSNEGFENECHRITERELAER TR
WofR2023F 1283 1H ZEZTRFBEEAARE
1,906,620,0007T (20224 : AR #£7,400,578,0007T) ©
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31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued) 27. HERIRVITER @
As at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash amounting to 7202358128310 » AR #117,349,0007T (20224 @ A
RMB117,349,000 (2022: RMB58,542,000) was frozen by the People’s F158,542,0007t) B35 R FI3R & RF AT AR IERR
Court due to lawsuits, and other restricted cash was mainly restricted BiE  MEMSRHRETERRAEABESER
as unpledged security for purchasers’ mortgage loans, construction of BER - HEMIHBITRAMERNIERREE
projects or bank and other borrowings. M RH -
As at 31 December 2023, no pledged deposits (2022: RMB10,000,000) FR2023F 128310 B IKIBPTER (20225 1 AR
were pledged as security for bank and other borrowings (note 31). #10,000,0007T) BIRIREARIRIT R HEMERNILH D
(Hd5E31) ©
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents: RERREEEY !
Denominated in RMB MAREEE 4,791,831 4,374,858
Denorinated in US$ METTEHE 14,949 33,834
Denominated in HK$ UBITEHE 1,257 1,492
Total 45t 4,808,037 4,410,184
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, ARBAIEHRBRAREMEE  BREFERMD
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations GrEEEREKE ) R(EE-EERCESERE)
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign AEBEBBEREETHEEBNRITHEARE
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB DHRMAHEMER.

for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank BTRESBEBESHBTERAIZIZIHF LR
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks RITERERELPEOCSBNEEY ENIRIT
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and RBekREEFEYNRAEEERAFTEES-

cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2023, the internal credit rating of restricted 2023 F12831H > RGBS RIESERRESEBY
cash and cash and cash equivalents were regarded as the grade HNAMERTAERARRER - AEEBETHST
of performing. The Group has assessed that the credit risk of the RERE -BEFEFRRENBEETEEYNEE
restricted cash, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents has B 5% B ¥ 9a e SR LAZR G K R g 0 0 21 2B A A
not increased significantly since initial recognition and measured HEEGEt2RE BB HEBEERELAR
the impairment based on 12-month expected credit losses, and has BKRo

assessed that the expected credit losses are immaterial.
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29.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. BEREMNIA
An ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables as at the end of the RHRERFR EREZ0PNAERE S EORE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HARE DU ©
2023 2022
2023%F 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTFT
Within 1 year —F A 10,390,127 12,445,774
Over 1 year BiE— 663,447 660,304
Total “ast 11,053,574 13,106,078
There were no trade payables as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2023128318 » M MAEHMEER Y E 5 B A
2022: Nil) due to suppliers that have signed up to a supply chain (2022128310 | &) DS EMHEHEMEE -
financing program.
Trade payables are unsecured and are normally settled based on the BEERMAMRIBEARER 22 BERRBRETEES
progress of construction. Ho
The fair values of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period R|REAFR AR E S B RIENEREARAER
approximated to their corresponding carrying amounts due to their o HEATEEEEEREEES -
relatively short maturity terms.
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HthEIRIEKREEH

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBETT

Outstanding payables arising from the acquisition of Wi i 1 5 2 4 AY 1) ok S {5 FE {5 FUIB

equity interests 29,743 29,743
Due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries &1}t B A 5 3E 1% AR AR B8 7018 507,551 642,091
Deposits & 652,556 434,818
Payroll and welfare payable e T & &EF 38,759 78,046
Retention deposits related to construction HELBERANRES 373,034 417,930
Other tax and surcharges HiR BRI & 840,504 670,252
Accrued expenses FEsthE 32,060 185,848
Others Hith 202,767 133,408
Total Kt 2,676,974 2,592,136

Other payables and due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. The fair
values of other payables as at the end of year approximated to their
corresponding carrying amounts.

HAE A RRIBR A I B AR IR ER IR SRR IA = &
B BB RARERERE - NER HMEARIEA
HRAFEAEBREREERSE-
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31 December 2023
20235128318

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30.

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

2023 2022

2023%F 20226

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARSBTT AR®BTF T

Contract liabilities anar 37,659,856 59,397,834
The Group receives payments from customers based on billing AEBRBYEHEMBAZFBRAE L WES
schedules as established in the property sales. Payments are usually Mo AREFBBERREBESN (ETEREVERR) BY

received in advance of the performance under the contracts which are Bl 2 BT W R A3 7K

mainly from property development.

31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. st EERITRHEMMER
BORROWINGS
2023 2022
2023 20224
Effective Effective
Interest Interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRI =E (%) 0 AR%®Tr BELGESD] A8 ARETR
Current BN &R
Other loans - secured HtER-BER - - - 9.20-13.50 2023 1,190,000
Current portion of long term RBRTERNEEE D
bank loans - secured R =Fiii 3.50-7.50 2024 11,141,143 4.10-8.08 2023 8,520,513
Current portion of long term RAEMERNEHE S
other loans — secured —BigR 8.50-12.80 2024 593,260 8.90-11.50 2023 1,226,840
Subtotal NG 11,734,403 10,937,353
Non-current JEENHA
Bank loans - secured RITER-BER 3.50-6.50 2025-48 10,268,920 390-8.08 2023-35 14,718,167
Bank loans - unsecured RITER—BIEE - - - 390 2025 50,000
Other loans - secured HtER—-BiEE 9.20-12.00 2025-26 767,800 8.53-10.00 2024 839,300
Subtotal NG 11,036,720 15,607 467
Total i 22,771,123 26,544,820
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31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. stERITREMMERR @)

BORROWINGS (Continued)

2022
20224
RMB’000
ARB#F T
Analysed into: SaRiiv=1
Bank loans repayable FEIZIRITER :
Within one year —FR 11,141,143 8,520,513
In the second year FE 4,475,407 12,584,529
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EEFHE (BIEEEME) 1,740,387 1,629,823
Beyond five years hFE 4,053,126 553,815
Subtotal /N5t 21,410,063 23,288,680
Other borrowings repayable HpEE AR
Within one year —FR 593,260 2,416,840
In the second year F_F 599,800 839,300
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEEFHLF (BIEEEME) 168,000 =
Subtotal N5t 1,361,060 3,256,140
Total wast 22,771,123 26,544,820
The Group's borrowings are denominated in RMB as at 31 December R2023F 128318 ZEBNERUARESE-
2023.
Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured by the AEBBTRITREMERUTINEEFIRT Z
pledges of the following assets with carrying values at the end of the EEENRSHFRNEREDT !
reporting period as follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Land use rights (note 15) T HIE R (FaE15) 608,167 636,345
Investment properties (note 14) L EYE (Mfsk14) 7,132,800 4,290,100
Properties under development (note 20) R E (M5E20) 32,267,551 40,677,640
Completed properties held for sale (note 21) BIELEMNBER T (HsE21) 2,045,355 1,902,643
Pledged deposits (note 27) BIRFHRER (M5E27) = 10,000
The management of the Company has assessed that the fair values KRB BEBRIAMR A stRBTREMBERDN
of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their ATEAERABERSE RARBELRHANZER
carrying amounts largely due to the fact that such borrowings were REEAEEEBUE=FemMEERIRITHISERN
made between the Group and independent third party financial T

institutions based on prevailing market interest rates.
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BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 31. st RIRITREMBER @
BORROWINGS (Continued)
Certain of the bank and other borrowings of up to RMB943,327,500 22023128318 A ARFERKRERBIE=F
were guaranteed by the Company's non-controlling shareholders AERZ AR943,327,500c A TIRTT R EHAMBRIE
and independent third parties as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HiEfR (202246 ¢ AR ¥51,260,857,5007T) °

RMB1,260,857,500).

Certain of the bank and other borrowing of up to RMB99,000,000 was R2023F 128318 &HF&Z AR99,000,0007T I iR
guaranteed by a company controlled by the ultimate shareholders as at TREMMERHEREKREBZFNABRMEER (2022
31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). FiE)o

32. PROCEEDS FROM ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES 32. REEIRPES (EEIRIFESE)) &
(“ABS”) SHFRSRIE

31 December

Contractual 2023

interest rate Closing

Name of ABSs Principal per annum Maturity balance
20235

12A31H

BEEMESLE x& BRENEEX =h ] HAR G ER
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARE®TR ARETT

HEEE-LEBEMEEESR  HEEG-SEBRWREAENS

SIEE 2 H15:1E
Radiance Commercial Properties EERENE 1,684,880 6.00/6.5 2021-2039 1,720,462
Less: Current portion B BN 47,606
Non-current portion JEREE D 1,672,856
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(“ABS”) (Continued)

32. PROCEEDS FROM ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

32. REERITFES (BERMPES) E

SHFRETRIE (@)

31 December

Contractual 2022
interest rate Closing
Name of ABSs Principal per annum Maturity balance
20224
12H31H
BEMFESLE xE  RAEREX JB HAR A ER
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000
ARBTTT (%) AR#ETTT
REZE-SRBENEEESH REZE-SREENEEESH
EShE] EIEE3)
Radiance Commercial Properties EREENE 1,693,952 6.00/6.5 2021-2039 1,711,367
HE-2E-EBAEEESH TE-sRE-SBAREESH
EYHE] S
Beijing Radiance Plaza SEAE 3571871 475/58 2021-2039 3,577,810
Total st 5,289,177
Less: Current portion B BIERER 70,696
Non-current portion FEEBE D 518481

The balance represented proceeds received from special purpose
entities ("SPE”") set up by financial institutions in the PRC for issuance of
asset-backed securities, to which the Group has collateralised certain
future trade receivables for the remaining receipts from the provision
of property lease income. Under an assignment arrangement between
the Group and the SPE, as and when the Group receives the sales
proceeds from customers, the Group would remit any cash flows it
collects on behalf of the SPE.

As at 31 December 2023, there were no certain of the Group's asset-
backed securities are secured by the pledges of property, plant and
equipment (2022: RMB22,263,000) (note 13), right-of-use assets (2022:
RMB19,197,000) (note 15). The Group's investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB2,938,900,000 (2022:
RMB8,396,000,000) were pledged to asset-backed securities granted to
the Group (note 14).

BERIERTRSRMEBR NS HRENER (5%
BERE) METEERRESWERFISRIE M
FEEREHMERERAG TRENE FTRRE
ZRWHRIEFERER -RELAERERBHENEEN
DEELH AEBBE P WEHERSRIAR » K&
ERELGHEARSHRENERMMERNERNRSR

=
==

R2023F 128310 AEBWMEUYIZE - BERKRE

(20224 : AR#22,263,0007T) (MizE13) RfEBESE
B (20224F : AR#19,197,00070) (MEE15) R 1E
AHEENEERRSS AEFERERENARE
2,938,900,0007T (20224 : A E§8,396,000,0007T) BI#&
EYEERBRTAEENEEIRFESFEEMN (M
14) o
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31 December 2023
20235128318

33. SENIOR NOTES

33. BEERE

1 January The effect 31 December

2023 of foreign 2023

Opening Interest currency Closing

Name of senior notes balance expense exchange Payment balance

1420235 120235

18188 4hEEFE 2R 12A31HK

BRRELE HAYD 4R FSHAZ MR E NE HAR 4R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%F AREF AR®T AR%T AR%T

2023 Notes 03F 25 395,337 53,297 5177 (453,811) -

2024 Notes 2024F i 2,121,097 161,520 36,077 (175,853) 2,142,841

Total w5t 2,142,841
Analysed into: PaLiiv= I

Non-current portion EREE D -

Current portion ENEE 2,142,841

1 January The effect 31 December

2022 of foreign 2022

Opening Interest currency Closing

Name of senior notes balance expense exchange Payment balance

120225 120225

181K ShBEPE 2 1283181

BRERAE e FEEZ N2 NE HRAES

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREBTFT ARBTFTT ARBFTT ARBFT

2022 Notes 2022F EHk 1,082,597 9,822 13,905 (1,106,324) =

2023 Notes 2023FEEH 1,525,977 66,974 117,553 (1,315,167) 395,337

2024 Notes 2024F B 1,932,492 167,927 178,798 (158,120) 2,121,097

Total st 2,516,434
Analysed into: paliiv= I

Non-current portion JETRENZ D 2,075,827

Current portion MENER 440,607

20235 128B31H% ARBRBER204EEZEERE
FR HA /& v Al (88 A & R A RAH B & $£298,500,0003€ 75

(NBREBEIZERE) - E3E ARK1,413463,400cHE
Tt BRTREMMERBRERER

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Company did not repay
principal and interest thereon in aggregate amount of U5$298,500,000,
net of repurchased notes, before expiry of grace period for the 2024
Notes, triggering certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB1,413,463,400 becoming repayable on demand.
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34. CORPORATE BONDS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

1 January 31 December

2023 2023

Opening Issued Interest Closing

Name of bonds balance in 2023 expense Derecognition Payment balance
20235 #2023

18188 #2023 1283108

BHELE HMEEE BT FIERX R RE HAR&E R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETRT AR®TR ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%T®

21 Jinhui 01 21& 1801 1,399,463 = 44,362 (118,700)  (1,325,125) =
21 Jinhui 02 211802 875,107 - 33,968 - (909,075) -
22 Medium-Term Notes VHHREE 1,190,751 - 52,161 - (48,000) 1,194,912
23 Medium-Term Notes 01 (note 1) 23T ERZ#01 (i F1) - 793,879 11,289 - - 805,168
23 Medium-Term Notes 02 (note 2) 23R ERZ 02 (HizE2) - 792,980 951 = - 793,931
Total 3 3,465,321 1,586,859 142,731 (118,700)  (2,282,2000 2,794,011
1 January 31 December

2022 2022

Opening Issued Interest Closing

Name of bonds balance in 2022 expense Payment balance
720224 12022

[=RR=E:) 720226 128318/

BELTE HRRD A5 ER &7 FER% (NE AR AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®F T AR®F T ARETT ARETT ARET T

19 Jinhui 01 191801 2,082,772 = 53,228 (2,136,000) =
20 Jinhui 01 202 1801 673,613 = 21,562 (695,175) =
20 Jinhui 02 205 1802 513,664 = 21,336 (535,000) =
20 Jinhui 03 201803 1,227,135 = 77,655 (1,304,790) =
21 Jinhui 01 21% 1801 1,397,751 = 95,537 (93,825) 1,399,463
21 Jinhui 02 2151802 875,107 = 59,075 (59,075) 875,107
22 Medium-Term Notes NHREE - 1,186,991 3,760 = 1,190,751
Total “act 6,770,042 1,186,991 332,153 (4,823,865) 3,465,321
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34. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s corporate bonds were
repayable as follows:

34. AEIMEFHF @)
RIS AEEASEENEBHRRNT

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

Repayable within one year BR—HERNEE 15,707 667,743
Repayable within two to five years BR_ERFERNEE 2,778,304 2,797,578
Total M@zt 2,794,011 3,465,321

Note 1 On 24 August 2023, Radiance Group, a subsidiary of the Group
completed to issue 3-year medium-term notes with a principal
amount of RMB800,000,000 (“23 Medium-Term Notes 01"), which
were publicly listed on the Inter-bank Bond Market on 24 August
2023. 23 Medium-Term Notes 01 is denominated in RMB and bears
interest at a rate of 4.00% per annum.

Note 2: On 21 December 2023, Radiance Group, a subsidiary of the Group
completed to issue 3-year medium-term notes with a principal
amount of RMB800,000,000 (“23 Medium-Term Notes 02"), which
were publicly listed on the Inter-bank Bond Market on 21 December
2023. 23 Medium-Term Notes 02 is denominated in RMB and bears
interest at a rate of 4.28% per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's corporate bonds are
secured by the pledges of investment properties of RMB3,069,600,000
(2022: RMB1,044,200,000) (note 14) and completed properties held for
sale of RMB997,637,000 (2022: Nil) (note 21).

186 &@iER (@) BRAE 2023FFR

=
i

D R2023F8A4H 2R EE AXERNWE R
B SR ABBETZERTHER BTHEAA
R #800,000,0007T (M 2023 F FHIEH01)) » B
202358 H 24BN ERTTRIME S T IH L 0 2023F E
HZROUARMESHE  WIREF]FT4.00%5t B o

a2 @ BR2023F 128218 S RERE AXEBNB AR
ERARBFIT=FHTIHER BTREAARKE
800,000,0007cH9 (M 2023F R HAZE K02 ) » 1 f22023
F12RE2IBRIBITHEESTIZ LMo 2023 FHHHE
B AR HE » iR EF]Z4.28%51 B o

R2023F 2R3 1 H AEBETEEXEBESFUARE
3,069,600,0007T ( 20224 : AR #1,044,200,0007T) (Ft
5514) R EWE K AR K997,637,0007T (20226 | &)
B EHENE TYE (sE21) IFHNEREAR
o



35. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

35. g7

B& 1%
2022
20224

HKS
AT

EBRITRER
4,045,227,0000%

Issued and fully paid:
4,045,227,000 (2022: 4,045,227,000) ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each (2022: HK$0.01 each)

(20224F : 4,045,227,0008%)
SREE0IBTT

(20224 : BRREE0.01787T)

BYE @R

40,452,270

40,452,270

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

AATRARDHBEMT :

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERTRHEE [ 7
RMB'000
ARETT
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 1320221818
and 31 December 2023 20224128318
2023F 1 H1E K
2023128311 4,045,227,000 35,095

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 17 October 2019 with authorised share capital of
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at par
value.

On the date of incorporation, 1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 was allotted
by the Company to a subscriber, and was transferred to Glowing Shine
Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Lam Ting Keung and Ms. Lam
Fung Ying, on 17 October 2019.

On 6 March 2020, the Company acquired the entire issued shares of
Jubilance Properties from Radiance Group Holdings at a consideration
of US$3.00, which was settled by the Company by allotting and issuing
1 ordinary share to Glowing Shine, being the direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Radiance Group Holdings, on 5 March 2020.

On 5 October 2020, the Company increased its authorised share capital
to HK$100,000,000 by the creation of 9,962,000,000 additional shares of
nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

On 29 October 2020, upon its listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the Company issued 600,000,000 new ordinary shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each at HK$4.30 per share for a total cash
consideration of HK$2,580,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,238,872,000).

KABR019F108 17 EHEHETMMIL ETE
Ji% 75 4380,00078 7T » 43 %338,000,0000% & IR EI(E0.0178
TTHIRRAD ©

ReEMmiIEE A B —4RBARE—RKRES
fR0.01B T EEAR > WH2019F 10817 H EE T M
ERAERMBELZ T TSN ABBBEERAT

122020 386H » KRB M3.0ETHREESIEE
& = AR WL BB Jubilance PropertiesfI 2 ZE TR B
R BEBHAXATR2020FE3I858 UM EE (A& 8
EEZERNEEZERBAR) BB REBIT KRG
A AEB ©

$2202051085H » AxA B 18 18 18 5%9,962,000,0008% &
BREE0.01EBTHENRG  BEAERAIEME
100,000,0007 7T ©

2020108298 RBEABBRPT ETHE > KRR
5 184.303% 7T 3£ 17600,000,000 % 45 A% [ {50.01 38 T HY
@R IR S 1B %42,580,000,00058 7T FBE KA
AR 2,238,872,0007T) ©
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2023%12H31H

35.

36.

188 @R &E) BRA

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Shares (Continued)

On 29 October 2020, 3,399,999,998 shares were issued by way of
capitalisation with par value of HK$0.01 each, and the respective share
capital amount was approximately RMB29,504,000.

On 25 November 2020, upon its listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the over-allotment option has been partially exercised
and the Company allotted and issued 45,227,000 additional shares at
HKS$4.30 per share for a total cash consideration of HK$194,476,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB164,955,000).

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares issued and the consideration received.

(b) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid for acquisition of non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries. Details of the movements in
the capital reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(c) Statutory surplus reserve
In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, the
Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after
tax, as determined under PRC GAAP, to the statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant
PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the Group,
the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to offset
losses, or to be converted to increase share capital provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
the registered capital of the Group. The reserve cannot be used
for purposes other than those for which it is created and is not
distributable as cash dividends.

(d) Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve arises from change in use from an
owner-occupied property to an investment property.

2023 F 3R

35. g7 (48)
&1 (48)

20208108 29H > 3,399,999,9988% f% 15 T4 3% & I8 E
BB TEREARZET HERASENAARE
29,504,0007T ©

7202011 B25H  REABBRFT L% BEERRik
BESDITEEARAREIZERII0B TR ERET
45,227,00002 Z8IMN& 15 > 4B IR SR B %5194,476,00078 7T
(FEZE R4 AR #164,955,0007T) °

WE2023412831 B ILEE  ARANHELERE
BB GERERD RS o

36. f#fE

BE02F12A3BLEE  AEENRBESRAH
BB EHREN -

(@) MfnimfE
R EEEDETRAEERMEREZ BN
Ao

(b) BAf#E
B 1S T R R B B R Y S B B AR
BABMFERBEMGRENATEZBN
EEE - AXRENEDFBERNE RS
BH* o

(0 EEBRBFMHRE

HRAE A B A B A R i P B Y 3L A B BB A B B9 A
BERME > AEEARREBFFENI0%
REUEE BB WL IRBPE S5 ERE
o EERBREEINHIMEANS % F
HBREPBIER KA ERARSZMBEET
PR&IAYARIR - 7R E BB P IR S 48
BB NRA  EERBHERREAFLON
REBEMEARN2% HENSANERIL
BRLSNNEMA R TR EERRERESD
ke

(d) BEEGRH#E
BESGEHERN —EERNENRRENA
REE



37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. &8

FA TS SRR Y 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

REMBEBRMEF

CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions @ FEFRERH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right- FR AEERPLREEF2HERHNMS
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB4,141,000 (2022: AREEAEEESGRNFREAEAARTE
RMB12,384,000) in respect of lease arrangements for office 4,141,0007T (20224F © AR #812,384,0007T) ©
buildings.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has HE2023F 12831 BIEFE > AE@M L EAEN
not offset the amounts due from non-controlling interests JEIERGRE TR N TE (20224F ¢ AR #53,348,537,000
with the amounts due to non-controlling interests (2022: 7T) IR EH FE U IR RS R s TR IS o
RMB3,348,537,000).
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b)) MEEHELENEEGEEH
activities
Total
Proceeds Interest- Senior liabilities
from  bearing bank notes and Due to from
asset-based and other corporate related Lease financing
securities borrowings bonds parties liabilities activities
BERA
EHEN  HEROR  BAEER FEfT RMEEPH
FiigsE HthEm AREFE  HERTE Hgaf BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARETn  ARBTT ARETR ARETn  ARBTx
At 1 January 2022 20251818 5,319,575 36,163,523 11,311,108 5,278,388 16,951 58,089,545
Cash flows used in financing activities HEZHMERERE (299,036) (11,627,729) (6,216,485) (425,053) (16,542) (18,584,845)
New operating leases NRERE - = = S 12,384 12,384
Interest expense FEMZ 268,638 1,909,026 576876 = 1297 2,755,837
The effect of foreign currency exchange  JMNES/ 2 - - 310256 - = 310256
At 31 December 2022 R202% 128318 5,289,177 26,444,820 5,981,755 4,853,335 14,090 42,583,177
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities REEEEIFTE/ (FTfE) RemE (3,801,643) (5,049,285) (1,443,705) 74,817 (7497)  (10,227,313)
New operating leases mcERE - - - - (1,429) (1,429)
Interest expense FEME 232,928 1,375,588 357,548 - 687 1,966,751
The effect of foreign currency exchange  JMES 2 - - 41,254 - - 41,254
At 31 December 2023 0235128318 1720462 22771123 4,936,852 4,928,152 5851 34,362,440
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2023%12H31H

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

37. RERTRERWE @

HENRE AL RS
RerBRMRNAENRSALERNT

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c)

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of
cash flows is as follows:

2023 2022
20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBT T

Within operating activities KETEENR 5,179 6,266
Within financing activities MEEHR 7,497 16,542
Total 4Est 12,676 22,808

38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 38. HEEARIEEREZNIEEZENRBA
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS |

FEBREREAFERERNVNB AT FIBERIIM

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling

interests were set out below: 55
Percentage of (Loss)/profit
equity interest for the year Accumulated
no held by allocated to on balances
controlling non-controlling controlling of
interests interests interests
R AT IR

FRfsie i BEMEN PR
Epagi (§548) /& S gt
% RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#BTT AR#ETT

31 December 2023 2023128318
Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate* BB (E) B 40 (33,285) 1,209,026
Radiance Group TEEE 4 (16,443) 991,480
Ningbo Qihui Real Estate* BRREEE 40 125,644 304,983

31 December 2022 20225128318
Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate* BB () B 40 (22,480) 1242311
Radiance Group TEEE 4 132,572 1,024,589
Chongqing Huiderui Real Estate* EEREERME 58 242,968 447816
Fuqing Jinchen Properties* BEEREHE" 49 101,311 184,048

* B @EN BX ERREEX SEREERME
kREEEREMEDCEERNWB QR T X
WY BENERMNZSERNERFERER
kR 87 R s FR i B i et

Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate, Ningbo Qihui Real Estate, Chongqing
Huiderui Real Estate and Fuging Jinchen Properties are subsidiaries
of Radiance Group, and the financial information set out below only
reflects the direct non-controlling interests in these entities, and the
indirect non-controlling interests have not been included.
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31 December 2023
20235128318

38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 38. A EAIEIERESNIEZENMEBL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) g (&)
The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: Frig BB B R INBRE A A B R HEEH
Ronggiao (Fuzhou) Real Estate E (EM) B
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
Revenue Y 77,785 273,720
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (160,998) (329,920)
Loss for the year FNEIE (83,213) (56,200)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FNEERBIBELE (83,213) (56,200)
Current assets mEEE 2,769,569 2,943,233
Non-current assets ERBEE 235,906 219,869
Current liabilities mEas (164,955) (277,435)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from KSR (FA) FrRRERE
operating activities FEE (29,599) 22,391
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from CEEE FiA) /iR RE
investing activities TFEE (1,589) 99
Net cash flows used in financing activities MERHFARERE FE - (644)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and B MBSSEY Ol) /1
cash equivalents TR EE (31,188) 21,846
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31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 38. MEEAFERBREZNIERETWEL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 7 (&)

Radiance Group EEER

2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ABEF T
Revenue W & 34,317,604 35,437,801
Total expenses Rz 48 %E (34,928,988) (32,870,197)
(Loss)/profit for the year Fy (5518) ER (611,384) 2,567,604
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year ENLmE (FBi8) WAAREE (611,384) 2,567,604

Attributable to: U & 75 e
Owners of the parent BRBEE A (411,068) 3,191,394
Non-controlling interests IR ER (200,316) (623,790)
(611,384) 2,567,604
Current assets RBEE 99,024,040 131,781,738
Non-current assets ERBIEE 30,537,435 29,882,330
Current liabilities mEmaE (75,772,075) (97,891,717
Non-current liabilities FRas (15,712,089) (26,083,662)
38,077,311 37,688,689

Attributable to: TR FRENS :
Owners of the parent BREEEA (23,991,283) 24,819,649
Non-controlling interests FEiIERER 62,068,594 12,869,040
38,077,311 37,688,689
Net cash flows generated from operating activities K& ZEFELXIR M F2E 8,131,485 8,720,280
Net cash flows generated from investing activities R & EEFIBIREREFE 1,742,685 893,434
Net cash flows used in financing activities MERHFARERE FE (9,481,922) (16,326,188)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RENREEEYEM, (AL 388

cash equivalents 392,248 (6,712,474)

192 iR @ BRAT 203FER



38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL  38.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Ningbo Qihui Real Estate

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

?%?;Ek%}%ﬂﬁ#%ﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬂ%@
g (&

ERREE X

2023 2022

20235 20226

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREF AEBEF T

Revenue g 2,412,828 -

Total expenses R 4B %8 (2,098,719) (25,882,442)

Profit/(loss) for the year FEmiEA, (B18) 314,109 (25,882,442)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FEneml AN (Fi8) 4828 314,109 (25,882,442)

Current assets MENEE 998,033 3,322,381

Non-current assets FERBEE 1,055 44,006

Current liabilities mEaR (243,579) (2,924,987)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from mEES) (FA) /FRRERE

operating activities (307,773) 255,254

Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEBFAREREFRE (50,329) (555,780)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BENBEESEBY R/ FRE (358,102) (300,526)

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

39.

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided

for in the financial statements were as follows:

HARE
KBS RUBRRL R REBENRAAE

m :

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

Guarantees given to banks in connection BIRTIEHNBRETAER

with facilities granted to purchasers of the ¥ B 75 B & BIIE R

Group's properties (@) 27,105,993 35,685,795
Guarantees given to banks and other BRIT R EMEEE LB RE

institutions in connection with facilities BRYEBABRENER

granted to related companies ) 1,341,688 1,044,126
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2023%12H31H

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

©)

)

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in the case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with any accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted
purchasers to those banks.

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged
to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, upon default on
mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to
take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through
open auction.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance and registration
of property ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will
generally be available within one to two years after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year in respect
of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers
of the Group's completed properties held for sale. The directors of the
Company considered that in the case of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties would be sufficient to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty, and therefore no provision has been made in connection with
the guarantees.

The Group provided guarantees to banks and other institutions in
connection with financial facilities granted to the related companies.
The directors of the Company consider that no provision is needed in
respect of the guarantees since the fair value is not significant. Further
details are included in note 41.

Except as disclosed above, during the year and up to the end of the
year, neither the Group nor the Company were involved in any litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings, claims or disputes which had
a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition or results of
operation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

40. COMMITMENTS 40. &I
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the REARRERAFRBEUTERKIE !

reporting period:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTFT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHENEES -
— Properties under development —FERYE 15,767,574 22,202,655
- Acquisition of land use right — W BE - AR 287,374 287,374
— Capital contribution for acquisition of equity —RANEREMEE
interests 2,274,644 2,274,644
Total “mst 18,329,592 24,764,673
In addition, the Group had the following commitments provided o ExXWARBIERAEERAGERERBERD
to joint ventures and associates (including the Group's share of REUTEE (BEAEERGREMESE IR
commitments made jointly with other joint venturers), which are not R Z &) ©

included in the above:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT

Contracted, but not provided for: ERESEES T
- Capital contributions —iE 101,171 128,571
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 75 R B 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . ABAERS
(1) Significant related party transactions (1) EXBEALIXS
The following transactions were carried out with related parties MUTFARRSHANEREE S ETHNRS !

during the reporting period:

2023 2022
20234 20226
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Advances from related companies: RAM A BB -
Joint ventures aEhE 17,710 361,697
Associates 3 —UNE| 185,622 1,076,004
Repayment of advances from related BIRRIABI B .
companies:
Joint ventures aEhE 171,321 755,265
Associates = UNE| 581,299 254,120
Management consulting services BT AR ENEEEAR -
provided to:
Joint ventures aEbE 329 16,463
Associates i LN 19,394 4,021
Advances to related parties: IR B 5 B -
Joint ventures e 51,488 418,043
Associates LN 10 1,960
Receipt of advances to related parties: ST EW [ ) Bt 75 O AR
Joint ventures HEbE 2,077,793 1,893,785
Associates &N E] 484,684 542,039
Sale of properties to related parties MRS HEME 15,756 =
Other Income from guarantees given to a e B B 5 IR R RAV E AU A
related party 2,030 -
Property management services provided HH B AR P2 IR B B R 41 BN
by companies controlled by the ultimate NEMR MY EEIEIRTS
controlling shareholders 89,905 152,798
Property lease income from a company HE @?’“Hxﬁx%?’“%]ﬁ’]
controlled by the ultimate controlling NEIFMEMERERA
shareholders 480 1,410
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

41. BBERS @&

(2) Other transactions with related parties: (2 HEBANEMIKS .
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
Guarantees provided to related parties: A A B 5 1R (R
Joint ventures HERE 373,700 191,493
Associates i —YNE| 867,988 852,633
Company controlled by ultimate HERAERRKRERZEFINAF
controlling shareholders 100,000 -
(3) Outstanding balances with related parties (3) HARAEtARIKRBELER
2023 2022
20234 20226
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BTFT ARETT
Due from related parties: [ s B Bt 75 FRIE
Trade-related: B 586
Joint ventures a8t = 10,011
Due from related parties: & s B Bt 75 FRIE
Non-trade-related: B S5 ER :
Joint ventures aEhE 2,740,880 4,767,185
Associates = YNE| 1,359,251 1,843,925
Due to related parties: FE A B Bt 5 FRIE
Trade-related: B 5186 :
Companies controlled by the ultimate REREBRITFIN AT
shareholders 90,649 50,676
Due to related parties: FEAT BB 5 =08
Non-trade-related: JEB Z R
Joint ventures R == 2,151,696 2,305,307
Associates M AT 2,685,807 3,081,484

Balances with the above related parties were unsecured and

repayable on demand.

b

1 R B 75 RS BRI R IR IR BRI B RE

o

folé
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 41. FAEA R 5 (@)
(4) Compensation of key management personnel of (4) AEBTEEERE ASFHMN
the Group
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥FT AREFT
Short term employee benefits SHEERA 7,693 7,877
Pension scheme contributions BARE B 328 301

Total compensation paid to key management MEBEEE A B0 4858

personnel 8,021 8,178
42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, BEHISNEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments REERFR SENEMTENREENT .

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
Financial assets ETHEE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost FVTPL
¥ 85 Rl A BATFEA
sHER B
EHEE EHMEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT
Trade receivables (note 22) B 5 WA (ffsk22) 39,458 = 39,458
Financial assets included in FENTERTIE. RIS
prepayments, other receivables REMEENESMEE
and other assets (note 24) (FF5E24) 4,815,904 - 4,815,904
Financial assets at fair value through AT B NIERENEREE
profit or loss (note 26) (M3 5E26) - 107,813 107,813
Due from related parties (note 41)  FEUR RAEE 75 3018 (M 5E41) 4,100,131 = 4,100,131
Restricted cash (note 27) ZIREIIRE (M5E27) 2,264,883 - 2,264,883
Pledged deposits (note 27) BIRIRER (Mi5E27) - - -
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) IRENIREHEY (H:E27) 4,808,037 = 4,808,037
Total wast 16,028,413 107,813 16,136,226
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. HEHNESHWERTAR @
(Continued)

Financial liabilities EHaE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

IR A

=M

ERAaE

RMB’'000

ARETT

Trade payables (note 28) B 5 A IE (Mf5E28) 11,053,574
Financial liabilities included in other payables and STANEMENRIERESERZ

accruals (note 29) EEE (HF5E29) 2,676,974

Due to related parties (note 41) FE{S RE B 5 70 IE (M 5E41) 4,928,152

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 31) st EIRTT R E &R (FI5E31) 22,771,123

Lease liabilities (note 15) HE&SE (MEs5) 5,851

Proceeds from asset-backed securities (note 32) BERFESESHWMERE (fi5E32) 1,720,462

Senior notes (note 33) BRER (5E33) 2,142,841

Corporate bonds (note 34) NEES (MIsE34) 2,794,011

Total Kt 48,092,988
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. HEHNESHWERTAR @
(Continued)
31 December 2022 2022E12831H
Financial assets ETHEE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost FVTPL Total
R EE R A BNFEETA
FEN Bmm
THMEE ETHMEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AE®BFT AREBTT
Trade receivables (note 22) B EIERIE (MisE22) 50,510 = 50,510
Financial assets included in FENTERRIE. AR RIS
prepayments, other receivables REMEENESMEE
and other assets (note 24) (F5E24) 5,692,551 - 5,692,551
Financial assets at fair value through AT EFFANIEmNEREE
profit or loss (note 26) (FFzk26) = 109,314 109,314
Due from related parties (note 41) FEUR BB 5 70 IB (Fd5E41) 6,621,121 = 6,621,121
Restricted cash (note 27) ZIRHIRE (HEE27) 7,899,346 = 7,899,346
Pledged deposits (note 27) BIREEFER (f527) 10,000 = 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) IRENIREEHEY FTsF27) 4,410,184 - 4,410,184
Total st 24,683,712 109,314 24,793,026
Financial liabilities ETHaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FR AR A AR
FEH
Bt S=RE
RMB'000
AREFT
Trade payables (note 28) B S EATIE (MfsE28) 13,106,078
Financial liabilities included in other payables and STNEMENRIEBERESER
accruals (note 29) EReEE (MfsE29) 2,328,242
Due to related parties (note 41) FE T R B 5 7RI (i 5E41) 5,437,467
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 31) st ER{T R HMER (F5E31) 26,544,820
Lease liabilities (note 15) HEaE (f5E15) 14,090
Proceeds from asset-backed securities (note 32) BEERFESHESOASHE (FsE32) 5,289,177
Senior notes (note 33) BEREE (f5E33) 2,516,434
Corporate bonds (note 34) NEMEH (FfsE34) 3,465,321
Total st 58,701,629
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

43.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

ERIANQTFERATFERER

FEATHIA CREEREATESEAENESRT
AR REREERATENT

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ATE
2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 20028 20235 200
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARE®TTT
Financial assets EHEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFESNBGNEHEE
through profit or loss (note 26) (FF5E26) 107,813 109,314 107,813 109,314
Financial liabilities tHEaE
Interest-bearing bank and ERTRHEMER
other borrowings (note 31) (MzE31) 22,771,123 26,544,820 22,808,930 26,557,790
Proceeds from asset-backed BEMEESESNREIE
securities (note 32) (FiEE32) 1,720,462 5,289,177 1,670,078 5,376,360
Senior notes (note 33) BEER (H533) 2,142,841 2,516,434 1,730,990 1,703,698
Corporate bonds (note 34) REES (Hi5k34) 2,794,011 3,465,321 2,806,551 3,292,285
Total st 29,428,437 37,815,752 29,016,549 36,930,133

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted cash, trade receivables, trade
payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, and amounts due from/to related companies approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
The valuation results are discussed with the audit committee twice a
year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

EEEEETHE REAREEEY BHEAE
FToRBRHRE - BEZENRIE - BZEARNIE 5
ABNREHthERREREMEENEREE
STAHMBENRERESTERNEREE  LUIRE
W/ R A B RIEN A T EEEREERS
BAEBEDNHEHNRZETAMBRRIE

AEENYHEHFRMHEERE 8RN ETH
ITEAFEABNBERKREF MHBEEEERY
BREER NERESE MEBFIOMERITA

HEAMFEEERIMRE - HEEARBERER
GEFETMR R MUEPARFEMFRR

THEERBRNATENEBERZS RBIFR
HERIN BERRZIZIANATRZEEAR X
TRARGSRATENGERRR :
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NOTES,TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BA 5 SR WM 5E

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. EMIAENAFERATFEBLE @
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth AERKERIFLMEE  BNHPEAMBITET
management products issued by financial institutions in Chinese ZIEVER AEBBEERREABLMUERERARZ
Mainland. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted TEZHHAE  FRMBRREREGEERIL G
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on ZEELMBEZRAFE

the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and FEBRITREMEBRAETEERFESEESNAM
certain proceeds from asset-backed securities have been calculated BRENATEDBAZRARKRESRERER
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently AARBEEUGR - ERARBKRGTERMARZT
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining B EETRIRE - AEEN2023F1283188
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing BNt EBRITAREMERBN T ELREETE AT
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 was assessed to be TEK-

insignificant.

The fair values of certain proceeds from asset-backed securities, HETEERRSSESHMERE -A8EFRE
corporate bonds and senior notes are based on quoted market prices. EEBNAFELEMIBREFTE

Fair value hierarchy NTERER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of TRIWRAEEEMTIANATEFEER

the Group's financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value: BATESENEE

Fair value measurement using

EANTRRMENATENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEMRL EXTHE EXTUERER
HIR1E BAHE BARE
(BE—%) (BZ4) (B=4) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2023 12023%12831H
Financial assets at fair value BATENBENSREE
through profit or loss 2,266 105,547 - 107,813
As at 31 December 2022 20228128318
Financial assets at fair value BATENBENSREE
through profit or loss 2,725 106,589 - 109,314
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31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 43. EMIAENAFERATFEBLE @
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy(Continued) RNTEE R (B)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: FLUIFEAFENEGR

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTEERENATENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEmE L EXATHRE EXFAER
MR E BABE BABE
(E—%) (BZ4) (B=H) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

UN:S ARBTT ARETT ARETT

As at 31 December 2023 120235128318
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 8 $R1T R E M fE ™ = 22,808,930 - 22,808,930
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BENPESESHNMENE 1,670,078 = = 1,670,078
Senior notes BERE 1,730,990 - - 1,730,990
Corporate bonds REEF 2,806,551 - - 2,806,551
6,207,619 22,808,930 - 29,016,549
As at 31 December 2022 120228128318
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t 83817 K E MR - 26,557,790 - 26,557,790
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BERHESESNMENE 1,687,955 3,688,405 = 5376360
Senior notes BRER 1,703,698 = = 1,703,698
Corporate bonds REVES 3,292,285 = = 3,292,285
Total st 6,683,938 30,246,195 - 36,930,133
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2023%12H31H

44,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly include cash and
bank balances, restricted cash, trade receivables, and trade and other
payables, which arise directly from its operations. The Group has other
financial assets and liabilities such as interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, corporate notes, financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, amounts with related companies and other
receivables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group's operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

(@) Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to risk for changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other borrowings
set out in note 31. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its
interest cost using variable rate bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, if the interest rate of bank borrowings
had increased/decreased by 1% and all other variables held
constant, profit before tax for the year of the Group would have
decreased/increased by approximately RMB16,121,000(2022:
RMB14,787,000).

204 ik (B BRAT 203FER

44, BIERAMEEEERBGE

FEENTIEZTHRIATZORCEERELENR
ERIBTEF ZREIFEE EZRERAIEURES
REMEMRE -cEREFHMNEMEERARE
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from the Group's cash and cash equivalents and
senior notes. The currency in which they are denominated is
USS. There is no significant impact on foreign currency risk.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B F5 IR R M EE

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H

44, BIERAMEIEEERBEE @)

(b) SNESELBR
FERHBERZEBEAR ZERBITEZESL
BREENREARSSEYUREBRRE-
REMNEEUETHE-INERARHBEZIE
REE-

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit Increase/
UssS or before (decrease)
HKS$/RMB rate (Or after) tax in equity
ExHEAET
ARY FrAR A (3
EXLH frfR &) m A R
(F) e, G o GR)
% RMB'000 RMB'000
ARB#FT AR#FTT
31 December 2023 2023%F 128318
If the RMB weakens MARBERETEZE
against the US$ (5) (106,395) (106,395)
If the RMB strengthens MARBREETHE
against the USS 5 106,395 106,395
If the RMB weakens MARKEREBTEZE
against HKS (5) 63 (63)
If the RMB strengthens HARBRATHE
against HKS 5 (63) 63
31 December 2022 2022512831H
If the RMB weakens HMARERETEZE
against the USS (5) (124,130) (124,130)
If the RMB strengthens M ARERETFAE
against the USS 5 124,130 124,130
If the RMB weakens MARBEREBTEZE
against HK$ (5) 75 (75)
If the RMB strengthens HAREREBTHE
against HKS 5 (75) 75
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(0)

206 &R (EE) FRAS

Credit risk

The Group divides financial instruments on the basis of shared
credit risk characteristics, such as instrument type and credit
risk ratings for the purpose of determining significant increases
in credit risk and calculation of impairment. To manage risk
arising from trade receivables, the Group has policies in place to
ensure that credit terms are made only to counterparties with an
appropriate credit history and management performs ongoing
credit evaluations of the Group’s counterparties. The credit
period granted to the customers is generally six months and the
credit quality of these customers is assessed, taking into account
their financial position, past experience and other factors. The
Group also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue receivables. In
addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of
trade receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large
number of counterparties and customers.

Management makes periodic collective assessments for financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and amounts due from related parties as well as individual
assessments on the recoverability of other receivables and
amounts due from related parties based on historical settlement
records and past experience. The Group classified financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets and
amounts due from related parties in Stage 1 and continuously
monitored their credit risk. The directors of the Company believe
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group's
outstanding balance of financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and amounts due from
related parties.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December 2023. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the
exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

2023 F 3R

44, BIERAMEIEEERBEE @)

(0 FEEAR

FEBERARGEERBS R (N T AEE
REERRSEHR HEMIT BEETOE  NE
EEERBRAREENRAERE - nEEES
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HARE WA IR © L 5h > R EE B E A 5T B 5 FE IR
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44,
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(0)

Credit risk (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M FSRR R M 5E

31 December 2023
20235128318

HHEREEEBRREE @)

(0 EERE @&

As at 31 December 2023 #22023%F12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1288 EEFENNEREERR
BHEE
B Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RE BIMEE BPRE [k (=P Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE%TR ARETRT AERBTR AR¥TRT ARETE
Trade receivables* EV Tl - - - 39,458 39,458
Financial assets included SABATIE. EtERRERE M
in prepayments, other BENTHEE
receivables and other assets
- Normal** —EE" 4,815,904 - - - 4,815,904
Due from related parties FEWEE s A 0B 4,100,131 = = - 4,100,131
Financial assets at fair value  RAFEFNBEENEREE
through profit or loss 107,813 - - - 107,813
Restricted cash RRERE
~ Not yet past due — e R E/H 2,264,883 - - = 2,264,883
Pledged deposits BIREER
— Not yet past due — R EH - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents ~ IRENEEEEY
- Not yet past due — R EH 4,808,037 - - - 4,808,037
Total B3t 16,096,768 - - 39,458 16,136,226
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NOTES,;TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7S SR WM EE

31 December 2023

2023128318

44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022

44, BIERAMEIEEERBEE @)

12-month
ECLs
128
REREE
B8
Stage 1
MR

RMB'000

ARETT

(0)

EERE (@&
720228128318

Lifetime ECLs
BEFEBNEREESE

Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ERE E=MER EER%E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTRT ARETT ARETR

Trade receivables* & 5 U E - - - 50,510 50,510
Financial assets included STABATIE. EfERRERE M
in prepayments, other BENERMEE
receivables and other assets
- Normal** — & 5,692,551 S S - 5,692,551
Due from related parties eI BB A R 6,621,121 S S = 6,621,121
Financial assets at fair value  BAFEFNEENEREE
through profit or loss 109,314 - - - 109,314
Restricted cash RERHRE
~ Not yet past due — e R EH 7,899,346 = = = 7,899,346
Pledged deposits BIREER
~ Not yet past due —HREH 10,000 - - S 10,000
Cashand cash equivalents ~ IRENELEEY
- Not yet past due e 4,410,184 = = = 4,410,184
Total Bt 24,742,516 - - 50510 24,793,026
< For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified e AEBMERBHEEFENREENER
approach for impairment, information based on the expected 1A AR E 5 U IE R B #5 3R R T 522
credit losses is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. KR -UTEREEETNEERMR-
There is no significant concentration of credit risk.
e The credit quality of the financial assets included in o MErABMRE - EtERREREMEE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered NemEEr®EAl TEENBRBEYSD
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no MREEHMEENEERBABIEM E
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant EEERRERINER]-
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
(d) Liquidity risk d) "BEZER

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds, senior
notes and proceeds from asset-backed securities. Cash flows are
being closely monitored on an ongoing basis.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FA TS SRR Y 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

44, BIERAMEIEEERBEE @)

(d) REBEZERE (@

FERNBSHRREARMBAIRAENS
BEENFBRBEROT

3to
Less than Less than Over 1
On demand 3 months 12 months year Total
=F
BRER ZERAUR +Z@A —FEM)E 1@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREBTr ARETT ARETR ARETR
31 December 2023: 20235128318 :
Trade payables BRENTE 11,053,574 = = - 11,053,574
Other payables Hit g Ha 2,676,974 - - S 2,676,974
Due to related parties BT RS 1B 4,928,152 - - - 4,928,152
Lease liabilities HEaR 83 337 4,346 2,731 7,497
Interest-bearing bank and other 3t BER1T R EMETN
borrowings = 449,048 12,280,021 15,699,082 28,428,151
Proceeds from asset-backed BERERSNMENE
securities = 29,522 88,495 1,778,849 1,896,866
Senior notes BEEE - 2,196,639 = - 2,196,639
Corporate bonds NEVEH - - 114240 2,980,480 3,094,720
Guarantees given to banks and EERTT R E AR (E A
other institutions in connection ~ BREIE FEK AT
with facilities granted to related ~ BRE AIIE(R
companies 1,122,688 - - - 1,122,688
Total 15t 19,781,471 2,675,546 12,487,102 20,461,142 55,405,261
31 December 2022; 2028128318 ¢
Trade payables B REITE 13,106,078 S S S 13,106,078
Other payables HtEIHEa 2,328,242 S S S 2,328,242
Due to related parties FE(IRAE S 1B 5,437,467 = = = 5,437,467
Lease liabilities HEaR = 409 13,191 2,942 16,542
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t BER1T R EMERN
borrowings = 1,616,029 10,509,405 16,437,035 28,562,469
Proceeds from asset-backed BERERSNMENE
securities = 84,791 253,339 7,629,789 7,967,919
Senior notes BEER = 81486 499,709 2,170,866 2,752,061
Corporate bonds NElEH = = 789,904 3,130,924 3,920,828
Guarantees given to banks and ERTT R E M (E Y
other institutions in connection ~ BRAR BB ATRMEN
with facilities granted to related 1%
companies 1,044,126 S S = 1,044,126
Total 4Rt 21915913 1,782,715 12,065,548 29,371,556 65,135,732
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which
is based on total indebtedness less cash and bank balances
divided by total equity at the end of the year and multiplied by
100%. Total indebtedness represents total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, proceeds from asset-backed securities,
corporate bonds and senior notes. The net gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

44, BIERAMEIEEERBEE @)

(e) BAEIE
REBEAEENTEEEAREAERIFE
RENENTHERFEBREINERLER U FHE
EBUFEREEERAI

FEEGRECERINSEEERAEASE
FEB - RERFABREERER ~EENE
BN FRENRE - RERREAHET
MR

FEERKBEEARLEE BEBRERRE
R SRITAEBR » PR LS SR A 2 A8 BB 78 3R LL100% 5T
H) REZER - EFHREEIES BIRITRHEM
B BERMESAENE AREFRE
EEBEZRE - NEARNBERFNEES
BT :

2023 2022

pLipkE:2 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREF T

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t BIR1T M E (& 22,771,123 26,544,820
Proceeds from asset-backed securities BERFESESNMERE 1,720,462 5,289,177
Corporate bonds RNEMES 2,794,011 3,465,321
Senior notes BERIE 2,142,841 2,516,434
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRENIREESEEY (4,808,037) (4,410,184)
Restricted cash ZIRFIRE (2,264,883) (7,899,346)
Pledged deposits BIRFRER - (10,000)

Net debt B2 88 22,355,517 25,496,222
Total equity 1 AE AR 35,949,101 35,583,038
Net gearing ratio BEBEE 62% 72%

45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Company did not repay the
principal of US$300,000,000 for certain senior notes due in March 2024,
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
March 2024.
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. BAATNMBARRE

FA TS SRR Y 5

31 December 2023
20235128318

RREARBAMARBDYHBRARNELNT !

2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B ARMNRE 1 ]
Total non-current assets EREBEERE 1 1
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Cash and cash equivalents B MhIBE2HEY 5,865 198
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets FENRIE. EtENHEREMmEE 424 418
Due from subsidiaries FE UL B A B 7R I8 2,495,612 2,622,655
Total current assets MEEEAE 2,501,901 2,623,271
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENRE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFEIRITT R EMERR 32,220 45,271
Senior notes BRER - -
Other payables and accruals HthEMRIBERESHE R - 413
Total current liabilities mEBaEERE 32,220 45,684
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 2,469,681 2,577,587
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEMLRERTBAR 2,469,682 2,577,588
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERsasE
Senior notes BERE 2,114,122 2,075,884
Total non-current liabilities ERBEaELR%E 2,114,122 2,075,884
Net assets BEZE 355,560 501,704
EQUITY g
Share capital i 35,095 35,095
Reserves (G4l 320,465 466,609
Total equity EmABER 355,560 501,704
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 46. AT FBERAE @
COMPANY (Continued)
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: KABNREREZWT :
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
[ B EE REEBE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT NS AREFTT ARETT
Balance at 31 December 2021 and 2021 12831A K
1 January 2022 202281 B H &R 35,095 1,204,964 (152,034) 1,088,025
Total comprehensive loss for the year ENLHERERE = = (60,441) (60,441)
Dividends and distributions BERDIK = (525,880) = (525,880)
At 31 December 2022 20225612831 B4 35,095 679,084 (212,475) 501,704
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 1220224F12831H K
202351 B 1 B4R 35,095 679,084 (212,475) 501,704
Total comprehensive loss for the year FNLEGEEE = = (146,144) (146,144)
At 31 December 2023 2023512831 H & 35,095 679,084 (358,619) 355,560

47. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47. HEMBERR

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the R2024F3B28H B HRREEETGHAEWEET
board of directors on 28 March 2024. o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AR

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FalmER
For the year ended 31 December
HZENANHLEEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20224 20015 20205 20198
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

IEEEN  RETR ARETFR ARETR  ARETR

Revenue WA 34,248,685 35,318,003 40,025,826 34,875,174 25,963,108
Cost of sales HEME (31,719,977) (30,138,519) (32,278,375) (27,162,266) (20,300,888)
Gross profit E7 2,528,708 5,179,484 7,747,451 7,712,908 5,662,220
Other income and gains =Rl ONT e 23,105 60,041 183,846 436,406 187,641
Selling and distribution expenses $§& R 8#HEY (1,030,479) (931,729) (1,449,318) (1,152,834) (771,495)
Administrative expenses THES (686,337) (853,707) (1,195,415) (1,196,128) (988,052)
Finance Income E2E T ON 51,611 91,290 183,478 95,302 100,431
Finance costs BEMAE (295,840) (236,100) (349,885) (525,246) (494,863)
Other expenses Hip (152,134) (191,638) (44,875) (80,592) (49,065)
Fair value gains on investment BEMENNEERZ

properties 359,762 844,574 656,986 437,006 480,869
Fair value gains or loss from BATES A BENER

financial assets at fair value BENATERETER

through profit or loss (1,418) (14,168) (6,085) (77) (266)
Share of profits and losses of: T AR R R ESE
Joint ventures BELE (99,360) (732,632) 98,366 992,533 510,165
Associates [i=UNG| 139 491,020 641,082 (182,519) (68,769)
Profit before tax FRRALER 697,757 3,706,435 6,465,631 6,536,759 4,568,816
Income tax expense Fi8MEx (1,131,700) (1,623,285) (2,771,936) (2,717,686) (1,878,828)
Profit for the year FEREF (433,943) 2,083,150 3,693,695 3,819,073 2,689,988
Attributable to: MUTE AN :
Owners of the parent BAGEBA (581,248) 1,705,026 3,274,774 3,127,526 2,508,068
Non-controlling interests JFER LS 147,305 378,124 418,921 691,547 181,920

(433,943) 2,083,150 3,693,695 3,819,073 2,689,988
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FINANGIAL SUMMARY
IR

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

mAEEE -BRAKRER

As at 31 December

1#128318
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20226 20214 20208 20198
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREFT AREFT AREFTT ARBEFT
Assets BE

Non-current assets FREEE 30,543,169 29,886,434 28,172,664 23,216,150 19,698,717
Current assets REEE 99,234,819 131,789,119 163,474,648 162,445,338 129,645,846
Total assets BERE 129,777,988 161,675,553 191,647,312 185,661,488 149,344,563

Equity and liabilities BERER
Total equity R 35,949,101 35,583,038 37,571,705 36,112,406 21,379,202
Non-current liabilities FrEasd 17,827,332 28,161,764 38,628,520 36,938,270 32,676,990
Current liabilities TEEE 76,001,555 97,930,751 115,447,087 112,610,812 95,288,371
Total liabilities BEEE 93,828,887 126,092,515 154,075,607 149,549,082 127,965,361
Total equity and liabilities EERERAE 129,777,988 161,675,553 191,647,312 185,661,488 149,344,563

214 \ER (EE) BRAE  2023FFR



PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ITEREVEFRE

Type of Total GFA
Project Properties City Address (sq.m.) Tenure Status
HEEER
BH b/ES kg ot stk (EAK) HR R
1. Beijing Radiance Plaza Office Beijing Qiyang Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC 102,975 Medium term lease Completed
TREBRE YN IR FEIER TG E MG R FHEE BT
2. Beijing Radiance Park 18 Office Beijing No. 1 East Fourth Ring South Road, Beijing, the 175418  Medium term lease Completed
PRC
TReER\E YN IR HEIE R R IR A B R 15 FHEE BT
3. Chongging Jinhui Plaza Commercial Chongging No.13 Fenglin Road, Nan'an District, Chongging, 120,846  Medium term lease Completed
the PRC
EFTRES EE3 B HEEETRFRRBRRR FHEE BT
4. Jinhui City Phase IV (Bronze Road) Commercial Chongging No.16 Nanbin Road, Nan‘an District, Chongging, 72,854 Medium term lease Completed
the PRC
SERMBE=EZ AxE) EES BE TREEETEERRERI6HR FHEE BT
5. Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza (Mall) Shopping mall ~ Xi‘an No. 855 Yanta South Road, Yanta District, Xi‘an 124,336 Medium term lease Completed
City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
FEZEBRRES (FH) BYBS ARz THEIBRFE & PR T R & FE S F BRe85 SR FHEE BT
6. Jinhui Building (International Plaza) Office Xi'an No. 22 of Fenghui South Road North Section, 48,685 Medium term lease Completed
Lianhu District, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province,
the PRC
£BAE ERES) YN AR TERFEEREZHESE S ERRIERLR FHEE BT
7. Chuangzhi Building Commercial Xi'an No.1 Tuanjie South Road, Lianhu District, Xi‘an 20497 Medium term lease Completed
City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
BBXE [EE3 ARz TEREA AR DR GBS RSR FHEE BT
8. Xi'an Jinhui Global Plaza (Block B) Office Xi'an No. 889 of Jinhutuo Second Road, Yanta District, 27,905  Medium term lease Completed
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
FEZEBIRIRES BR) RN RS TERFEEREZTREE ST K805t hHETEE B#T
9. Fuzhou Jinhui Mansion Commercial Fuzhou No. 492 Hualin Road, Jin‘an District, Fuzhou City, 16,760 Medium term lease Completed
Fujian Province, the PRC
BNEEAE EES =3l TEEEEEMNTEREEMBI2R FHEE BT
10.  Shanghai Jingang Commercial Plaza Commercial Shanghai No. 22 Kangnaixin Road, Pudong District, 30,622 Medium term lease Completed
Shanghai, the PRC
LESEEEES [EES i FE T RRNRAENEHBRLR FHEE BT
11. Suzhou Qianwan Commercial Center Commercial Suzhou No. 9 Sangyuan Road, Hugiu District, Suzhou 36,464 Medium term lease Completed
City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
FNEEEERD (EES B REDLE & BN TR B RERIR hHTEE BET
12. Xi'an Jinhui World City Block G Commercial Xi'an No.1201 Yanta South Road, Yanta District, Xi'an 15,074  Medium term lease Completed
City, Shaannxi Province, the PRC
AR IE MR IRCR EES AR TERFE SRR T EE R RS RI2015 FHEE BT
13. Chongging Jinhui City Phase V/ Office Chongging No.19 Nanbin Road, Nan'an District, Chongqing, 69,530 Medium term lease Held for future
the PRC Development
EBTEERBA_R YN BE FEEETRREHERIOR FHEE RERRAE
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PARTI&JLKRS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

) TERRYENE

Type of Total GFA
Project Properties City Address (sq.m.) Tenure Status
HEEER
BH b/ES kg ot stk (EAK) HR R
14 Xi'an Jinhui Tianyu Baili Square Commercial Xi'an Southeast corner of the cross of Aerospace 147353  Medium term lease Under construction
Avenue and Chang ‘an Road, Chang ‘an
District Aerospace Base, Xi‘an, Shaanxi,
the PRC
ALEBRTIHEES EES i3 FERAERZTREENAEY FHEE TE
MEAAEERZRTFEBA
15, Jinhui World City Block J Commercial Xi‘an South to the Xi'an Ring Expressway, East to 252,085  Medium term lease Under construction
Yanta South Road, Qujiang New District,
Xi‘an, Shaanxi, the PRC
7% 1t R IR EES i3 FERFELRZ Tl EEEREUR FHEE TE
16.  Xian D16 Commercial Xi'an No. 669, Jinhutuo Second Road, Liangjiang 26,986  Medium term lease Under construction
New District, Xi ‘an, Shaanxi, the PRC
FLD16 (EES RS FERFEEREZHWINE hHETEE =
£ ZRR669%%
17. Jiangshan Elite's Mansion Commercial Commercial Chongging Lot No. G4-3/02, Area G, Dashiba Group, 61,160 Medium term lease Under construction
Jiangbei District, Chongging, the PRC
BEILEEES [EE3 B HEEETILRARFEENE FHEE =]
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